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PART I
Unless the context otherwise requires, in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Form 10-K”) where we say “we”, “us”, “our”, the “Company” or “SMTC,” we
mean SMTC Corporation and its subsidiaries, as applicable. Where we refer to the “industry,” we mean the electronics manufacturing services industry. Unless otherwise
noted or the context otherwise requires, all references to years in this report are to fiscal years.

This Form 10-K and other communications made by us contain forward—looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). The forward-looking statements in this Form 10-K regarding, among other things, our cessation of manufacturing operations in
China, the electronics manufacturing services industry, our expectations regarding our future performance, liquidity and capital resources and other non-historical
statements include numerous risks and uncertainties, some of which are as described in the “Risk Factors” section in this Form 10-K. Statements using words such as
“could”, “expects”, “may”, “anticipates”, “believes”, “intends”, “estimates”, “plans”, “envisions”, “seeks” and other similar language are considered forward looking
statements under applicable securities laws. These statements are based on our current expectations, estimates, forecasts and projections about the operating environment,
economies and markets in which we operate. These statements are subject to important assumptions, risks and uncertainties, which are difficult to predict and the actual
outcome may be materially different. Moreover, we operate in a competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks emerge from time to time and it is not possible for
us to predict all risk factors, nor can we address the impact of all factors on our business. You should not place undue reliance on any forward-looking statement, each of
which applies only as of the date of this Form 10-K. Except as required by applicable law, we undertake no intention or obligation to update these forward-looking
statements after the date of this Form 10-K, even though our situation may change in the future. All forward-looking statements attributable to us are expressly qualified by
these cautionary statements.

Item 1. Business
Overview

We are a provider of end-to-end electronics manufacturing services (“EMS”), including product design and engineering services, printed circuit board assembly
(“PCBA?”), production, enclosure, cable assembly, precision metal fabrication, systems integration and comprehensive testing services, configuration to order (“CTO”),
build to order (“BTO”) and direct order fulfillment (“DOF”). At the end of 2019, we operated more than 50 manufacturing and assembly lines in over 555,000 square feet of
production space worldwide at strategically located facilities in the United States and Mexico, that provide local support, flexibility, fast turn around and delivery times, and
low-cost, volume manufacturing capabilities, as well as new product integration (“NPI”) services, to our global customers. Our services extend over the entire electronic
product life cycle from new product development and NPI through to growth, maturity and end of life phases. Our focus on delivering best-in-class services has been
recognized and we have received Frost & Sullivan Awards for Product Quality, Growth Leadership & Customer Value Leadership Awards in May 2019.

During the fourth quarter of 2019 we ceased manufacturing in China and began to relocate the equipment used at our Chinese manufacturing facility to our other
North American sites. Customer concerns about uncertainties relating to the prolonged impact of tariffs and macro-economic factors caused a number of our customers to
begin to re-evaluate demand for some of their products and reconsider where they outsource their manufacturing. Revenues attributable to production from SMTC’s
manufacturing operations in China declined in 2019 as compared to 2018, but more significant declines were anticipated in 2020 which would have resulted in negative
operating margins from our China site. This ultimately resulted in the decision to close the manufacturing facility.

We offer fully integrated contract manufacturing services to global original equipment manufacturer (“OEMs”), technology companies, Defense Prime Contractors,
the U.S. Department of Defense (“DoD”), and various U.S. government agencies. We are focused on seven market sectors:

Avionics, aerospace and defense;

Industrial, power and clean technology;
Medical and safety;

Retail and payment systems;

Semiconductors;

Telecom, networking and communications; and
Test and measurement.

We have customer relationships with industry leading OEMs, Defense Prime Contractors, the DoD, and various other U.S. government agencies. We developed these
relationships by capitalizing on the continuing trend of OEMs outsourcing non-core manufacturing services to consolidate their supplier base and forming long-term strategic
partnerships with select high-quality EMS providers. We work closely with, and are highly responsive to, our customers throughout the design, manufacturing and
distribution process, providing value-added services. We seek to grow our business through the expansion of our share of business with existing customers, participating in
the growth of existing customers, the addition of new high-quality customers, and from time-to-time, through strategic acquisitions, such as our acquisition of MC Assembly
Holdings, Inc. (“MCA?”), a privately held EMS provider based in Melbourne, Florida, in November 2018 (the “MCA Acquisition”). In connection with the MCA
Acquisition, we expanded our operations to include locations in Melbourne, Florida, Billerica, Massachusetts, and Zacatecas, Mexico. Our Melbourne, Florida operation
provides comprehensive electronic manufacturing services with a focus on delivering product to our customer base in the most cost-efficient manner. Our Billerica,
Massachusetts operation has the same competencies as our operation in Florida, but on a smaller scale. An ISO 9001/2008 2015 approved quality system allows for strict
controls and process discipline on our manufacturing floor. Our Zacatecas, Mexico operation is a ‘Copy-Exact’ facility of our Melbourne, Florida operation, which
functions within the guidelines of ISO-9001:2008 2015 and ISO-13485:2016 Quality System and provides similar manufacturing as our U.S.-based operations with the
advantage of the lower cost of labor.

We believe that one of the fundamental benefits we offer is our strategic approach in working with customers. This approach involves gaining insight into their
business and bringing innovative solutions to enhance their competitiveness, time to market and profitability. We seek to lower total cost of ownership, improve product
quality and reliability, accelerate new products to market, improve service and DOF,, reduce working capital requirements and capital expenditures, all of which results in
improvement of our customers’ overall margins and end customer satisfaction.




Industry Background

The EMS sector is the outsourced portion of the worldwide electronics assembly industry. EMS has experienced significant change and growth as an increasing
number of companies elect to outsource some or all of their design, manufacturing, and after-market services requirements. There is currently considerable outsourcing of
manufacturing by traditional OEMs and more recent market entrants in response to rapidly changing markets, technologies and accelerating product life cycles as well as the
need to lower total costs and convert typical fixed costs into a variable cost model.

Historically, OEMs were vertically integrated manufacturers that invested significantly in manufacturing assets and facilities around the world to manufacture, service
and distribute their products. EMS originated as labor intensive functions that OEMs outsourced to obtain additional capacity during periods of high demand. Early EMS
providers were essentially subcontractors, providing production capacity on a transactional basis. However, with significant advances in manufacturing process technology,
EMS providers developed additional capabilities and were able to improve quality and dramatically reduce OEMs’ costs. Furthermore, as the capabilities of EMS companies
expanded, an increasing number of OEMs adopted and relied upon EMS outsourcing strategies. Over time, OEMs engaged EMS providers to perform a broader array of
manufacturing services, including design and development activities. In recent years, EMS providers have further expanded their range of services to include advanced
manufacturing, configuration, packaging and distribution and overall supply chain management. In addition, many OEMs are reducing the number of vendors from which
outsourced services are purchased and are partnering with EMS suppliers that offer broader expertise. The EMS industry has also seen an increased level of diversification
by many companies, primarily in the technology sector. Companies that have historically identified themselves as software providers, internet service providers, or e-
commerce retailers are entering the highly competitive and rapidly evolving mass hardware markets, with products including mobile devices, home entertainment products,
and wearable devices.

By outsourcing manufacturing, OEMs can take advantage of the technology and manufacturing expertise of EMS companies and focus on their core business, while
leveraging the manufacturing efficiency of and capital investment made by EMS providers. OEMs use EMS providers to enhance their competitive position by:

.

Lowering Product Costs. EMS providers are better able to reduce total product costs due to electronic manufacturing expertise and higher utilization of
manufacturing capacity spread over a wider range of product types. Due to their scale of operations as well as their established and ongoing relationships with
suppliers, EMS providers are able to achieve better pricing and better working capital management.

Reducing Time to Market. Electronic products are experiencing shorter product life cycles, requiring OEMs to continually reduce the time required to bring new
products to market. OEMs can significantly improve product development cycles and reduce time to market by benefiting from the expertise and infrastructure of
EMS providers. This expertise includes capabilities relating to design, quick-turn prototype development and rapid ramp-up of new products to high volume
production, with the critical support of worldwide supply chain management.

Ability to focus on core branding and R&D initiatives. Through outsourcing, OEMs are able to focus on marketing and product development initiatives which have
taken on more prominence as product life cycles have shortened, and as electronic products have become more sophisticated and complex, while at the same time
many end markets have become more competitive with companies that have historically identified themselves as software providers, internet service providers, or e-
commerce retailers entering the highly competitive and rapidly evolving hardware markets.

Improving Supply Chain and Inventory Management. OEMs that manufacture internally are faced with greater complexities in planning, sourcing, procurement and
inventory management due to frequent design changes, short product life cycles and product demand fluctuations. OEMs can address these complexities by
outsourcing to EMS providers that possess sophisticated supply chain management capabilities and can leverage significant component procurement advantages to
lower product costs.

Accessing Advanced Manufacturing Capabilities and Process Technologies. Electronic products and electronic manufacturing technology have become increasingly
sophisticated and complex, making it difficult for many OEMs to maintain the necessary technological expertise and focus required to efficiently manufacture
products internally. By working closely with EMS providers, OEMs gain access to high-quality manufacturing expertise and capabilities in the areas of advanced
process, interconnect and test technologies.

Improving Access to Global Markets. OEMs are generally increasing their international activities in an effort to expand sales through access to foreign markets.
EMS companies with worldwide capabilities are able to offer those OEMs global manufacturing solutions enabling them to meet local content requirements and to
distribute products efficiently around the world at lower costs.

.

Reducing Capital Investments. OEMs are able to reduce their capital investments in inventory, facilities and equipment by outsourcing their manufacturing to EMS
providers and allocating their resources towards their core business activities.

.

Shift from a Fixed to Variable Cost Model. Through outsourcing, OEMs are able to shed substantial fixed costs of manufacturing and take advantage of EMS
providers’ efficient facilities, resulting in a highly variable and more efficient cost structure.




Our Capabilities and Performance

Our EMS activities span the entire electronic product life cycle from the development and introduction of new products through the growth, maturity, and end of life
phases. We believe that our focus on quality, superior supply chain management and innovative manufacturing services have the capabilities to reduce our customers’
product costs and time to market, which improves our customers’ competitiveness. We continuously work with our customers to identify, prioritize and implement
opportunities for cost reduction.

We offer three vertically-integrated manufacturing streams: enclosures and precision metal fabrication products; PCBA products; and larger-scale systems. For each
of these streams, we provide a broad range of end-to-end manufacturing services, from assembly, test, integration and box-build through to system level test, CTO, BTO and
DOF. These core services are complemented with cable assembly, interconnect and value engineering services. Our three manufacturing streams are vertically integrated to
better control quality, lead times and inventory risk and to avoid lost margin that can occur when these services are provided by loosely connected entities. Our customers
benefit from lower costs, better quality, and shorter lead times.

Our vertically-integrated manufacturing services include:

New Product Introduction Services. In 2019, we added a new capability to our Billerica, Massachusetts, United States location that provides our customers with
world-class 'Quick-turn' manufacturing. This new capability is designed to enable an accelerated launch timetable for our customers’ products with the flexibility to scale
into a low-cost geography that is available from other SMTC sites.

PCBA Services. We provide advanced product assembly and system level integration and test services combined with advanced manufacturing equipment and
processes. Our flexible environment allows us to support low-medium and high-mix and volume manufacturing requirements as well as to deliver a final product directly to
the end customer.

System-Level Integration, Box-Build and Test. Our system and subsystem assembly services involve combining a wide range of subassemblies, including PCBAs,
cables and harnesses, battery boxes and connector blocks, power supplies, backplanes and thermal controls. Our test expertise encompasses the full array of technologies
present in today’s system level products, including high-speed digital, radio frequency, precision analog, power, thermal and optical. We provide complete electrical and
mechanical testing for cables, harnesses, PCBAs, subassemblies and systems to meet our customers’ requirements and specifications. Our in-house expertise enables us to
provide custom test development services to our customers and to implement their product specific tests.

Enclosures and Precision Metal Fabrication. We use premium grade sheet steel, stainless steel, and aluminum to ensure high quality. Technologically advanced
equipment and processes enable us to produce medium to complex product enclosures and metal parts while still achieving a low overall product cost. Our soft tooling
approach minimizes upfront costs and provides flexibility to respond quickly to engineering changes.

Custom Interconnect. We are experienced in the design, development and manufacturing of interconnect assemblies such as optical and electrical cable and harness
assemblies offering customers advanced expertise and low-cost options.

Engineering Services. We provide services across the entire product life cycle including product design, prototyping, qualification testing and sustaining
engineering through product end of life.

Global Procurement and Supply Chain Network. ~As an extension of our offering of vertically-integrated manufacturing services, our Global Procurement Group
(“GPG”) plays a fundamental role in our managing a portfolio of assets and relationships in the most efficient manner. Our GPG has expertise that includes outsourcing
based on market conditions and demand management criteria established with the customer, building flexibility into the supply chain network, designing a supply chain
specific to individual customer needs, and having the ability to proactively plan. A key element of our business is to work closely with our customers to anticipate and/or
react to changing market conditions, For example, in 2018 we worked with our customers and key partners and implemented a number of initiatives to manage the risks
associated with the industry’s then component shortages as well as new tariffs. These initiatives included a new supply chain center in Phoenix, Arizona opened in 2018, the
expanded use of lean manufacturing kan-ban programs, upgraded quoting-tools, tailor-made customer-specific action plans, new agreements with Tier-1 distributors, and
extensive investments in safety stock programs. Our GPG is responsible for all aspects of our supply network. Our GPG, led by personnel that have gained experience with
large organizations where they have developed key relationships, works together with our customers to establish customized inventory, logistics and distribution services to
ensure that any unique delivery requirements are met. Through the use of various management tools, our supply chain team focuses on driving improved inventory turns,
lowering excess and obsolete inventory risk and reducing overall costs to our customers.

Management Methods and Tools. We have a web-based system through which it can communicate, collaborate and plan throughout the entire supply chain in real-
time with our customers and suppliers. This system accelerates the timeliness and effectiveness of decision making and the efficiency and flexibility with which we can plan
for and respond to customers experiencing market fluctuations. We employ technologically advanced quality assurance systems, manufacturing process planning and
continuous improvement methodologies.




Our Footprint

At the end of 2019, we operated more than 50 manufacturing and assembly lines in over 555,000 square feet of production space worldwide at strategically located
facilities in the United States, and Mexico,, that provide local support, flexibility, fast turn around and delivery times, and low-cost, volume manufacturing capabilities, as
well as NPI services, to our global customers. During the fourth quarter of 2019 we ceased manufacturing in China and began to relocate the equipment used at our Chinese
manufacturing facility to our other North American sites.

All our manufacturing facilities adhere to the “Copy Exact” methodology. Our “Copy Exact” process enables a seamless and timely transition of production between
facilities to help customers reach their cost and volume targets faster. We also assign a dedicated manufacturing unit to each customer.

Key Benefits to Our Customers

Three overarching themes form the core of our differentiation and unique customer value proposition: trusted, proven, and professional. These three themes are
exemplified by the following aspects of our business:

Operational Counterpart: Fundamental to our strategic approach in working with customers is to take the time to understand our customers’ business objectives,
end markets, performance expectations, competitive advantage, positioning and strategy—to drive better value. We get involved with our customers at both a strategic and
operational level. As a trusted partner, we seek to become an extension of their business, helping our customers grow, improve competitiveness, margins, and gain market
share.

The Customer Experience: 'We combine strong performance with a partnership approach that delivers tangible, bottom-line benefits through committing expertise
and resources towards customer goals. We believe it is one of many reasons that a number of our customers have been with us for many years.

People:  Our customer-based teams are tied to the customer at a strategic, operational and organizational level. Our people create an environment that celebrates
collaboration and teamwork. We foster a participatory workplace that enables people, at every level of the organization, to get involved in making decisions that put the
customer first.

Executive Mindshare: We fully engage with our customers on many levels—from operational and executive mindshare, to custom-tailored solutions as part of
strategic partnership approach to doing business. Our senior management, each of whom has strong relationships with customers from their previous positions at larger
companies, are armed with real-time operational metrics and quality data, and are accessible to and actively involved with our customers.

Strategic Fit:  Fit matters. Winning OEMs look for winning manufacturing partners. We mitigate the risk of outsourcing and seeks to deliver results and value.

Global Footprint: At the end of 2019, we operated more than 50 manufacturing and assembly lines in over 555,000 square feet of production space worldwide at
strategically located facilities in the United States, and Mexico, that provide local support, flexibility, fast turn around and delivery times, and low-cost, volume
manufacturing capabilities, as well as NPI services, to our global customers. During the fourth quarter of 2019 we announced a decision to cease manufacturing in China and
relocate the equipment used at our Chinese manufacturing facility to our other North American sites.

Supply Chain Expertise: We deliver supply chain capabilities and solutions that support the total product life cycle. Our extended supply chain model recognizes the
need for collaboration between our customers, our Company and our supply partners to ensure overall supply chain optimization, from product design processes,
manufacturing, sourcing, order management and fulfillment to transportation and logistics. The end result is greater control over a complex, extended supply chain to help
our customers realize flexibility, cost savings, process improvements, and competitive advantages.

Superior Value: We continuously work collaboratively with customers to identify, prioritize and implement opportunities for cost reduction. Working
collaboratively helps ensure superior service, operational excellence and continuous cost improvement.

Customized Solutions: By gaining insight into our customers businesses, we can proactively tailor customized solutions to their unique challenges to enhance their
competitiveness, time to market and profitability.




Our Corporate Objective and Strategies

Our corporate objective is to create sustainable growth and increase stockholder value through growth in sales, profitability and debt minimization. A cornerstone to
our business is our customer-centric focus throughout the organization.

Our key strategies include:

Provide Outstanding Customer Service and Performance. Customer acquisition and loyalty comes from our ongoing commitment to understanding our customers’
business performance requirements and our expertise in meeting or exceeding these requirements and enhancing their competitive edge. Our customer focus extends to our
unique offering of dedicated resources, a detailed understanding of our customers’ challenges and means to support our customers in meeting their goals. Our dedicated team
approach is used throughout our Company and comprises members from all functional areas working together to better understand the unique needs of each customer, their
challenges and their future plans. Our commitment to understanding each customer’s goals, challenges, strategies, operations and products to provide a better overall solution
is a key focus for our operations personnel and our senior executive team.

Focus on Well Defined Customer Markets. 'We focus on specific customer sectors (and within those sectors target a wide range of projects that offer higher value
add) that align well with our capabilities:

Avionics, aerospace and defense;

Industrial, power and clean technology;
Medical and safety;

Retail and payment systems;

Semiconductors;

Telecom, networking and communications; and
Test and measurement.

Customers with unique medium to high-mix and volume production requirements with a need for a high level of responsiveness to changing market demands are
particularly well suited for our capabilities. We continue to leverage our experience and established relationships in our existing market segments. Through the MCA
acquisition, we have increased and expect to continue to expand our business in the avionics, aerospace and defense markets and have been able to further penetrate into the
medical and safety market sectors. We target a wide range of projects in the sub-$5 million range that offer higher value add than larger projects typically targeted by Tier-1
EMS competitors.

Provide Advanced Technological Capabilities. We remain committed to enhancing our capabilities and value-added services to become an integral part of our
customers’ operations. Through our investment in assembly and fabrication technologies and in design, engineering and test capabilities, we are able to provide our
customers with a variety of advanced design and manufacturing solutions.

Provide Comprehensive Service Offerings. Our broad array of EMS activities span the entire electronic product life cycle from introduction and development of
new products to the support of products to growth and maturity phases. We perform advanced PCBA and test and complement these capabilities with precision enclosure
fabrication, system integration, product configuration, and BTO services. As products mature, we provide comprehensive value engineering services to reduce the cost of the
products we produce without compromising quality or function. As products near their end of life, our sustaining engineering and supply chain management systems ensure
continued availability and support of hard to source components while mitigating the risks associated with declining inventories. We believe that our breadth of services
provides greater control over quality, delivery and costs and enables us to offer our customers a complete, end-to-end solution that is time and cost effective.

Maintain a Competitive, Scalable Cost Structure. We maintain a competitive cost structure that not only delivers highly competitive pricing to customers but is also
both variable and scalable as market conditions dictate. We strive to improve profitability through tight cost containment measures, performance excellence, leveraging fixed
costs and increased capacity utilization. The MCA Acquisition has enabled us to become a more efficient operator, including sourcing cost reductions, the elimination of
certain redundancies in our corporate and shared services, and an increase in manufacturing capacity to better serve existing and new customers. The MCA Acquisition has
also accelerated our entry into several new complex and highly regulated, attractive markets that present the opportunity for higher margins, including our entry into the
avionics, aerospace and defense markets, and further allowed us to further penetrate into medical industries which we had targeted and previously received key industry
certifications.




Technology, Processes and Development

Our engineering services team delivers a wide range of design, engineering and manufacturing solutions. We have electronic engineering expertise in our targeted
customer markets. We maintain manufacturing equipment and tools to the highest calibration standards possible. We follow a comprehensive preventative maintenance
program. Customers rely on our full range of design services—from software and firmware development, to electronic design, mechanical design and PCB layout. Our
design services capability optimizes product design for maximum performance, higher yields, and faster time to market, with the objective of assisting our customers in
becoming more profitable and more competitive. We partner with our customers to deliver innovative manufacturing solutions aligned with their business objectives. We
offer everything from full-service, turnkey product development and manufacturing to on-site engineering support.

Our box build experience spans the past 20 years with all manufacturing sites supporting current customers in this level of outsourcing. Our integration and box build
assembly services combine a wide range of subassemblies, including PCBAs, cables and harnesses, external housing (plastic and metal), monitors, battery boxes and
connector blocks, power supplies, fan trays, backplanes and thermal controls. Integrated units are packaged, together with manuals, software, and peripherals. DOF and BTO
are handled throughout the integration service, specific to the needs of our customers.

Our DOF and distribution operations help our customers reduce material storage, lower handling costs and achieve higher inventory turns. We also provide
responsive, efficient and cost-effective configure to order and order fulfillment solutions. We align our processes with the customers’ operations, sales and distribution
objectives to eliminate redundancies and associated costs.

We continue to invest in new processes and equipment that enable the assembly of industry leading product designs. In 2019, we invested approximately $4 million
primarily related to equipment expansion in North America to support our growing global customer base.

We believe that we apply best-in-class quality programs, processes and metrics to achieve exceptional quality standards. We endeavor to fully understand the quality
requirements for every customer and we continuously review to improve our quality performance to exceed customer expectations. All of our sites currently use Computer
Integrated Manufacturing (“CIM”), a common quality management platform. The CIM system tracks quality assurance processes in real-time and reports on all steps in the
manufacturing process. We are continuing to make investments in quality, and are in the process of replacing the existing CIM system with Factory Logix, a product from
Aegis Industrial Software. This investment will improve transaction control on the production floor and traceability at the component and product level. We use a customer-
centric, team-based approach to quality assurance. Dedicated professionals work with our customers to determine key quality requirements, and where applicable, they
ensure suppliers adhere to those standards as well. All of our sites are certified with the International Organization for Standardization (“ISO”) ISO-9001 quality
management system standard and ISO-13485 medical standards. All ISO 9001 registrations are to the latest level (2015 version of the standard). All of our sites have also
achieved the Environmental Management Standards ISO-14001 certification. We build PCBAs according to IPC standards, an association connecting the electronic
industries, and has been an IPC member since 1991. We also work closely with standards organizations such as Underwriters Laboratories, a safety consulting and
certification company and Canadian Standards Association, in compliance with customer requirements. Our Fremont, California and Chihuahua, Mexico locations are
registered FDA facilities and are in compliance with federal Good Manufacturing Practice and the Quality System Regulations. To support our diverse customer base which
includes customers in several highly regulated industries, we have achieved a number of required industry certifications, compliance requirements and governmental
registrations, including Apple® Authorized Mfi Manufacturing License 6.0, AS9100, Cage Code: 4X3Y1, cGMP Compliant, FAA: PMA Certified, FDA Registration, IATF
16949, IPC-610 Class 3, ISO 9001, ISO 14001, ISO 13485, ITAR Registration, J-STD -001, and TRAC: 4144-7785-7736.

We achieved AS9100 accreditation at our Billerica, Massachusetts, Fremont, California and Melbourne, Florida facilitics. We have also achieved ISO-13485
certification at all sites worldwide. ISO-13485 is an internationally recognized quality management system and standard for the manufacture of medical devices. Our
Fremont, California and Chihuahua, Mexico locations are registered FDA facilities and are in compliance with federal Good Manufacturing Practice and the Quality System
Regulations.




Marketing and Sales

Our direct sales channel model is organized and managed with territorial assignments based on geographical coverage of our target markets globally. We have
developed relationships and established a network of sales representatives that focus on specific territories in the U.S. The MCA acquisition in 2018 further expanded our
network of marketing representatives and agencies. Our marketing and sales team work collaboratively to gain insight on potential customers’ business and market
positioning and focus on a solutions-based approach to enhance profitability, market positioning and business performance for customers.

We develop relationships with our customers and market our vertically-integrated manufacturing services through our direct marketing and sales teams. Our direct
sales teams work closely with the customers' engineering and technical personnel to better understand their requirements. Our marketing team supports our business strategy
of providing end-to-end services by encouraging cross selling of vertically-integrated manufacturing services across a broad range of major OEM products. To achieve this
objective, our marketing and sales teams work closely with our various manufacturing, design and engineering groups to engage in marketing and sales activities targeted
towards key customer opportunities.

Our customer-centric focus continues through to the execution phase of our relationships with a dedicated customer focused team-based manufacturing approach
throughout all of our facilities. A dedicated account team including a global account manager are directly responsible for managing each of our key customer accounts.
Global account managers coordinate activities across geographic locations to effectively satisfy customer requirements and have direct access to our senior management to
quickly address customer concerns. Local customer account teams further support the global teams and are linked by a comprehensive communications and information
management infrastructure.

Our largest customer and 10 largest customers represented 12.8% and 52.8%, 10.9% and 68.1%, and 11.9% and 72.5%, respectively, of our total revenue for the fiscal
years ended December 29, 2019, December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017. We expect to continue to depend upon a relatively small number of customers for a significant
percentage of our revenue. In addition to having a relatively limited number of customers, we manufacture a relatively limited number of products for each of our customers.
See “Item 1A. Risk Factors—Risks Related to our Business and Strategy—A majority of our revenue comes from a relatively small number of customers. If we lose any of
these customers, our revenue could decline significantly.”

Global Procurement and Supply Chain Management

We deliver supply chain capabilities and solutions that support the total product life cycle. Our teams work closely with customers’ supply-base partners to integrate
the entire supply chain. Our extended supply chain model recognizes the need for collaboration between OEM customers, our Company and supply partners to ensure
overall supply chain optimization, from product design processes, manufacturing, sourcing, order management and fulfillment to transportation and logistics. The end result
is greater control over a complex, extended supply chain to help our customers realize flexibility, cost savings, process improvements, and competitive advantages.

In lean manufacturing environments, success is defined by how fast and how effectively manufacturers can respond to evolving customer demands and new global
supply chain conditions. We leverage supply chain tools and systems to respond rapidly and effectively to changing real-world conditions. Our customers rely on our core
processes and capabilities to drive the success of their supply chains. Each supply chain solution we deliver is tailored to address each customer’s unique requirements.

We employ Agile Product Lifecycle Management (“Agile”) solutions software to help OEMs accelerate revenue, reduce costs, improve quality, ensure compliance,
and drive innovation throughout the product life cycle. Agile provides comprehensive support for product life cycle business processes, platform and integration
requirements. Agile enables a single enterprise view of the product and part records across the entire system, helping customers accelerate new product introduction time,
reduce direct material costs and ensure regulatory compliance.

The demand management process is a core process at our Company, which drives short- and long-term planning and execution activities. Effective demand
management optimizes materials availability, supply-base performance and overall liability management. We recognize the need to deploy people, process and technology,
as well as extensive customer communication and visibility, to ensure effective demand management execution. This allows for real-time analysis, feedback and
implementation of changes in customer and end-market demand, rapid communication to suppliers of changes in requirements, and a truly responsive end-to-end supply
chain.




We also employ Kinaxis RapidResponse, an integrated response management tool that allows supply chain professionals to access real-time information and enable
collaboration across extended supply networks. The tool allows us to perform real-time demand scenario simulation, review supply constraints, perform rapid manufacturing
resource planning, clear to build analysis and communicate changes in requirements to suppliers—all on the same day. With Kinaxis RapidResponse, our teams are able to
achieve high levels of supply chain agility with immediate response to changes in demand, supply, capacity and daily operations. The platform enables real-time supply
chain visibility and on-line collaboration anywhere in the world. In this way, we gain the insight needed to quickly and effectively respond to a wide variety of supply chain
challenges.

Visibility solutions are customized to support a range of requirements, including inventory visibility, master production schedule simulation, clear-to-build, available-
to-promise, end-market demand steering, and service parts management. Kinaxis RapidResponse provides a single view of inventory across all of our facilities as well as a
view of materials supply. Custom reports can be automatically emailed within our Company and to our customers on regular intervals. This inventory and supply base
liabilities dashboard has proven to be a valuable tool for both our Company and our customers. Visibility solutions include intercompany processes and multi-node supply
chains.

We have a global commodity manager in Kowloon, Hong Kong who serves to improve access to the broad base of component suppliers in the Asia region and
provides us with competitive pricing. The Hong Kong office manages component sourcing to support our global operations. During 2018, a supply chain center was opened
in Phoenix, Arizona. The Phoenix, Arizona location serves as an office for supply chain staff and other members of management. During the fourth quarter of 2019, various
news reports have been published on the new Coronavirus, originating within China and considerations of the impact on the economy or more specifically those companies
relying on China for supply chain and or having facilities located there. SMTC’s supply chain and its executive team are actively monitoring the Coronavirus and taking
actions to mitigate the financial impact on the Company. This included identifying the key components sourced from China required for first quarter and second quarter
2020 demand and confirming commitments from suppliers of those components and changing lead times accordingly. Please see Our supply chain in China may be
materially adversely impacted due to the recent coronavirus outbreak outlined in the risk factors under Item1A below.

Our Suppliers

Kinaxis RapidResponse works hand-in-hand with custom electronical data interchange (“EDI”), business-to-business process that provides real-time and daily
information exchange and transactions with suppliers. Through EDI programs, we have an ongoing view into supplier on-hand inventories and are able to more effectively
plan factory capacities and provide customer delivery commitments.

With our web-based collaborative planning systems, our customers’ needs are integrated with our suppliers in a more efficient and cost-effective manner than is
achievable through traditional EDI. We believe our volume of procurement enhances our ability to obtain better pricing, influence component packaging and design and
obtain supply of components in constrained markets.

We generally order materials and components under our agreements with customers only to the extent necessary to satisfy existing customer orders or forecasts. We
have implemented specific inventory management strategies with certain suppliers via vendor managed inventory programs into our supply chain programs. Fluctuations in
material costs typically are passed through to customers. We may agree, upon request from our customers, to temporarily delay shipments, which causes a corresponding
delay in our shipments and an increase in inventory, which impacts our working capital management. Ultimately, however, our customers generally are responsible for all
materials purchased and goods manufactured on their behalf.
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Our Customers
We are a distinctive mid-tier EMS provider, supporting customers in the following market sectors:

Avionics, aerospace and defense;

Industrial, power and clean technology;
Medical and safety;

Retail and payment systems;

Semiconductors;

Telecom, networking and communications; and
Test and measurement.

Revenue in 2019 was attributed to the following industry sectors: 31.8% from test and measurement, 20.8% from industrial, power and clean technology, 12.4% from
retail and payment systems, 12.2% from medical and safety, 10.0% from telecom, networking and communications, , 6.6% from avionics, aerospace and defense, and 6.2%
from semiconductors.

Our Competition

The EMS industry is composed of numerous companies that provide a range of manufacturing services for OEMs, including PCBA, to design, prototyping, final
system assembly, configuration, order fulfillment, repair and aftermarket services. The EMS market consists of contract manufacturers (“CMs”), and original design
manufacturers (“ODMs”). CMs manufacture products that have been designed by the OEM; ODMs may also design their own products, primarily commodities, and in
many instances are in direct competition with the OEMs. We participate in the mid-sized CM sector.

CM providers fall within one of four tiers:

Large/Tier 1: Global operations with manufacturing facilities in North America, Europe and Asia, and low-cost manufacturing sites in Asia, Mexico and Eastern
Europe. Large CMs annual revenues generally are greater than $2.0 billion. This includes Celestica Inc., Flextronics International Ltd., Jabil Circuit, Inc., Sanmina, Inc.,
Benchmark Electronics Inc. and Plexus Corp.

Mid-size/Tier 2: Usually focused in one region such as North America, Europe or Asia, with facilities in that region supported by additional facilities in low-cost
regions. Mid-sized CMs generally have annual revenues of up to $2.0 billion. This includes Key Tronic Corp.

Regional /Tier 3: Usually focused in North America and typically with minimum operations in low-cost geographic regions and less than $300 million in annual
revenues. This includes IEC and Sigmatron.

Small/Tier 4: Usually single facility operations, with annual revenues less than $20 million.

We compete with different companies depending on the type of service we are providing and/or the geographic area in which an activity takes place. Some of our
competitors may have greater scale and provide a broader range of services than we offer. We believe that the principal competitive factors in the manufacturing services
market are quality and range of services, design and technological capabilities, cost, location of facilities, responsiveness and flexibility. To remain competitive, we believe
we must continue to provide technologically advanced manufacturing services and solutions, maintain quality levels, offer flexible delivery schedules, deliver finished
products and services on time and compete favorably on price.

Environmental and Social Commitment

Our commitment is to conduct our business in such a way that protects and preserves the environment, health and safety of our employees, our customers and the
communities where we live and operate. Our commitment to this responsibility includes compliance to the European Directives: Waste Electronic and Electrical Equipment,
Restriction of Hazardous Substances, as well as assisting customers with conflict minerals and complying with the human trafficking resolutions passed in the California
Transparency in Supply Chains Act of 2010. Our commitment goes beyond merely compliance. For example, our MCA Acquisition reduced its annual water consumption
by more than 74 percent by investing in the implementation of a Closed Loop Process Water Recycling System at our Melbourne manufacturing facility.
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Our Structure and Our History

We were established in Toronto, Canada in 1985. We are a Delaware Corporation incorporated in July 1998. Our present corporate structure resulted from the July
1999 combination of predecessor companies Surface Mount Technology Centre Inc., an Ontario, Canada corporation (“Surface Mount”) and HTM Holdings Inc., a
Delaware corporation (“HTM?”). Subsequent to the combination, all of Surface Mount’s operating subsidiaries, other than SMTC Canada and Qualtron, Inc., became
subsidiaries of HTM. In 2011, we expanded our operations in San Jose, California with the acquisition of ZF Array Technology, Inc. , a privately held electronics
manufacturing services provider. In 2012, the Asian entities of SMTC Electronics Dongguan Company Limited and SMTC Electronics (Suzhou) Company Limited were
established. Our SMTC Electronics (Suzhou) Company Limited, China facility was closed in accordance with the restructuring plan as announced on May 15, 2017. The
closure of the SMTC Electronics (Suzhou) Company Limited, China facility was substantially completed by the end of 2017. In November 2018 we also acquired MCA, a
privately held electronics manufacturing services provider. During the fourth quarter of 2019 we announced a decision to cease manufacturing at SMTC Electronics
Dongguan Company Limited and relocate the equipment used at our Chinese manufacturing facility to our other North American sites. The closure of the SMTC Electronics
Dongguan Company Limited, China facility is expected to be substantially completed by the end of the first quarter of 2020.

Our Leadership Team

In May 2017 Ed Smith was appointed as our Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Smith’s EMS career spans over three decades and has served as
President of AVNET Inc., a multibillion-dollar electronic components distributor, and as President and Chief Executive Officer at SMTEK International Inc., a Tier IIl EMS
manufacture. Following Mr. Smith’s appointment, we added several experienced leaders to our senior management team with strong industry backgrounds, including
previous success in building businesses together as a team.

Order Backlog

Our order backlog is typically a combination of purchase orders and forecasts. Our customers typically provide purchase orders for delivery of products due within 30
to 90 days. We are also provided additional demand beyond 90 days to drive material demand and perform resources and capacity planning. Furthermore, backlog as of a
particular date is affected by a number of other factors, including manufacturing schedules and the timing of product shipments. Backlog also is affected by the timing of
customers’ orders and product availability. Due to these factors and business model differences around the globe and since additional orders may be added, or orders
rescheduled or cancelled, we do not believe that the order backlog of expected product sales covered only by purchase orders is a meaningful measure of future sales and we
believe backlog is an imprecise indicator of future revenues that may be achieved in a fiscal period and cannot be relied upon.

Employees

As of December 29, 2019, we had 2,805 employees of which 2,546 were full time and contract employees. In addition, we employ varying levels of temporary
employees as our production demands. Given the variable nature of our project flow and the quick response time required by our customers, it is critical that we are able to
quickly adjust our production levels to maximize efficiency. To achieve this, our strategy has been to employ a skilled temporary labor force, as required. We use outside
contractors to qualify our temporary employees on a site-by-site basis. Our production level temporary employees are compensated by the hour. We believe we are team-
oriented, dynamic and results-oriented with an emphasis on customer service and quality at all levels. We believe this environment is a critical factor for us to be able to
fully utilize the intellectual capital of our employees. Because of the surplus of available talent on the market, and the strength of our total compensation packages, to date
we have not experienced any issues attracting skilled employees.

As of December 29, 2019, our only unionized employees were at our Chihuahua, Mexico facility, representing approximately 37% of our Mexican labor force. We
have never experienced a work stoppage or strike and believe we have good employee relations.

Additional Information

We are subject to the reporting requirements under the Exchange Act. Consequently, we are required to file reports and information with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”), including reports on the following forms: Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and
amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act. These reports and other information concerning us may be accessed,
free of charge, through the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov and on our corporate website address at www.smtc.com. We make such filings available through our corporate
website as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. Reference to our website is for informational purposes only
and the information contained in, or that can be accessed through, our website is not incorporated by reference into this Form 10-K.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors
RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY
A majority of our revenue comes from arelatively small number of customers. If we lose any of these customers, our revenue could decline significantly.

We operate in a highly competitive and dynamic marketplace in which current and prospective customers often seek to lower their costs through a competitive
bidding process among EMS providers. This creates an opportunity to increase revenue to the extent we are successful in the bidding process, but there is also the potential
for revenue to significantly decline to the extent we are unsuccessful in the competitive bidding process. Furthermore, even if we are successful, there is the potential for our
margins to decrease if we are required to lower our prices in order to win such bids.

Our largest customer and 10 largest customers represented 12.8% and 52.8%, 10.9% and 68.1%, and 11.9% and 72.5%, respectively, of our total revenue for the fiscal
years ended December 29, 2019, December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017. We expect to continue to depend upon a relatively small number of customers for a significant
percentage of our revenue. In addition to having a relatively limited number of customers, we manufacture a relatively limited number of products for each of our customers.
If we lose any of our largest customers (as we have in the past from time to time), experience a significant reduction in sales to any such customers or no longer manufacture
a particular product line for one of our largest customers, we would experience a significant reduction in our revenue. Further, we make no assurance that our largest
customers will continue to have us manufacture their products from us at current or historical levels. Moreover, we typically do not enter into long-term volume purchase
contracts with our customers, and our customers have certain rights to extend or delay the shipment of their orders. We, however, typically require that our customers
contractually agree to buy back inventory purchased within specified lead times to build their products if not used. See also “Our customers may cancel their orders, change
production quantities or locations, or delay production, and the inherent difficulties involved in responding to these demands could harm our business.” In addition, because
of the concentration in our customer base, we have significant amounts of trade accounts receivable from some of our customers and the insolvency of one or more of our
largest customers or the inability of one or more of our largest customers to pay for its orders would decrease our revenue significantly. A reduction in revenue could
decrease our profitability, cash flow and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Furthermore, the success of our business depends, in part, on the continued growth and financial stability of our customers, including, in particular, our largest
customers. Adverse changes in the end markets these customers serve could reduce demand from our customers in those markets and/or cause customers in such end markets
to be more price sensitive, which could cause us to lose sales or require us to lower prices and thereby suffer a decrease in our margins. Further, mergers, acquisitions,
restructuring or other consolidations among our customers, or their end customers, could intensify our customer concentration or reduce total demand as the combined
entities reevaluate their business and consolidate their suppliers, which could materially and adversely affect our business. In the event of consolidation among our
customers, depending on which of the entities involved in the consolidation controls the combined company’s supply chain function following the consolidation, we may not
be retained as a preferred or approved manufacturer. In addition, product duplication could result in the termination of a product line that we currently manufacture. While
there is also the potential to increase our sales to the combined customer, our revenues could decrease if we are not retained as a continuing supplier. Even if we are retained
as a supplier, we may face the risk of increased pricing pressure from the combined customer because of its increased market share and purchasing power.

As a manufacturer, we are particularly exposed to general economic conditions, which could have an adverse impact on our business, operating results and
financial condition.

As aresult of unfavorable economic conditions, reduced capital spending and changes in our customers’ manufacturing requirements, our revenues could experience
significant declines in the future. If general economic conditions deteriorate, including the onset of a global economic recession, other uncertainty in the global economy
such as unstable global financial and credit markets or increased inflation and tariffs, we may experience an adverse impact on our business, operating results and financial
condition, since end customer demand for our customers’ products could be adversely affected. Due to the current uncertainty surrounding the economy and our ability to
predict the effect such conditions will have on its customers, we cannot predict the scope or magnitude of the negative effect that any economic slowdown may have on our
business. Further, economic and financial market conditions that adversely affect our customers may cause them to terminate or delay existing purchase orders or to reduce
the volume of products they purchase from us in the future. We may have significant accounts receivable outstanding from customers, including our largest customers, that
operate in cyclical industries and under leveraged conditions, which could impair their ability to pay amounts owed to us on a timely basis. Our failure to collect a significant
portion of those receivables could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. See “—A majority of our revenue comes from a
relatively small number of customers. If we lose any of these customers, our revenue could decline significantly.”

Similarly, adverse changes in credit terms extended to us by our suppliers, such as shortening the required payment period for outstanding accounts payable or
reducing the maximum amount of trade credit extended to us, could negatively and significantly affect our liquidity and thereby have a material adverse effect on our results

of operations and financial condition.

If we are unable to successfully anticipate changing economic and financial market conditions, we may be unable to effectively plan for, and respond to, those
changes, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.
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Our supply chain in China may be materially adversely impacted due to the recent coronavirus outbreak.

In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus began to impact the population of Wuhan, China. We rely upon the facilities of our suppliers in China to support our
business as well as to export components throughout the world. As of December 29, 2019, we sourced components from approximately 137 suppliers located throughout
China and approximately 40% of the components in our global supply chain were sourced from our suppliers in China during the year ended December 29, 2019. The
outbreak has resulted in significant governmental measures being implemented to control the spread of the virus, including, among others, restrictions on manufacturing and
the movement of employees in many regions of the country. As a result of the coronavirus and the measures designed to contain the spread of the virus, our suppliers may
not have the materials, capacity, or capability to supply our components according to our schedule and specifications. Any reduction in production capacity or supply
capacity at factories in China may reduce or even halt the supply of finished goods and necessary components for many of our customers’ products, which could result in
product shortages and an increase in our inventory of unfinished products. Further, there may be logistics issues, including our ability and our supply chain’s ability to
quickly ramp up production, and transportation demands that may cause further delays. If our suppliers’ operations are curtailed, we may need to seek alternate sources of
supply, which may be more expensive. Alternate sources may not be available or may result in delays in shipments to us from our supply chain and subsequently to our
customers, each of which would affect our results of operations. While the disruptions and restrictions on the ability to travel, quarantines, and temporary closures of the
facilities of our suppliers, as well as general limitations on movement in the region are expected to be temporary, the duration of the production and supply chain disruption,
and related financial impact, cannot be estimated at this time. Should the production and distribution closures continue for an extended period of time, the impact on our
supply chain in China and globally could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and cash flows. See “-We depend on a limited number of suppliers for
components that are critical to our manufacturing processes and shortages or price fluctuations of component parts specified by our customers could delay product
shipment and affect our profitability.” The coronavirus outbreak could also delay our release or delivery of our or our customers’ new or product offerings or require us or
our customers to make unexpected changes to such offerings, which may materially adversely affect our business and operating results. Our operating results could also
continue to be adversely affected to the extent that the coronavirus outbreak harms the Chinese economy in general. In addition, the coronavirus outbreak could evolve into a
worldwide health crisis that could adversely affect the economies and financial markets of many countries, resulting in an economic downturn that could affect demand for
our products and our customers’ products and materially adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial condition.

We are exposed to fluctuations in currencies against the U.S. dollar, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial results

As a global company, we have significant costs, primarily payroll denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Most of our sales and component purchases
are denominated in U.S. dollars. Our Canadian, Mexican and Asian payroll, Euro based component purchases and other various expenses are denominated in local
currencies. A decrease in the value of foreign currencies relative to the U.S. dollar could result in lower revenues, product price pressures, and increased losses from
currency exchange rates. As a result, we may enter into forward foreign exchange contracts to reduce our exposure to foreign exchange currency rate fluctuations related to
the forecasted Canadian dollar and Mexican peso. We have decided at this time not to hedge exposure due to foreign exchange currency related to EURO components
purchases or Asian payroll. To the extent we are not able to effectively manage this exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations, our revenues and profitability could be
adversely affected.

Our industry is very competitive and we may not be successful if we fail to compete effectively.

The EMS industry is highly competitive. We compete against numerous large domestic and foreign EMS providers but consider our peer group and direct
competitors to be IEC Electronics Corp., Key Tronic Corp., Nortech Systems Inc., Sigmatron International Inc., and Sypris Solutions Inc. We may in the future encounter
competition from additional large electronics manufacturers that are selling, or may begin to sell, electronics manufacturing services. Some of our competitors have
substantially greater manufacturing, financial, research and development and marketing resources and lower cost structures than us. We also face competition from the
manufacturing operations of current and potential customers, which are continually evaluating the merits of manufacturing products internally compared to the advantages of
using external manufacturers such as us.
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Furthermore, larger EMS providers who have greater direct buying power from component suppliers, distributors and raw material suppliers or who have lower cost
structures as a result of their geographic location may operate more efficiently than us. As a result, other EMS providers with significant purchasing and marketing power
may have a competitive advantage over us. Our manufacturing processes are generally not subject to meaningful proprietary protection, and companies with greater
resources, financial or otherwise, or a greater market presence may enter our market or increase their competition with us. As a result, our competitors could copy our non-
proprietary designs and processes after we have invested in development of products for customers, which could allow those competitors to offer customers lower prices on
such products. We also expect that our competitors will continue to improve the performance of their current products or services, to reduce the prices of their products or
services and to introduce new products or services that may offer greater performance and lower prices. Any of the foregoing could cause our sales to decline, a decrease in
our profit margin or a loss of market share.

In addition, increased pressure to limit U.S. defense spending and changes in the U.S. government procurement environment may limit certain future market
opportunities for us. For example, the U.S. Department of Defense (the “DoD”) increasingly is committed to awarding contracts through competitive bidding and relying on
competitive contract award types. See “—Qur financial results depend, in part, on our ability to perform on our U.S. government contracts, and changes in government
defense spending and priorities could have consequences on our financial position, results of operations and business.”

If we are unable to continue to compete successfully against our current or future competitors in our core markets, we may experience declines in revenues and
market share which could negatively impact our results of operations, financial condition or liquidity.

‘We experience variability in our operating results, which couldincrease the volatility of the price of our common stock.

Our annual and quarterly results have fluctuated in the past. The reasons for these fluctuations may similarly impact our business in the future. You should not rely
solely on our results of operations in any past period to indicate what our results will be for any future period. Our operating results may fluctuate in the future as a result of
many factors, including, but not limited to:

»  variations in the timing and volume of customer orders relative to our manufacturing capacity;
¢ introduction and market acceptance of our customers’ new products;

»  changes in demand or market acceptance for our customers’ existing or new products;

¢ the accuracy of our customers’ forecasts of future production requirements;

» changes in customers and customer or product attrition;

« effectiveness in managing our manufacturing processes, inventory levels and costs;

* our level of experience in manufacturing a particular product;

«  changes in competitive and economic conditions generally or in our customers’ end markets;

*  price competition;

¢ natural disasters that may impede our operations, the operation of our customers’ business, or availability of manufacturing inputs from our suppliers;
+ failure or external breach of our information technology systems;

«  willingness of suppliers to supply the Company on normal credit terms; and

»  changes in the cost, or availability, of components or skilled labor.

In addition, most of our customers typically do not commit to firm production schedules more than 30 to 90 days in advance. Accordingly, it is difficult for us to
forecast the level of customer orders with certainty. As a result, we may not be able to schedule production to maximize utilization of our manufacturing capacity. In the
past, we have been required to increase staffing, purchase materials and incur other expenses to meet the demand of our customers. Sometimes anticipated orders from
customers have failed to materialize and, at times, delivery schedules have been deferred as a result of changes in a customer’s needs. Any material delay, cancellation or
reduction of orders from our larger customers could cause our revenue to decline. In addition, a reduction in customer demand may decrease our gross margins and
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. On other occasions, customers have required rapid and unexpected increases in production,
which have placed burdens on our manufacturing capacity and supply chain function and adversely affected costs. See “—If we are unable to maintain satisfactory
utilization rates at our manufacturing factories, our results of operations and financial condition would be adversely affected.”

The EMS industry is affected by the United States and global economies, both of which are influenced by world events. An economic slowdown, particularly in the
industries we serve, may result in our customers reducing their forecasts or delaying orders. The demand for our services could weaken, which in turn could substantially
influence our sales, capacity utilization, margins and financial results. Results for any one quarter or year are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for any other
quarter or for any year. This could lead to results outside of analyst and investor expectations, which could increase volatility of our stock price.

Any of these factors or a combination of these factors could have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We are dependent upon the industry sectors we service, which produce electronic products that are technologically advanced with short life cyclesand our
business could be negatively impacted by economic slowdowns in these sectors.

Most of our customers develop technologically advanced electronic products, which are characterized by intense competition, short product life cycles and significant
fluctuations in product demand. In addition, these products are generally subject to rapid technological change and product obsolescence. If our customers are unable to
create products that keep pace with the changing technological environment, their products could become obsolete and, in turn, the demand for our manufacturing services
could significantly decline. Our success is largely dependent on the success achieved by our customers in developing and marketing their products. Furthermore, the
electronics industry is subject to economic cycles and has, in the past, experienced downturns. A decline in the industry demand for these products would likely have an
adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We make no assurance that our customers will continue to buy products from us at current levels, that we will retain any or all of our existing customers or that we
will be able to form new relationships with customers upon the loss of one or more of our existing customers in this market. Any material reduction in sales, consolidation or
slowdowns in the industry sectors we service could have a negative impact on our business and financial results.

Consolidation in the industry sectorsin which we operate in may adversely affect our business by increasing customer buying power or increasing competition

Consolidation in the industry sectors in which we operate among our competitors, our customers, or both, may strengthen existing, large electronics companies or
result in the formation of new large electronics companies. The significant buying and market power of these companies may increase competitive pressures on us, which
could negatively impact our margins. In addition, if any of our large customers are acquired or merged, we may lose that customer’s business, which would cause our sales
to decline and would likely have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

‘We depend on a limited number of suppliers for components that are critical to our manufacturing processesand shortages or price fluctuations of component
parts specified by our customers could delay product shipment and affect our profitability.

A substantial portion of our revenue is derived from turnkey manufacturing. In turnkey manufacturing, we provide both the materials and the manufacturing services.
If we fail to manage our inventory effectively, we may bear the risk of fluctuations in materials costs, scrap and excess inventory, all of which can have an adverse impact
on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, delays, cancellations or reductions of orders by our customers could result in an excess of
materials. Orders received from customers within component lead time, rapid increases in orders or lengthening of lead times by suppliers could cause a shortage of
materials. A shortage of materials could lengthen production schedules and increase costs. An excess of materials may increase the costs of maintaining inventory and may
increase the risk of inventory obsolescence, both of which may increase expenses and decrease profit margins and operating income.

Many of the products we manufacture require one or more components that we order from sole-source suppliers. Supply shortages for a particular component can
delay production of all products using that component or cause cost increases in the services we provide. In addition, in the past, some of the materials we use, such as
memory and logic devices, have been subject to industry-wide shortages. At such times, suppliers allocate available quantities among their customers, and we have not been
able to obtain all of the materials required. Our inability to obtain these materials could slow production or assembly, delay shipments to our customers, increase costs and
reduce operating income. Also, we may bear the risk of periodic component price increases, which if we are not able to recover from our customers, could reduce our
operating income. In addition, we rely on a variety of common carriers for materials transportation, and we route materials through various world ports. A work stoppage,
strike or shutdown of a major port or airport could result in manufacturing and shipping delays or expediting charges, which could have an adverse impact on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
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We may encounter difficulties with acquisitions, including the risks associated with the integration of acquired businesses, such as MC Assembly,and divestitures,
which could harm our business.

We have completed acquisitions of businesses in the past and we may acquire additional businesses in the future. Any future acquisitions may require additional
equity financing, which could be dilutive to our existing shareholders, or additional debt financing, which could increase our leverage and potentially affect our credit
ratings. Any downgrades in our credit ratings associated with an acquisition could adversely affect our ability to borrow by resulting in more restrictive borrowing terms. As
a result of the foregoing, we also may not be able to complete acquisitions or strategic customer transactions in the future to the same extent as in the past, or at all.

To integrate acquired businesses, such as MCA, we must implement our management information systems, operating systems and internal controls, and assimilate
and manage the personnel of the acquired operations. The difficulties of this integration may be further complicated by geographic distances. The integration of acquired
businesses may not be successful and could result in disruption to other parts of our business. In addition, the integration of acquired businesses may require that we incur
significant restructuring charges.

Uncertainty about integrations, such as MCA, may affect the relationship between us and our employees, clients and suppliers, which may have an adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations. These uncertainties may cause clients, suppliers and others that deal with us to seek to change existing business
relationships and to delay or defer decisions concerning us. Changes to existing business relationships, including termination or modification, could negatively affect our
revenues, earnings and cash flow, as well as the market price of our common stock.

In addition, we are dependent on the experience and industry knowledge of our officers, key management personnel and other key employees to operate our business
and execute our business plans. Our current and prospective employees may experience uncertainty about their roles following integrations, such as MCA, which may have
an adverse effect on our ability to attract or retain key management personnel and other key employees. Our business could be negatively impacted if key employees depart
because of issues related to the uncertainty and difficulty of integration.

Acquisitions involve numerous other risks and challenges, including:

diversion of management's attention from the normal operation of our business;

difficulties in achieving target cost synergies of the new combined company;

failure to implement our business plan for the combined business;

potential loss of key employees and customers of the acquired companies;

difficulties managing and integrating operations in geographically dispersed locations;

the potential for deficiencies in internal controls at acquired companies;

increases in our expenses and working capital requirements, which reduce our return on invested capital;
lack of experience operating in the geographic market or industry sector of the acquired business;
cybersecurity and compliance related issues;

initial dependence on unfamiliar supply chain or relatively small supply chain partners; and
exposure to unanticipated liabilities of acquired companies.

Furthermore, we may not be able to maintain the levels of revenue, earnings or operating efficiency that each of us and the acquired business had achieved or might
achieve separately. The markets in which the acquired business operates may not experience the growth rates expected and any economic downturn affecting those markets
could negatively impact such business. If the acquired business or the markets in which it operates deteriorate, the potential cost savings, growth opportunities and other
synergies of the acquisition may not be realized fully, or at all, or may take longer to realize than expected. In such case, our business, financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows may be negatively impacted.

Divestitures involve significant risks, including without limitation, difficulty finding financially sufficient buyers or selling on acceptable terms in a timely manner,
and the agreed-upon terms could be renegotiated due to changes in business or market conditions. Divestitures could adversely affect our profitability and, under certain
circumstances, require us to record impairment charges or a loss as a result of the transaction. In addition, completing divestitures requires expenses and management
attention and could leave us with certain continuing liabilities.

These and other factors have harmed, and in the future could harm, our ability to achieve anticipated levels of profitability at acquired operations or realize other
anticipated benefits of an acquisition or divestiture, and could adversely affect our business and operating results.
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If we are unable to respond to rapidly changing technology and process development, we may not be able to compete effectively.

The market for our services is characterized by rapidly changing technology and continuing process development. The future success of our business will depend in
large part upon our ability to hire and retain qualified engineering and technical personnel, maintain and enhance our technological capabilities, to develop and market
manufacturing services that meet changing customer needs, and to successfully anticipate or respond to technological changes on a cost-effective and timely basis. In
addition, the EMS industry could encounter competition from new or revised technologies in the future that render existing technology less competitive or obsolete or that
reduce the demand for our services. We may not be able to effectively respond to the technological requirements of the changing market. To the extent we determine that
new technologies and equipment are required to remain competitive, the development, acquisition and implementation of such technologies and equipment may require us to
make significant capital investments. We may not be able to access capital for these purposes in the future and investments in new technologies may not result in
commercially viable technological processes.

Disruptions to our information technology systems, including cyber security incidents, losses of data or outages, could have a material adverse effect on our
business, operations and financial results.

We rely on information technology networks and systems to process, transmit and store information related to our business. In particular, we depend on our
information technology systems for a variety of functions, including, but not limited to, financial reporting, inventory management, procurement, invoicing and email. We
also have access to, and we create and store, sensitive data, including intellectual property, our proprietary business information and that of our customers, and personally
identifiable information of our employees. Any of the foregoing may be susceptible to outages due to fire, floods, power loss, telecommunications failures, terrorist attacks,
attacks by hackers or breaches due to employee error, malfeasance or other disruptions, and similar events. Despite the implementation of network security measures, our
systems and those of third parties on which we rely may also be vulnerable to computer viruses, break-ins and similar disruptions. Such events could make it difficult to
manufacture or deliver products to our customers due to our reliance on our systems in the day to day operations of our business. While we maintain security and back-up
procedures to business recovery plans that are intended to allow us to recover from natural disasters or other events that can be disruptive to our business, some of our
systems are not fully redundant and we cannot be sure that our plans will fully protect us from all such disruptions. Any security breaches could compromise our networks
and the information stored on them could be improperly accessed, disclosed, lost or stolen. Any such access, disclosure or other loss of information could disrupt our
operations and the services we provide to customers, damage our reputation or our relationships with our customers or result in legal claims or proceedings, any of which
could adversely affect our business, financial condition, revenues and competitive position.

If the products we manufacture are defective, demand for our services may decline and we may be exposed to product liability and product warranty claims.

Defects in the products we manufacture, whether caused by, among other things, a design, engineering, manufacturing or component failure or deficiencies in our
manufacturing processes, could result in product or component failures, which may damage our business reputation and expose us to product liability or product warranty
claims.

If a product or component we manufacture is found to cause any personal injury or property damage or is otherwise found to be defective, we could incur significant
expenditures to resolve any potential claims resulting from such damages or defects. In addition, any such claim could hurt our reputation or position in the marketplace,
which could result in the loss of existing customers or affect our ability to attract new customers. A successful product liability or product warranty claim against us could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Although, generally, liability for these claims in our contracts rest with our customers, our customers may or may not have the resources to satisfy claims for costs or
liabilities arising from a defective product or component for which they have assumed responsibility or they may be otherwise unwilling or unable to assume responsibility.

‘We depend on our key personnel and skilled employees and our business could suffer if we are unable to attract and retain key personnel and skilled employees.

Our business depends, in part, on our ability to continue to recruit, train and retain skilled employees, particularly executive management, engineering and sales
personnel. Recruiting personnel in our industry is highly competitive. Our ability to successfully implement our business plan depends in part on our ability to attract and
retain management and existing employees. There can be no assurance that we will be able to attract and retain, now or in the future, executive officers and other key
personnel. In addition, if we receive a significant volume of new orders at any one time, we may have difficulty recruiting skilled workers to respond to such orders and
accordingly may experience delays that could adversely affect our ability to meet customers’ delivery schedules, which may impact those customers’ decisions to place
future orders with us.
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Risks particular to our international manufacturing operationsand our operations as a global company could each adversely affect our overall results.
Our international manufacturing operations are subject to inherent risks, including:

«  fluctuations in the value of currencies and high levels of inflation;

* longer payment cycles relative to the U.S. and greater difficulty in collecting amounts receivable;

¢ reduced credit and payment terms with vendors;

» unexpected changes in and the burdens and costs of compliance with a variety of foreign laws;

« difficulties in understanding and complying with local laws, regulations and customs in foreign jurisdictions;

+  political and economic instability;

¢ terrorism or war, which can interrupt commerce;

*  increases in duties, trade restrictions, tariffs, import and export controls, taxation and other non-tariff barriers such as quotas and local content rules;

¢ delays associated with the manufacture, transportation and delivery of products;

* increased transportation costs due to distance, energy prices, or other factors

¢ delays in the transportation and delivery of goods due to increased security concerns;

»  restrictions and potential penalties due to privacy laws, on the handling and transfer of consumer and other personal information;

«  potential violations of U.S. and foreign anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws by our employees, business partners or agents, despite our policies and procedures
relating to compliance with these laws;

«  expropriation and nationalization;

+ difficulties in managing foreign operations effectively and efficiently from the U.S.;

< changes in international trade agreements and governmental policies and regulations;

*  imposition of restrictions on currency conversion or the transfer of funds; and

¢ increased accounting and internal control costs.

In fiscal years 2019, 2018 and 2017, 68.4%, 84.4% and 84.9%, respectively, of our revenue was earned from products that we manufactured internationally (outside
of the U.S.). As of the end of fiscal years 2019 and 2018, 47.1% and 46.9%, respectively, of our total consolidated assets were located internationally (outside of the U.S.).
Changes to laws, regulations or trade agreements in relation to Mexico could have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, we are subject to customs laws and regulations with respect to our export and import activity which are complex and vary within legal jurisdictions in
which we operate. We make no assurance that there will not be a control failure around customs enforcement despite the precautions we take. We are currently subject to
audits by customs authorities. Any failure to comply with customs laws and regulations could be discovered during a U.S. or foreign government customs audit, or customs
authorities may disagree with our tariff treatments, and such actions could result in substantial fines and penalties, which could have an adverse effect on our business and
financial results. In addition, changes to U.S. trade laws may adversely impact our operations. These changes and any changes to the trade laws of other countries may add
additional compliance costs and obligations and subject us to significant fines and penalties for non-compliance. Compliance with these and other foreign legal regimes may
have a material adverse impact on our business and results of operations.

Finally, as a global company, we are subject to foreign and U.S. laws and regulations designed to combat governmental corruption, including the U.S. Foreign
Corrupt Practices Act and the U.K. Bribery Act. Violations of these laws and regulations could result in fines and penalties, criminal sanctions against us, our officers, or our
employees, prohibitions on the conduct of our business and on our ability to offer our products and services in one or more countries and a materially negative effect on our
brand and our operating results. Although we have implemented policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with these foreign and U.S. laws and regulations,
including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and the U.K. Bribery Act, there can be no assurance that our employees, business partners or agents will not violate our
policies.
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We are subject to a variety of governmental regulations related to the environment, health and safety and defense and our fiilure to comply with such current and
future governmental regulations could have a material adverse affect on our business, financial condition and results of operations

As aresult of our use of metals and other hazardous materials in our manufacturing processes, our operations are regulated under a number of federal, state,
provincial, local and foreign environmental and safety laws and regulations which govern, among other things, the discharge of hazardous materials into the air and water as
well as the handling, storage and disposal of such materials. In addition, we are subject to a variety of U.S. government regulations related to the export and import of
defense-related articles and services, as well as federal, state and local regulatory requirements relating to employee occupational health and safety. To date, the cost to us of
such compliance has not had a material impact on our business, financial condition or results of operations. However, violations may occur in the future as a result of human
error, equipment failure or other causes within and outside of our control. We may be liable under environmental laws for the cost of cleaning up properties we own or
operate if they are, or become, contaminated by the release of hazardous materials, regardless of whether we caused such release. In addition, we may be liable for costs
associated with an investigation and remediation of sites at which we have arranged for the disposal of hazardous wastes if such sites become contaminated, even if we fully
comply with applicable environmental laws. In the event of a contamination or violation of environmental laws, we could be held liable for damages, including fines,
penalties and the costs of remedial actions and could also be subject to revocation of our discharge permits. Any such revocations could require us to cease or limit
production at one or more of our facilities, thereby having an adverse effect on our operations. In addition, environmental laws could also become more stringent over time,
which would impose greater compliance costs and increase the risks and penalties associated with any violation, which could have an adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations. We also cannot predict the nature, scope or effect of environmental legislation or regulatory requirements that could be imposed
in the future, or how existing or future laws or regulations will be administered or interpreted. Finally, any such current or future regulations could restrict our ability to
expand our operations or could require us to acquire costly equipment, substitute materials, or incur other significant expenses to in order to attempt to comply with such
regulations.

Our customers may cancel their orders, change production quantities or locations, or delay production, and the inherent difficulties involved in responding to
these demands could harm our business.

Our industry must provide increasingly rapid product turnaround for its customers. We generally do not obtain firm, long-term purchase commitments from our
customers and we continue to experience reduced lead-times in customer orders. Customers may cancel their orders, change production quantities, delay production or
change their sourcing strategy for a number of reasons. Such changes, delays and cancellations may lead to our production and possession of excess or obsolete inventory,
which we may not be able to sell to the customer or a third party. The success of our customers’ products in the market affects our business. Cancellations, reductions, delays
or changes in sourcing strategy by a significant customer or by a group of customers could negatively impact our operating results by reducing the number of products that
we sell, delaying the payment to us for inventory that we purchased and reducing the use of our manufacturing facilities, which have associated fixed costs not dependent on
our level of revenue.

In addition, we make significant decisions, including determining the levels of business that we will seek and accept, production schedules, component procurement
commitments, personnel needs and other resource requirements, based on our estimate of customer requirements. The short-term nature of our customers’ commitments and
the possibility of rapid changes in demand for their products reduce our ability to accurately estimate the future requirements of those customers. Our inability to forecast the
level of customer orders with certainty can make it difficult to schedule production and maximize utilization of manufacturing capacity and manage inventory levels.

On occasion, customers may require rapid increases in production, which can stress our resources and reduce operating margins. In addition, because many of our
costs and operating expenses are relatively fixed, a reduction in customer demand can harm our gross profits and operating results. See “Our supply chain in China may be
materially adversely impacted due to the recent coronavirus outbreak”, while our customers have not reduced or materially adjusted demand as a result of the Coronavirus
outbreak, we have increased risk of servicing customer component demands with our supply chain in China, as a result of the Coronavirus outbreak.

We structure our agreements with customers to mitigate our risks related to obsolete or unsold inventory. However, enforcement of these contracts may result in
material expense and delay in payment for inventory. If any of our significant customers become unable or unwilling to purchase such inventory, our business may be

materially harmed.
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If we are unable to maintain satisfactory utilization ratesat our manufacturing factories, our results of operations and financial condition would be adversely
affected.

Given the high fixed costs of our operations, decreases in utilization rates at our manufacturing facilities could have a material adverse effect on our business.
Accordingly, our ability to maintain or enhance our margins continues to depend, in part, on maintaining satisfactory utilization rates. In turn, our ability to maintain
satisfactory utilization depends on the demand for our products, the volume of orders we receive, and our ability to offer products that meet our customers’ requirements at
attractive prices. If current or future production capacity fails to match current or future customer demands, our facilities would be underutilized, our sales may not fully
cover our high fixed overhead expenses, and we would be less likely to achieve our anticipated gross margins. Furthermore, if the forecasts and assumptions used to support
the implied fair value of goodwill or recoverability of our long-lived assets including intangible assets change, we may incur significant impairment charges, which would
adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition, as we have experienced.

In addition, we generally schedule our production facilities at less than full capacity to retain our ability to respond to unexpected additional quick-turn orders.
However, if these orders are not received, we may forego some production and could experience continued excess capacity. If we conclude that we have significant, long-
term excess capacity, we may decide to permanently close one or more of our facilities and terminate some of our employees. See “—We experience variability in our
operating results, which could negatively impact the price of our shares.” Facility closures or employee terminations could result in our recording restructuring charges such
as severance and other exit costs, and asset impairments. See “—Qur restructuring activities will increase our expenses, may not be successful, and may adversely impact
employee hiring and retention. Also, we have incurred other substantial restructuring charges in the past and we may continue to in the future’

Any restructuring activities will increase our expenses, may not be successful, and may adversely impact employee hiring and retention.Also, we have incurred
other substantial restructuring charges in the past and we may continue to in the future

In September 2019, we announced our plans to close our Chinese manufacturing operation when our current Dongguan, China facility lease expired in December
2019, and extended to February 2020 as approved by our Board of Directors. The closure of the Dongguan manufacturing facility is intended to reduce the labor force, which
impacted approximately 137 employees at the Dongguan manufacturing facility. The closure of the Dongguan facility will reduce forecasted losses that would have
otherwise been incurred in fiscal year 2020 as the Dongguan facility was not expected to be fully utilized. We expect the wind down and closure of the Dongguan facility
will be substantially completed by the end of the first quarter of 2020, however there are still some continued deregistration and filing requirements to be made in 2020.
Manufacturing of certain products previously manufactured at the Dongguan manufacturing facility were substantially transferred to our other manufacturing facilities.

As aresult of the foregoing actions, we incurred corporate restructuring costs totaling approximately $5.0 million in 2019. These restructuring costs adversely
impacted our results of operations during 2019. Additionally, the amount of the restructuring expenses we expect to incur in 2020, as well as our ability to achieve the
anticipated benefits of our restructuring activities, are subject to assumptions and uncertainties. In addition, restructuring charges of $3.0 million were incurred related to the
reduction of 47 full-time equivalents ("FTEs”) in the United States, 8 FTEs in Canada and 630 FTEs and contract employees in Mexico. There is no assurance that we will
successfully implement or fully realize the anticipated benefits of our restructuring activities. If we fail to realize the anticipated benefits from these measures, or if we incur
charges or costs in amounts that are greater than anticipated, our financial condition and operating results may be adversely affected to a greater degree than we currently
expect.

Finally, we have incurred other significant expenses related to restructuring of our operations in the past and may continue to in the future. We have incurred in the
past, and may incur in the future, costs related to workforce reductions and facility closures. We may be required to record additional charges related to restructuring
activities in the future, but cannot predict the timing or amount of such charges. Any such charges would reduce our earnings.

Our design and manufacturing processes and services may result in exposure to intellectual property infringement claims against our customers or us which
could harm our business.

Our design and manufacturing services offerings involve the creation and use of intellectual property rights, which subject us to the risk of claims of intellectual
property infringement from third parties. In addition, our customers may require that we indemnify them against the risk of intellectual property infringement. If any claims
are brought against us or our customers for such infringement, whether or not they have merit, we could be required to expend significant resources in defense of such
claims. In the event of such an infringement claim, we may be required to spend a significant amount of money to develop non-infringing alternatives or obtain licenses. We
may not be successful in developing such alternatives or obtaining such licenses on reasonable terms or at all.

From time to time, we are involved in various legal proceedings which could result in unexpected expenditures of time and resources.

In the past, we have been notified of claims relating to various matters including, among other things, intellectual property rights, contractual matters or other issues
arising in the ordinary course of business. In the event of such a claim, we may be required to spend a significant amount of money to defend or otherwise address the claim.
Due to the inherent uncertainties of litigation, we cannot accurately predict the ultimate outcome of any such proceedings. Any litigation, even where a claim is without
merit, could result in substantial costs, such as legal fees, and diversion of resources. Accordingly, the resolution or adjudication of such disputes, even those encountered in
the ordinary course of business, could have a material adverse effect on our business, consolidated financial condition and results of operations. Furthermore, companies that
have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock have been subject to securities class action litigation. We may be the target of this type of litigation in the future.
Regardless of the subject matter, any litigation could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’s attention and resources that are needed to successfully run
our business.

21




We may be required to recognize additional impairment charges.

Pursuant to U.S. GAAP, we are required to evaluate for impairment periodically and when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and goodwill may not be recoverable. During 2017, we identified a triggering event related to property, plant and equipment
in our U.S. segment asset group and recorded an impairment loss related to the U.S. segment of $1.0 million. In addition, during 2017, we recorded an impairment loss of
$0.6 million related predominantly to machinery and equipment in our China segment. During 2019, we recorded an impairment loss of $0.2 million related to machinery
and equipment in our China segment, which would not otherwise be transferred to our other manufacturing facilities. Disruptions and reductions to our business, unexpected
significant declines in the operating results, divestitures and enterprise value declines may result in future impairment charges to property, plant and equipment. Any future
impairment charge could substantially affect our reported results during those periods.

Tariffs imposed by the United States and those imposed in response by other countries, as well as rapidly changing trade relations, could have a material adverse
effect on our business and results of operations.

Modifications of U.S. laws and policies governing foreign trade and investment (including trade agreements and tariffs, such as those tariffs imposed on specified
imports from China) could adversely affect our supply chain, business and results of operations. For example, in September 2019, the U.S. imposed tariffs on more than
$125 billion worth of imported goods from China. These tariffs have increased the costs of certain components sourced from China which increases the costs to our
customers. The implementation of additional tariffs and retaliatory tariffs from trade partners or related uncertainties could further increase the cost of certain of our
imported materials, which could thereby adversely affect our profitability if not accepted and paid by our customers.

Our financial results depend, in part, on our ability to perform on our U.S. government contracts, and changes in government defense spending and priorities
could have consequences on our financial position, results of operations and business.

In fiscal years 2019 and 2018, U.S. government sales accounted for approximately 6.6% and 2.4% of our total revenues, respectively. Our revenues from the U.S.
government largely result from contracts awarded to us under various U.S. government programs, primarily defense-related programs with the DoD. The funding of our
programs is subject to the overall U.S. government policies, budget and appropriation decisions and processes which are driven by numerous factors, including geo-political
events, macroeconomic conditions, and the ability of the U.S. government to enact relevant legislation, such as appropriations bills and accords on the debt ceiling.

In recent years, U.S. government appropriations have been affected by larger U.S. government budgetary issues and related legislation. In addition, in recent years the
U.S. government has been unable to complete its budget process before the end of its fiscal year, resulting in both a governmental shut-down and continuing resolutions to
extend sufficient funds only for U.S. government agencies to continue operating.

As aresult, defense spending levels are difficult to predict beyond the near-term due to numerous factors, including the external threat environment, future governmental
priorities and the state of governmental finances. Significant changes in defense spending or changes in U.S. government priorities, policies and requirements could have a
material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition or liquidity.

Government contracts are subject to significant procurement rules and regulations. Changes in such rules, regulations and business practice could negatively
affect current programs and potential awards, and our business could be negatively affected if we fail to comply with any procurement rules and regulations.

U.S. government contractors must comply with specific procurement regulations and other requirements including export-import control, security, contract pricing
and cost, contract termination and adjustment, audit and product integrity requirements. These requirements impact our performance and compliance costs. In addition, the
U.S. government has implemented, and may continue to implement, initiatives focused on efficiencies, affordability and cost growth and other changes to its procurement
practices which may negatively affect our results of operations, financial condition or liquidity, and could affect whether and, if so, how we pursue certain opportunities and
the terms under which we are able to do so.

In addition, failure to comply with the procurement regulations and requirements could result in reductions of the value of contracts, contract modifications or
termination, cash withholds on contract payments, forfeiture of profits, and the assessment of civil and criminal penalties and fines, which could negatively impact our
results of operations, financial condition or liquidity. Our failure to comply with these regulations and requirements could also lead to suspension or debarment, for cause.
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We are subject to extensive regulation and audit by the Defense Contract Audit Agency.

The accuracy and appropriateness of certain costs and expenses used to substantiate our direct and indirect costs for U.S. government contracts are subject to
extensive regulation and audit by the Defense Contract Audit Agency, an arm of the DoD. Such audits and reviews could result in adjustments to our contract costs and
profitability. However, we cannot ensure the outcome of any future audits and adjustments may be required to reduce net sales or profits upon completion and final
negotiation of audits. If any audit or review were to uncover inaccurate costs or improper activities, we could be subject to penalties and sanctions, including termination of
contracts, forfeiture of profits, suspension of payments, fines and suspension or prohibition from conducting future business with the U.S. government. Any such outcome
could have a material adverse effect on our financial results.

We identified a material weakness in our internal control related to ineffective information technology general controls such that there is a reasonably possibility
that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis if these deficiencies are
not remediated appropriately or timely.

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange
Act. We are also required to comply with the SEC’s rules implementing Sections 302 and 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended (“Sarbanes-Oxley”), which
require management to certify financial and other information in our quarterly and annual reports and provide an annual management report on the effectiveness of controls
over financial reporting. Our independent registered public accounting firm is also required to attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting
pursuant to Section 404 of Sarbanes-Oxley. Internal controls related to the operation of technology systems are critical to maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting. As disclosed in Part II, Item 9A of this Form 10-K, during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019, management identified a material
weakness in internal control related to ineffective information technology general controls in the areas of user access and program change-management over certain
information technology systems that support the Company’s financial reporting processes. As a result, management concluded that our internal control over financial
reporting was not effective as of December 29, 2019.

We are implementing remedial measures and, while we make no assurance that our efforts will be successful, we plan to remediate the material weakness by mid-
2020. These measures will result in additional technology and other expenses. If we are unable to remediate the material weakness, or are otherwise unable to maintain
effective internal control over financial reporting or disclosure controls and procedures, our ability to record, process and report financial information accurately, and to
prepare financial statements within required time periods, could be adversely affected, which could subject us to litigation or investigations requiring management resources
and payment of legal and other expenses, negatively affect investor confidence in our financial statements and adversely impact our stock price.

We make no assurance that significant deficiencies or other material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting will not be identified in the future.
The existence of a significant deficiency or additional material weakness could result in errors in our financial statements that could in turn result in a restatement of the
consolidated financial statements, cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations or cause lenders, suppliers, customers and investors to lose confidence in our reported
financial information. Our internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements because of its inherent limitations, including the possibility of
human error, the circumvention or overriding of controls, or fraud. Even effective internal controls can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to the preparation and
fair presentation of financial statements. Any combination of the above could lead to harmful effects on our business and a decline in our stock price. In addition, a material
weakness, such as the one disclosed in Part II, Item 9A of this Form 10-K, could cause investors to lose confidence in our financial reporting and may negatively affect the
price of our common stock. We also make no assurances that we will be able to remediate any future internal control deficiencies timely and in a cost effective manner.
Moreover, effective internal controls are necessary to produce reliable financial reports and to prevent fraud. If we are unable to satisfactorily remediate future deficiencies or
if we discover other deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting, such deficiencies may lead to misstatements in our financial statements or otherwise
negatively impact our business, financial results and reputation.
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RISKS RELATED TO OUR CAPITAL STRUCTURE
Our indebtedness could adversely affect our financial health and severely limit our ability to plan for or respond to changes in our business.

We borrow money under an amended and restated revolving credit and security agreement, with PNC Bank, National Association (“PNC”), which governs the
Company’s revolving credit facility (the “PNC Facility”). The PNC Facility has a term ending on November 8, 2023. Advances made under the PNC Facility bear interest at
the U.S. base rate plus an applicable margin ranging from 0.75% to 1.25%, or the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus an applicable margin ranging from 2.50%
to 3.00%. The base commercial lending rate should approximate U.S. prime rate.

We also borrow money under a financing agreement, the lenders from time to time party thereto, TCW Asset Management Company LLC, as administrative agent for
the lenders, and TCW Asset Management Company LLC, as collateral agent for the lenders govern a term loan A facility (the “Term A Loan Facility” and, together with the
PNC Facility, the “Credit Facilities”) and previously governed a term loan B facility (the “Term Loan B Facility”) until it was paid in full on July 3, 2019. The Term Loan A
Facility matures on November 8, 2023 (the “Maturity Date”). The Term Loan A Facility bears interest at LIBOR plus an applicable margin of 8.75% through June 30, 2020,
and borrowings will thereafter bear interest at LIBOR plus an applicable margin ranging from 7.25% to 8.75%. Payments made under the Term Loan A Facility at any time
prior to the Maturity Date (other than scheduled amortization payments and mandatory prepayments) are subject to an applicable premium equal to the amount of such
payment multiplied by (i) 3.00% in the event that such payment occurred before November 8, 2019, (ii) 2.00% in the event that such payment occurs after November 8,
2019 and on or November 8, 2020 and (iii) 1.00% in the event that such payment occurs after November 8, 2020 and on or before November 8, 2021. No such applicable
premium is payable for any payment of loans made under the Term Loan A Facility occurring after November 8, 2021.

At December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, $34.7 million and $25.0 million, respectively, was outstanding under the PNC Facility and was classified as a current
liability based on the requirement to hold a “lock-box” under the terms of the PNC Facility. As at December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, the funds available to borrow
under the PNC Facility after deducting the current borrowing base conditions was $21.6 million and $14.0 million, respectively. The maximum amount of funds that could
be available under the PNC Facility is $65.0 million. However, availability under the PNC Facility is subject to certain conditions, including borrowing base conditions
based on eligible inventory and accounts receivable, and certain conditions as determined by PNC. We are required to use a “lock-box” arrangement for the PNC Facility,
whereby remittances from customers are swept daily to reduce the borrowings under this facility.

At December 29, 2019 $38.8 million was outstanding under the Term Loan A Facility, net of deferred financing fees of $2.3 million and a discount on debt of $1.5
million, related to outstanding warrants to purchase shares of our common stock. At December 30, 2018, $62.0 million, was outstanding under the Term Loan A and Term
B Facility, net of deferred financing fees of $2.8 million, and a discount on debt of $1.8 million related to outstanding warrants to purchase shares of our common stock.

Our debt outstanding under the Credit Facilities could have adverse consequences for our business, including, among others:

« we are more vulnerable to adverse general economic conditions;

*  we are required to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to repayment of debt, including interest limiting the availability of cash for other
purposes;

* we may have difficulty obtaining financing in the future for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, general corporate purposes or other purposes;

* we may have limited flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and industry;

*  we could be limited in our borrowing of additional funds and making strategic investments by restrictive covenants and the borrowing base formula in our credit
arrangements; and

*  we may fail to comply with covenants under our Credit Facilities.

Although we were in compliance with the financial covenants included in the Credit Facilities as of December 29, 2019 we make no assurance that we will be in
compliance with these covenants going forward. If we breach any of these restrictive covenants, the lenders could either refuse to lend funds to us, accelerate the repayment
of any outstanding borrowings or declare an event of default. If an event of default occurs and is not cured or waived, it could result in all amounts outstanding, together with
accrued interest, becoming immediately due and payable unless we obtain a waiver from the applicable lender. We may not have sufficient assets to repay such indebtedness
upon a default or be unable to receive a waiver of the default from the lender. If we are unable to repay the indebtedness, the lender could initiate a bankruptcy proceeding or
collection proceedings with respect to the assets which secure our indebtedness under the Credit Facilities.
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Our leverage and restrictions contained in the Credit Facilities may materially adversely affect our ability to finance our future operations or capital needs or to
engage in other business activities. In addition, our ability to pay principal and interest on our indebtedness and to satisfy our other obligations will depend upon our future
operating performance, which will be affected by prevailing economic conditions and financial, business and other factors, certain of which are beyond our control.

We face significant restrictions on our ability to operate our business as a result of the covenant restrictions under our Credit Facilities.

The terms of our Credit Facilities generally restrict, among other things, our ability to incur additional indebtedness, complete acquisitions, make certain investments,
pay dividends or make certain other restricted payments, consummate certain asset sales, make capital expenditures, enter into certain transactions with affiliates, merge,
consolidate or sell, assign, transfer, lease, convey or otherwise dispose of our assets (other than in the ordinary course of business). The PNC Facility also has a borrowing
base formula that limits our ability to borrow based on the characteristics, including geographic location of our accounts receivable and inventory. Substantially all of our
assets and those of our subsidiaries are pledged as security under our Credit Facilities. These restrictions could limit our ability to obtain future financing, make acquisitions
or needed capital expenditures, withstand the current or future downturns in our business or the economy in general, conduct operations or otherwise take advantage of
business opportunities that may arise, any of which could place us at a competitive disadvantage relative to our competitors.

If we are not able to comply with these covenants and requirements or obtain the prior approval from the applicable lender, the lenders have the right to demand
accelerated payment and we would have to seek alternative sources of financing, which may not be available, or be available on acceptable terms. In addition, we could be
prohibited from engaging in transactions which could be beneficial to our business and our stockholders. Furthermore, customers may lose confidence in us and reduce or
eliminate their orders with us, which may have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations. If our borrowing base is diminished we may
not have sufficient access to capital to finance operations or capital needs.

Our indebtedness could adversely affect our financial condition and prevent us from fulfilling our debt obligations and may otherwise restrict our activities.

Our indebtedness could adversely affect our financial condition and thus make it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations with respect to our Credit Facilities. If
our cash flow is not sufficient to service our debt and adequately fund our business, we may be required to seek further additional financing or refinancing or dispose of
assets. We might not be able to influence any of these alternatives on satisfactory terms or at all. Our indebtedness could also:

e increase our vulnerability to adverse general economic, industry or competitive developments;

e require us to dedicate a more substantial portion of our cash flows from operations to payments on our indebtedness, thereby reducing the availability of our
cash flows to fund working capital, investments, acquisitions, capital expenditures, and other general corporate purposes;

limit our ability to make required payments under our existing contractual commitments, including our existing long-term indebtedness;
limit our ability to fund a change of control offer;

require us to sell certain assets;

restrict us from making strategic investments, including acquisitions or cause us to make non-strategic divestitures;

limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in market conditions, our business and the industry in which we operate;
place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt;

cause us to incur substantial fees from time to time in connection with debt amendments or refinancings;

increase our exposure to rising interest rates because our borrowings are at variable interest rates; and

limit our ability to borrow additional funds or to borrow on terms that are satisfactory to us.

Furthermore, because our debt is variable-rate debt, fluctuations in interest rates could have a material effect on our business. As a result, we may incur higher interest
costs if interest rates increase. These higher interest costs could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition and the levels of cash we maintain for working
capital.

For more information about our indebtedness, see “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and
Capital Resources—Capital Resources” of Part IT of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and Note 6 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of Part
1T of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Despite our current level of indebtedness, we may incur more debt and undertake additional obligations. Incurring such debt or undertaking such additional
obligations could increase the risks to our financial condition.

Although the agreements governing the Credit Facilities contain restrictions on our incurrence of additional indebtedness, these restrictions are subject to a number of
qualifications and exceptions and the indebtedness incurred in compliance with these restrictions could increase. To the extent new debt is added to our current debt levels,
the risks to our financial condition would increase.

While the agreements governing the Credit Facilities also contains restrictions on our ability to make loans and investments, these restrictions are subject to a number
of qualifications and exceptions, and the investments incurred in compliance with these restrictions could be substantial.

To service our significant indebtedness, we will require cash and we may not be able to generate sufficient cash flow from operations to satisfy these obligations or
to refinance these obligations on acceptable terms, or at all.

Our ability to generate cash depends on many factors beyond our control. Our ability to make payments on our debt and to fund working capital requirements, capital
expenditures and research and development efforts will depend on, among other things, our ability to generate cash in the future, our future financial and operating
performance, which will be affected by prevailing economic conditions and financial, business, regulatory and other factors, many of which are beyond our control, and the
future availability of borrowings under the PNC Facility, which depends on, among other things, our complying with the covenants in the agreements governing the Credit
Facilities. Our historical financial results have been, and we expect our future financial results will be, subject to fluctuation based upon a wide variety of factors, many of
which are not within our control including, among others, those described in this section. We cannot assure you that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from
operations, or that future borrowings will be available to us under our PNC Facility or otherwise, in an amount sufficient to fund our liquidity needs.

Unfavorable changes in any of the foregoing factors could harm our operating results and our ability to generate cash to service our debt obligations. If we do not
generate sufficient cash flow from operations to satisfy our debt obligations, we may have to undertake alternative financing plans, such as refinancing or restructuring our
debt, selling assets, reducing or delaying capital investments or seeking to raise additional capital. These alternative measures may not be successful and may not permit us
to meet our scheduled debt service obligations. Our ability to restructure or refinance our debt will depend on the condition of the capital markets and our financial condition
at such time. Any refinancing of our debt could be at higher interest rates and may require us to comply with more onerous covenants, which could further restrict our
business operations. In addition, the terms of existing or future debt agreements, may restrict us from adopting some of these alternatives. In the absence of such operating
results and resources, we could face substantial liquidity problems and might be required to dispose of material assets or operations to meet our debt service and other
obligations. We may not be able to complete those dispositions for fair market value or at all, and any proceeds that we could realize from any such dispositions may not be
adequate to meet our debt service obligations then due. Also, certain of these actions would require the consent of our lenders. The terms of our financing agreements
contain limitations on our ability to incur debt. See “—Risks Related to Ownership of our Common Stock—Sales of a significant number of shares of our common stock in the
public markets, including sales by our directors and/or executive officers and/or the holders of our warrants upon the exercise of such warrants, or the perception that such
sales could occur, could depress the market price of our common stock.”

Downgrades of our credit ratings could adversely affect us

We can be adversely affected by downgrades of our credit ratings, which are a factor influencing our ability to access capital and the terms of any new indebtedness,
including covenants and interest rates. Our customers and vendors may also consider our credit profile when negotiating contract terms, and if they were to change the terms
on which they deal with us, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows, and financial condition.

Changes in the method of determining LIBOR, or the replacement of LIBOR with an alternative reference rate, may adversely affect interest expense related to
outstanding debt.

Amounts drawn under the Credit Facilities may bear interest rates in relation to LIBOR, depending on our selection of repayment options. In July 2017, the United
Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority (the authority that regulates LIBOR) announced it intends to stop persuading or compelling banks to submit rates for the calculation
of LIBOR after 2021. The Alternative Reference Rates Committee (“ARRC”) has proposed that the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) is the rate that represents
best practice as the alternative to USD-LIBOR for use in derivatives and other financial contracts that are currently indexed to USD-LIBOR. ARRC has proposed a paced
market transition plan to SOFR from USD-LIBOR and organizations are currently working on industry wide and company specific transition plans as it relates to derivatives
and cash markets exposed to USD-LIBOR. In November 2019 the FASB approved an Accounting Standards Update (ASU) to provide temporary, optional guidance to ease
the reporting burden in accounting for, or recognizing the effects of, reference rate reform on financial reporting. The Board expects to issue a final ASU in 2020. The
guidance will address stakeholder operational challenges, help simplify the migration process away from reference rates such as LIBOR and reduce related costs. However,
at this time, it is not possible to predict the effect of any such changes, any establishment of alternative reference rates or any other reforms to LIBOR that may be enacted in
the United Kingdom or elsewhere. Uncertainty as to the nature of such potential changes, alternative reference rates or other reforms may adversely affect the trading market
for LIBOR-based securities, including certain of our debt that is indexed to USD-LIBOR. Furthermore, we may need to renegotiate any credit agreements extending beyond
2021 that utilize LIBOR as a factor in determining the interest rate to replace LIBOR with the new standard that is established. There is currently no definitive information
regarding the future utilization of LIBOR or of any particular replacement rate. As such, potential effect of any such event on our business, financial condition and results of
operations cannot yet be determined.
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RISKS RELATED TO TAX LOSS UTILIZATION AND TAX REGULATION
Our ability to recognize tax benefits on our existing U.S. net operating loss position may be limited.

We have generated substantial loss carryforwards and other tax assets for U.S. tax purposes that can be used to reduce our future federal income tax obligations. Our
ability to fully use these tax assets will be adversely affected if we have an “ownership change” within the meaning of Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “IRC”). An ownership change is generally defined as a greater than 50 percentage point increase in equity ownership by “five-percent shareholders” (as that
term is defined for purposes of Section 382 of the IRC) in a rolling three-year period.

At our 2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, we ratified the extension of the SMTC Corporation Tax Benefits Preservation Plan, (the “Plan”) for an additional three
year period, expiring on December 29, 2020 in order to protect our ability to utilize our net operating losses (“NOLs”) and other tax assets from an “ownership change”
under U.S. federal income tax rules. We continue to have and utilize our net operating losses (“NOLs”) and intend to extend the Plan at our next Annual Meeting of
Stockholders. However, there is no guarantee that the Plan will be effective in protecting our NOLs and other tax assets or that Stockholders will vote to extend.

In the past, we have had historical net operating losses expire unutilized. If the Company continues to be unable to generate sufficient taxable income, these losses
will continue to expire unutilized and we may not be able to recognize the tax benefits that could arise from such tax losses.

There may be adverse impact resulting from government tax reform on the Company's tax returns and consolidated financial statements.

The Company operates in various foreign jurisdictions and has substantial tax operating loss carryforwards. Accordingly, the Company expects that potential future
tax reform could have substantial impact on the Company’s tax filings and consolidated financial statements related to its income tax expense (recovery) and deferred tax
assets (liabilities) and corresponding disclosures.

There may be adverse consequences resulting from future governmental tax audits of the Company's tax returns.

The Company has taken various tax positions in determining its tax liabilities and the related expense. It is possible that future tax audits or changes in tax regulation
may require the Company to change its prior period tax returns and also to incur additional costs. This may negatively affect future period results.

RISKS RELATED TO OWNERSHIP OF OUR COMMON STOCK
Our common stock price may be volatile or may decline regardless of our operating performance.

Volatility in the market price of our common stock may prevent investors from being able to sell their shares at or above the price you paid for such shares. Many
factors, which are outside our control, may cause the market price of our common stock to fluctuate significantly, including those described elsewhere in this “Risk Factors”
section and this Annual Report Form 10-K, as well as the following:

our operating and financial performance and prospects;

our quarterly or annual earnings or those of other companies in our industry compared to market expectations;
conditions that impact demand for our services;

future announcements concerning our business or our competitors’ businesses;

the public’s reaction to our press releases, other public announcements and filings with the SEC;

the size of our public float;

coverage by or changes in financial estimates by securities analysts or failure to meet their expectations;
market and industry perception of our success, or lack thereof, in pursuing our growth strategy;

strategic actions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions or restructurings;

changes in laws or regulations which adversely affect our industry or us;

changes in accounting standards, policies, guidance, interpretations or principles;

changes in senior management or key personnel;

issuances or sales, or expected issuances or sales of our capital stock;

changes in our dividend policy;

adverse resolution of new or pending litigation against us; and

changes in general market, economic and political conditions in the United States and global economies or financial markets, including those resulting from
natural disasters, terrorist attacks, acts of war and responses to such events.

These broad market and industry factors may materially reduce the market price of our common stock, regardless of our operating performance. In addition, price
volatility may be greater if the public float and trading volume of our common stock is low. As a result, investors may suffer a loss on their investment.
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Our principal stockholders exercise a considerable degree of control over our Company.

As of December 29, 2019, our executive officers, directors and entities affiliated with our five percent stockholders beneficially owned, in the aggregate, shares
representing approximately 32% of our outstanding common stock. Although we are not aware of any voting arrangements in place among these stockholders, if these
stockholders were to choose to act together, as a result of their stock ownership, they would be able to influence our management and affairs and control all matters
submitted to our stockholders for approval, including the election of directors and approval of any merger, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of our assets. This
concentration of ownership may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control of our company or affecting the liquidity and volatility of our common stock,
and might affect the market price of our common stock.

Sales of a significant number of shares of our common stock in the public markets, including sales by our directors or executive officers and/or theholders of our
warrants upon the exercise of such warrants, or the perception that such sales could occur, could depress the market price of our common stock.

Sales of a significant number of shares of our common stock in the public market, including sales by our directors or executive officers and/or the holders of our
warrants upon the exercise of such warrants, or the perception that such sales could occur, could depress the market price of our common stock and impair our ability to raise
capital through the sale of additional equity securities. We cannot predict the effect that future sales of our common stock or the market perception that we are permitted to
sell a significant number of our securities would have on the market price of our common stock.

We may require additional capital in the future to continue our planned operations, and we may seek additional funding through a combination of equity offerings,
debt financings, or other third-party business arrangements. These financing activities may have an adverse effect on our stockholders’ rights, the market price of our
common stock and on our operations and may require us to issue additional equity or debt securities, or otherwise agree to terms unfavorable to us. Any sale or issuance of
securities pursuant to a registration statement or otherwise may result in dilution to our stockholders and may cause the market price of our stock to decline, and new
investors could gain rights superior to our existing stockholders. In addition, the agreements governing our indebtedness impose restrictive covenants on our operations. Any
future debt financings may impose additional restrictive covenants or otherwise adversely affect the holdings or the rights of our stockholders, and any additional equity
financings will be dilutive to our stockholders. Furthermore, additional equity or debt financing might not be available to us on reasonable terms, if at all.

Finally, in the future, in addition to financings, we may issue additional shares of our common stock or other equity or debt securities convertible into common stock
in connection with an acquisition, employee arrangements, or otherwise. Any such issuance could result in substantial dilution to our then-existing stockholders and could
cause the price of our common stock to decline.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated by-laws and Delaware law contain provisions that could discourage a third party
from acquiring us and consequently decrease the market value of an investment in our stock.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated by-laws, and Delaware corporate law each contain provisions that could delay, defer, or
prevent a change in control of us or changes in our management. The provisions include, among others:

advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals and nominations;

the inability of stockholders to act by written consent or to call special meetings;

the ability of our board of directors to make, alter or repeal our amended and restated by-laws;

prohibiting the use of cumulative voting for the election of directors; and

the authority of our board of directors to issue preferred stock with such terms as our board of directors may determine.

These provisions could discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for our stockholders to elect directors and take other corporate actions, which may
prevent a change of control or changes in our management that a stockholder might consider favorable. In addition, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law,
to which we are subject, prohibits us, except under specified circumstances, from engaging in any mergers, significant sales of stock or assets or business combinations with
any shareholder or group of shareholders who owns at least 15% of our common stock for three years following their becoming the owner of 15% of our common stock,
which may discourage, delay, or prevent a change in control of us. Any delay or prevention of a change of control or change in management that stockholders might
otherwise consider to be favorable could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.

We may issue shares of preferred stock in the future, which could make it difficult for another company to acquire us or could otherwise adversely affect holders
of our common stock, which could depress the price of our common stock.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes us to issue one or more series of preferred stock. Our Board of Directors will have the authority to
determine the preferences, limitations and relative rights of the shares of preferred stock and to fix the number of shares constituting any series and the designation of such
series, without any further vote or action by our stockholders. Our preferred stock could be issued with voting, liquidation, dividend and other rights superior to the rights of
our common stock. The potential issuance of preferred stock may delay or prevent a change in control of us, discouraging bids for our common stock at a premium to the
market price, and materially and adversely affect the market price and the voting and other rights of the holders of our common stock.

If securities analysts do not publish research or reports about ourCompany, or if they issue unfavorable commentary about us or our industry or downgrade our
common stock, the price of our common stock could decline.

The trading market for our common stock depends in part on the research and reports that third-party securities analysts publish about us and our industry. If one or
more analysts cease coverage of us, we could lose visibility in the market. In addition, one or more of these analysts could downgrade our common stock or issue other

negative commentary about our company or our industry. As a result of one or more of these factors, the trading price of our common stock could decline.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties

We conduct our operations within approximately 555,000 square feet of building space after removing the Chang An (Dongguan), China location. During the fourth
quarter of 2019 we announced a decision to cease manufacturing in China and relocate the equipment used at our Chinese manufacturing facility to our other North
Anmerican sites. See “Item 1. Business.” We believe our facilities are currently adequate for our operating needs and provide capacity for future volume growth. Our principal
service at all locations is assembly of electronic components, with the exception of the Chihuahua facility where we also manufacture precision enclosures, and our
Markham, Canada facility which serves as the principal executive office. Our operating facilities are as follows:

Reportable Approx.

Operating Square
Location Segment Footage Leased/Owned
Fremont, California U.S. 67,000 Leased
Chihuahua, Mexico Mexico 216,000 Owned
Chang An (Dongguan), China (1) China 150,000 Leased
Melbourne, Florida U.S. 135,000 Leased
Billerica, Massachusetts uU.S. 58,000 Leased
Zacatecas, Mexico Mexico 79,000 Leased

(1) During the fourth quarter of 2019 we announced a decision to cease manufacturing at SMTC Electronics Dongguan Company Limited and relocate the equipment used
at our Chinese manufacturing facility to our other North American sites. The closure of the SMTC Electronics Dongguan Company Limited, China facility is expected
to be substantially completed by the end of the first quarter of 2020.

The principal executive office of SMTC is located at 7050 Woodbine Ave. Suite 300, Markham, Ontario, Canada L3R 4GS, which is a leased facility. The supply chain
center located in Phoenix, Arizona is a leased facility.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are a party to various legal actions arising in the ordinary course of our business. At this time, we believe that the resolution of these legal actions will not have a
material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not Applicable.
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Market Information
Our common stock trades on The Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “SMTX.”
Holders
As of March 13, 2020, there were approximately 96 holders of record of the Company’s common stock.
Dividends

The Company has never declared a cash dividend on its common stock. Our Board of Directors has no present intention to authorize the payment of dividends on our
common stock in the foreseeable future. It is the present policy of the Company to retain earnings, if any, to provide for growth and working capital needs.

Stock Performance Graph

The following graph sets forth the Company’s total cumulative stockholder return as compared to the Nasdaq Composite Index and to a peer group chosen by the
Company for 2019 (the “Peer Group”). The Peer Group is comprised of the following companies: IEC Electronics Corp., Key Tronic Corp., Nortech Systems Inc.,
Sigmatron International Inc., and Sypris Solutions Inc.

The total stockholder return assumes $100 invested on December 28, 2014 in SMTC’s common stock or December 28, 2014 in the Nasdaq Composite Index and the
Peer Group of companies that are, (i) publicly traded, and (ii) mid or large tier providers of advanced electronics manufacturing services. Total shareholder return assumes
reinvestment of dividends without the payment of any commissions. We make no assurance that the performance of our shares will continue in line with the same or similar
trends depicted in the graph below.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*

Among SMTC Corporation, the MASDAQ Composite Index,
and a Peer Group

50
12/28114 113116 1M7 1213117 1213018 1212919
—8— SMTC Corporation -—---- NASDAQ Composite —-©— Peer Group

*2100 invested on 12/28/14 in stock or 12/31/14 in index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Index calculated on menth-end basis.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities
None.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer
None.
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Item 6.  Selected Financial Data

The data set forth below should be read in conjunction with “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and
our consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

The Company’s financial reporting year is a 52 or 53 week fiscal period, ending on the Sunday nearest December 31. Accordingly, the consolidated balance sheet,
statements of operations and comprehensive loss, the consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ equity, and consolidated statements of cash flows are reported for
the periods from December 31, 2018 to December 29, 2019 (“year ended December 29, 2019”), January 1, 2018 to December 30, 2018 (“year ended December 30, 2018”),
January 2, 2017 to December 31, 2017 (“year ended December 31, 2017”), January 4, 2016 to January 1, 2017 (“year ended January 1, 2017”), and December 29, 2014 to

January 3, 2016 (“year ended January 3, 2016”).

Selected consolidated financial data has been derived from consolidated financial statements that are prepared in accordance with generally accepted principles in the

United States of America (U.S. GAAP).

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss Data

(in USD millions):

Revenue (a)
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative expenses

Change in fair value of warrant liability

Change in fair value of contingent consideration
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Restructuring charges (b)

(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Operating earnings (loss)

Interest expense - net

Earnings (loss) before income taxes

Income tax expense - net

Net loss and comprehensive loss
Basic loss per common share

Diluted loss per common share

Weighted average number of shares outstanding
Basic

Diluted

Years Ended
December 29, December 30, December 31, January 1, January 3,
2019 2018 2017 2017 2016

$ 3725 $ 216.1 $ 1392 $ 1679 $ 220.6
335.5 194.5 128.4 152.8 202.9

37.0 21.7 10.8 15.1 17.7

27.0 18.1 14.0 14.0 15.9

0.3) 0.1 — I _

(3.1 — — — —

_ _ 1.6 _ _

8.0 0.2 1.7 0.2 —

— 0.0 (0.1) 0.0 —

5.4 33 (6.4) 0.9 1.8

10.6 3.1 0.9 0.8 1.2

5.2) 0.2 (7.3) 0.1 0.6

0.8 0.7 0.6 0.3 0.7
$ 6.0) $ 0.5) $ (79) $ 0.2) $ (0.1)
$ (0.23) $ (0.02) $ 047) $ (0.01) § (0.00)
$ 0.23) § 0.02) § 0.47) $ (0.01) (0.00)
25.7 19.2 16.8 16.5 16.4

25.7 19.2 16.8 16.5 16.4

(a) The Company adopted Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 606 on a modified retrospective basis effective January 1, 2018. See note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements for the impact of adoption in the year of transition. The comparable periods do not reflect the impact of the adoption and therefore

may not be comparable.

(b) During 2019, restructuring charges of $5.0 million were incurred related to the closure of the Dongguan facility related to the reduction of 137 full time equivalents
(“FTEs”) in China, including ongoing administrative staff charges to close the facility and certain provisions on property, plant and equipment, accounts receivable and
inventory. In addition, restructuring charges of $3.0 million were incurred related to the reduction of 47 FTEs in U.S., 8 FTEs in Canada and 630 FTEs and contract
employees in Mexico. During 2017, restructuring charges of $1.7 million were incurred related to severance charges in connection with the Company’s 2017
restructuring plan related to a global reduction in the workforce in addition to the closure of the Suzhou manufacturing facility.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet Data and Cash Flow Data:
(in USD millions)

As at and for the Fiscal Years Ended

December 29, December 30, December 31, January 1, January 3,
2019 (1) 2018 2017 2017 2016
Cash $ 14 S 1.6 $ 55 % 85 § 6.9
Working capital (2) 25.5 31.0 14.5 20.0 14.0
Total assets 213.5 221.2 69.9 69.0 82.0
Long-term debt and finance lease obligations 48.8 70.0 6.1 8.3 4.2
Shareholders’ equity 41.1 323 19.1 26.5 26.3
Capital expenditures 39 4.7 1.5 2.2 2.8
Cash flows provided (used in) by operating activities 5.1 (7.8) (8.9) 6.9 10.9
Cash flows (used in) provided by financing activities (1.4) 75.8 7.0 3.2) 6.7)
Cash flows used in investing activities 3.9) (72.0) (1.1) (1.3) 3.5)

(1) The Company adopted ASC Topic 842 on a modified retrospective basis effective December 31, 2018. See note 4 to the consolidated financial statements for the impact
of adoption in the year of transition. The comparable periods do not reflect the impact of the adoption and therefore may not be comparable

(2) Calculated as current assets minus current liabilities.
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Item 7: Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation (“MD&A ") in combination with the accompanying
audited consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP included within this
annual report on Form 10-K. Some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in thisForm 10-K, including information with respect
to our plans and strategies for our business, statements regarding the industry outlook, our expectations regarding the future performance of our business and the other non-
historical statements contained herein, are forward-looking statements. You should also review the “Risk Factors” in Item 1A. of this Form 10-K for a discussion of
important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results described herein or implied by such forward-looking statements.

This MD&A contains discussion in thousands of U.S. dollars unless specifically stated otherwise.
Overview

We are a provider of end-to-end electronics manufacturing services (“EMS”), including product design and engineering services, printed circuit board assembly
(“PCBA?”), production, enclosure, cable assembly, precision metal fabrication, systems integration and comprehensive testing services, configuration to order (“CTO”),
build to order (“BTO”) and direct order fulfillment (“DOF”). At the end of 2019, we operated more than 50 manufacturing and assembly lines in over 555,000 square feet of
production space worldwide at strategically located facilities in the United States and Mexico, that provide local support, flexibility, fast turn around and delivery times, and
low-cost, volume manufacturing capabilities, as well as new product integration (“NPI”) services, to our global customers. Our services extend over the entire electronic
product life cycle from new product development and NPI through to growth, maturity and end of life phases. Our focus on delivering best-in-class services has been
recognized and we have received Frost & Sullivan Awards for Product Quality, Growth Leadership & Customer Value Leadership Awards in May 2019.

During the fourth quarter of 2019 we announced a decision to cease manufacturing in China and relocate the equipment used at our Chinese manufacturing facility to
our other North American sites. See “Item 1. Business.”

We are offer fully integrated contract manufacturing services to global OEMs, technology companies and governmental entities. We have redefined our market
sectors from those previously reported. We are focused on seven market sectors:

Avionics, aerospace and defense
Industrial, power and clean technology
Medical and safety

Retail and payment systems
Semiconductors

Telecom, networking and communications
Test and measurement

Developments in the year ended December 29, 2019

Total revenue increased by $156.4 million or 72.4% in 2019 compared to 2018. With the acquisition of MC Assembly Holdings, Inc. (“MCA”) in November of 2018,
we recognized incremental revenue of $143.4 million in 2019 over 2018.

Net loss increased to $6.0 million in 2019 from $0.4 million in 2018. This was due primarily to restructuring charges of $8.0 million incurred in 2019 in addition to
amortization of intangible assets of $7.2 million, partially offset by change in fair value of contingent consideration resulting in a gain of $3.1 million. In the prior year,
restructuring charges were limited to $0.2 million and amortization of intangible assets was $1.0 million.

Adjusted EBITDA increased to $24.8 million in 2019 from $10.2 million in 2018. Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of revenue increased to 6.7% in 2019 compared
to 4.7% in 2018. The improvement in Adjusted EBITDA, was primarily driven by the full year of results due to MCA, which represented a $12.5 million increase in
EBITDA. In addition, the increase in EBITDA was due to increased revenue and increased utilization at the manufacturing facilities. For additional information and a
reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA, see “EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Reconciliation” below.
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In September 2019, the Company announced it plans to close its Chinese manufacturing operation when its current Dongguan, China facility lease expires in
December 2019 as approved by the Board of Directors. The closure of the Dongguan manufacturing facility is intended to reduce the labor force which is anticipated to
impact approximately 137 employees at the Dongguan manufacturing facility. Impacted employees were notified in the last week of September 2019. The closure of the
Dongguan manufacturing facility will reduce forecasted losses that would have otherwise been incurred in fiscal 2020 as the Dongguan manufacturing facility was not
expected to be fully utilized. The wind down and closure of the Dongguan manufacturing facility is anticipated to be substantially completed by the end of the first quarter of
2020, however it is expected there will be some continued deregistration and filing requirements in 2020. Manufacturing by the Company of certain products previously
manufactured at the Dongguan manufacturing facility will be transferred to the Company’s other manufacturing facilities.

During 2019, restructuring charges of $5.0 million were incurred related to the closure of the Dongguan facility related to the reduction of 137 full time equivalents
(“FTEs”) in China, including ongoing administrative staff charges to close the facility and certain provisions on property, plant and equipment, accounts receivable and
inventory. In addition, restructuring charges of $3.0 million were incurred related to the reduction of 47 FTEs in U.S., 8 FTEs in Canada and 630 FTEs and contract
employees in Mexico.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain operating data expressed as a percentage of revenue for the years presented:

Fiscal Year ended Fiscal Year ended Fiscal Year ended
December 29, December 30, December 31,
2019 2018 2017

Revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Cost of sales 90.1 90.0 92.2
Gross profit 9.9 10.0 7.8
Selling, general and administrative expenses 7.3 8.4 10.1
Change in fair value of warrant liability = = =
Change in fair value of contingent consideration (0.8) — —
Impairment of property, plant and equipment — — 1.2
Restructuring charges 2.1 0.1 1.2
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment = — (0.1)
Operating earnings (loss) 1.4 1.5 (4.6)
Interest expense 2.9 1.4 0.7
(Loss) earnings before income taxes (1.5) 0.1 (5.3)
Income tax expense
Current 0.2 0.4 0.5
Deferred (0.1) — (0.1)

0.1 0.4 0.4
Net loss 1.6) 0.3) (.7
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Year ended December 29, 2019 compared to the year ended December 30, 2018

Revenue (in millions)

Fiscal Year ended Fiscal Year ended
Industry Sector December 29, December 30, Change
2019 2018
$ % $ % $ %
Test and Measurement 118.6 31.8 45.8 21.2 72.8 159.0
Industrial, Power and Clean Technology 77.4 20.8 28.3 13.1 49.1 173.5
Retail and Payment Systems 46.1 12.4 41.6 19.3 4.5 10.8
Medical and safety 45.5 12.2 31.4 14.5 14.1 44.9
Telecom, Networking and Communications 37.2 10.0 374 17.3 0.2) 0.5)
Avionics, Aerospace and Defense 24.7 6.6 5.1 2.3 19.6 384.3
Semiconductors 23.0 6.2 26.5 12.3 3.5) (13.2)
Total 372.5 100 216.1 100 156.4 72.4

Total revenue increased by $156.4 million or 72.4% in 2019 compared to 2018. With the acquisition of MC Assembly Holdings, Inc. (“MCA”), we recognized
incremental new customer revenue of $143.4 million in 2019 over 2018 in addition to volume increases with existing customers in the test and measurement, industrial,
power and clean technology sectors.

Revenue in the test and measurement sector increased by $72.8 million year over year, due primarily to $66.2 million of incremental revenue represented from new
customers with the MCA acquisition. In addition, revenue in the test and measurement sector increased $4.1 million mainly due to volume increases with two customers
serviced in the U.S., offset by volume decreases with one customer serviced in Mexico. One new customer serviced in China accounted for $2.5 million of additional
revenue.

Revenue in the retail and payment sector increased by $4.5 million year over year, due primarily to volume increases with one customer serviced in Mexico partially
offset by volume decreases with another customer also serviced in Mexico.

Revenue in the telecom, networking and communications sector reduced by $0.2 million year over year, due primarily to reductions in revenue of $7.1 million mainly
due to decreased volumes with four customers (three serviced in China, one serviced in Mexico). The reductions in China were primarily related to two customers, one of
which experienced much higher demand in prior year when the product launched, while the second customer resulted in reduced volume due to declining end customer
demand. This decrease was offset by $6.9 million of incremental new customer revenue represented from the MCA acquisition.

Revenue in the medical and safety sector increased by $14.1 million year over year, due primarily to incremental revenue represented from the MCA acquisition.

Revenue in the industrial, power and clean technology sector increased by $49.1 million year over year, due primarily to $35.3 million of incremental revenue
represented from the MCA acquisition. In addition, revenue in the industrial, power and clean technology sector increased $13.8 million mainly due to increased volumes
from one customer serviced in the U.S. which was a new customer in 2018 and had expanded business with SMTC in 2019.

Revenue in the semiconductors sector reduced by $3.5 million year over year, due primarily to reduced volumes due to reduced end customer demand from one
customer serviced in Mexico.

Revenue in the avionics, acrospace and defense sector increased by $19.6 million year over year, due to incremental new customer revenue represented from the MCA
acquisition.

During 2019, the Company recorded approximately $11.3 million of sales of raw materials inventory to customers, which carried limited margin, compared to $4.1
million in 2018. The Company’s contract terms are structured such that it purchases raw materials based on a customer’s purchase orders. To the extent a customer
subsequently requests that an order be changed, whether cancelled or pushing out the demand, the customer is generally contractually obligated to purchase the original on-
order raw material at cost.

Due to changes in market conditions, the life cycle of products, the nature of specific programs and other factors, revenues from any particular customer typically vary
from year to year. The Company’s ten largest customers represented 52.8% of revenue in 2019, compared to 68.1% in 2018. Revenue from our largest customer during 2019
was $47.7 million, representing 12.8% of revenue. This compared to revenue from our largest customer during 2018 of $23.5 million, representing 10.9% of revenue. No
other customer represented more than 10% of revenue in either year.

In addition to tracking our revenues based on industry sector, the Company also monitors revenue (as well as associated segment contribution margin) based on the
geographic location of our operations, which in 2019 included Mexico, China and the U.S. This is consistent with how we report our segmented information, as set out in

Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements.

During 2019, 63.3% of our revenue was attributable to our operations in Mexico, 31.6% in the U.S and 5.1% in China. During 2018, 70.7% of our revenue was
attributable to our operations in Mexico, 19.3% in the U.S. and 10.0% in China.

35




Non-GAAP Financial Measures

To supplement our consolidated financial statements, which are prepared and presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP, we use the following non-GAAP financial
measures: Adjusted Gross Profit, EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, and Adjusted Net Income (collectively the “Non-GAAP Financial Measures”). We believe that these Non-
GAAP Financial Measures, when used in conjunction with GAAP financial measures, provide useful information about operating results, provide additional understanding
of past financial performance and future prospects, and allow us to provide transparency with respect to the key metrics we use in our financial and operational decision
making. These non-GAAP measures are also frequently used by analysts, investors and other interested parties to evaluate companies in our industry. The presentation of
this financial information is not intended to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for, or superior to, the financial information prepared and presented in accordance
with U.S. GAAP, and they should not be construed as an inference that our future results will be unaffected by any items adjusted for in these non-GAAP measures. In
evaluating these non-GAAP measures, you should be aware that in the future we may incur expenses that are the same as or similar to some of those adjusted in this
presentation. The Non-GAAP Financial Measures that we use are not necessarily comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies due to different methods
of calculation.

Net Loss and Adjusted Net Income Reconciliation:
Adjusted Net Income, a non-GAAP financial measure, is defined as Net Loss before amortization of intangible assets, restructuring charges, stock-based
compensation, fair value adjustment of warrant liability, fair value adjustment to contingent consideration, merger and acquisition related expenses and unrealized foreign
exchange gains and losses on unsettled forward foreign exchange contracts. Management presents Adjusted Net Income, as it is believed the information is useful to

investors in understanding and evaluating our operating results as it aligns the net loss with those adjustments made to EBITDA and gross profit.

Below is the reconciliation of Net loss to Adjusted Net Income:

Year ended Year ended
December 29, December 30,
2019 2018

Net loss $ (5,995) $ (448)
Add:

Amortization of intangible assets 7,188 1,065
Restructuring charges 7,955 172
Stock based compensation 776 407
Fair value adjustment of warrant liability (279) 111
Fair value adjustment of contingent consideration (3,050) —
Merger and acquisitions related expenses 286 1,676
Unrealized foreign exchange gain on unsettled forward foreign exchange contracts — (353)
Adjusted Net Income $ 6,881 § 2,630

Net loss increased to $6.0 million in 2019 from $0.4 million in 2018. This was due primarily to restructuring charges of $8.0 million incurred in 2019 in addition to
amortization of intangible assets of $7.2 million, partially offset by change in fair value of contingent consideration resulting in a gain of $3.1 million. In the prior year,
restructuring charges were limited to $0.2 million and amortization of intangible assets was $1.0 million. When excluding these items, adjusted Net Income increased
$4.3million in 2019 over the same period in the prior year, which is due to increased gross profit, partially offset by increased selling, general and administrative expenses.

Gross Profit

Gross profit increased to $37.0 million in 2019 from $21.7 million in 2018. Gross profit percentage was 9.9% in 2019 and 2018. When excluding the impact of the
unrealized foreign exchange gains on unsettled forward contracts and amortization of intangible assets, the adjusted gross profit percentage increased to 11.9% in 2019 from
10.3% in the prior year. This was due primarily to incremental gross profit of $17.3 million due to the acquisition of MCA in addition to improved product mix and cost
reductions, primarily related to headcount.
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Adjusted Gross Profit Reconciliation

Adjusted Gross Profit, a non-GAAP financial measure, is defined as gross profit exclusive of unrealized foreign exchange gains or losses on unsettled forward foreign
exchange contracts and the amortization of intangible assets. Management presents adjusted gross profit as management considers gross profit exclusive of such unrealized
foreign exchange gains or losses on unsettled forward foreign exchange contracts to be a meaningful measure as it is non-cash and management does not consider the mark-
to-market valuation reflective of operating performance in the current period. Management also excludes the impact of intangible assets amortization as these charges are
non-cash in nature and are not believed to be reflective of operating performance. We also believe adjusted gross profit provides useful information to investors in
understanding and evaluating our operating results in the same manner as management.

Below is the reconciliation from the financial statement presentation of gross profit to the non-GAAP measure of adjusted gross profit (in thousands):

Fiscal Year ended Fiscal Year ended
December 29, December 30,
2019 2018
Gross profit $ 37,021  $ 21,661
Add (deduct):
Amortization of intangible assets 7,188 1,065
Unrealized foreign exchange gain on unsettled forward foreign exchange contracts = (353)
Adjusted gross profit $ 44209 § 22,373
Adjusted gross profit percentage 11.9% 10.3%

The Company did not enter into forward foreign exchange contracts during the year. Historically the Company has used forward foreign exchange contracts to reduce
its exposure to foreign exchange currency rate fluctuations related to forecasted Canadian dollar and Mexican peso expenditures. These contracts are effective as hedges
from an economic perspective, but do not meet the requirements for hedge accounting under ASC Topic 815 “Derivatives and Hedging”. Accordingly, changes in the fair
value of these contracts are recognized in earnings in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss. Included in cost of sales in 2019 and 2018 was a
realized loss of $0.1 million. In 2019, as a result of revaluing the outstanding forward contracts to fair value, an unrealized gain of $NIL million was recorded compared to
an unrealized gain of $0.4 million in 2018, which was included in cost of sales.

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Reconciliation

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA, non-GAAP financial measures, are defined as earnings before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization, with Adjusted
EBITDA also excluding restructuring charges, stock-based compensation, fair value adjustment of warrant liability, fair value adjustment to contingent consideration,
merger and acquisition related expenses and unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses on unsettled forward foreign exchange contracts. Management presents EBITDA
and Adjusted EBITDA, as it is utilized by management to monitor performance against budget as well as compliance with covenants governing our Credit Facilities. We
also believe EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA provide useful information to investors in understanding and evaluating our operating results in the same manner as
management.

Below is the reconciliation of net loss, the closest GAAP measure, to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA (in thousands):

Year ended Year ended
December 29, December 30,
2019 2018
Net loss $ (5,995) $ (448)
Reconciling items:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 6,548 3,791
Amortization of intangible assets 7,188 1,065
Interest 10,562 3,117
Income taxes 788 677
EBITDA $ 19,091 § 8,202
Additional reconciling items:
Restructuring charges 7,955 172
Stock based compensation 776 407
Fair value adjustment of warrant liability (279) 111
Merger and acquisitions related expenses 286 1,676
Fair value adjustment of contingent consideration (3,050) —
Unrealized foreign exchange gain on unsettled forward foreign exchange contracts = (353)
Adjusted EBITDA $ 24779 § 10,215
Adjusted EBITDA percentage 6.7% 4.7%

The improvement in Adjusted EBITDA was due primarily to the MCA Acquisition, which contributed $12.5 million of the increase in Adjusted EBITDA, which
were not included in the results in the same period in the prior year. The additional increase was due to incremental margin, due to improved product mix and cost reductions,
primarily related to head-count reductions.
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Selling, General & Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased to $27.0 million in 2019 from $18.2 million in 2018 was primarily due to the MCA Acquisition which
represented an increase of $9.4 million over the same period in the prior year. However, selling, general and administrative expenses decreased to 7.3% of revenue in 2019
down from 8.4% of revenue in 2018. The selling, general and administrative expensed in 2019 included incremental professional service charges of $0.5 million related to
internal control compliance. The 2018 selling, general and administrative expenses included additional charges of $1.3 million, pertaining to non-recurring expenses related
to the MCA Acquisition.

Change in fair value of warrant liability

For the twelve months ended December 29, 2019 the Company recorded a $0.3 million gain as a result of the valuation of the 511,949 outstanding warrants issued to
TCW. The fair value has been assessed at $3.38 per unit or $1.7 million as at December 29, 2019 which represented a reduction in the stock price from the prior valuation
assessment at December 30, 2018. For the twelve months ended December 30, 2018 the Company recorded a $0.1 million loss as a result of the valuation of the 511,949
outstanding warrants issued to TCW.

Change in fair value of contingent consideration

During the first quarter of 2019, the fair value of the contingent consideration liability that was payable to the former owners of MC was determined to be $Nil
resulting in the recognition of a gain of $3.1 million. The contingent consideration liability was initially recognized at fair value in the fourth quarter of 2018 and related to a
contingent earn-out payment associated with the MCA Acquisition. The fair value estimate under purchase accounting of the $3.1 million was derived from a multiple of
earnings based on MCA’s forecasted twelve-month earnings for the period ended March 31, 2019. Based on results, the contingent consideration liability was considered
resolved and no longer payable as at March 31, 2019.

Restructuring Charges

During 2019, restructuring charges of $5.0 million were incurred related to the closure of the Dongguan facility related to the reduction of 137 full time equivalents
(“FTEs”) in China, including ongoing administrative staff charges to close the facility and certain provisions on property, plant and equipment, accounts receivable and
inventory. In addition, restructuring charges of $3.0 million were incurred related to the reduction of 47 FTEs in U.S., 8 FTEs in Canada and 630 FTEs and contract
employees in Mexico.

Interest Expense
Interest expense increased to $10.6 million in 2019 compared to $3.1 million in 2018. The increase was the result of a full twelve month period of interest incurred on
the debt to finance the MCA Acquisition, in addition to higher average interest rates compared to the same period in 2018, driven by the higher interest on the term debt
utilized to finance the MCA Acquisition. The weighted average interest rates with respect to the debt on our Credit Facilities was 11.2%. The weighted average interest rates
with respect to the debt under our Credit Facilities was 6.5% for 2018.
Income Tax Expense
The net tax expense for 2019 of $0.8 million related to taxes incurred in Mexico due to profits in that jurisdiction in addition to minimum taxes and state taxes in the
U.S. The current income tax expense of $0.9 million was partially offset by $0.1 million in deferred tax recovery recorded related to temporary differences on assets and

liabilities in Mexico, which have resulted in an increase to the corresponding deferred tax asset.
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Year ended December 30, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017

The industry sectors have been reclassified to align with the presentation in “—fiscal year ended December 29, 2019 compared to the fiscal year ended December 30,
2018.”

Revenue (in millions)

Fiscal Year ended Fiscal Year ended
Industry Sector December 30, December 31, Change
2018 2017
$ % $ % $ %
Test and Measurement 45.8 21.2 26.3 18.9 19.5 74.1
Retail and Payment Systems 41.6 19.3 33.7 24.2 7.9 23.4
Telecom, Networking and Communications 37.4 17.3 25.2 18.1 12.2 48.4
Medical and safety 314 14.5 18.8 13.5 12.6 67.0
Industrial, Power and Clean Technology 28.3 13.1 13.7 9.9 14.6 106.6
Semiconductors 26.5 12.3 21.5 154 5.0 233
Avionics, Aerospace and Defense 5.1 2.3 — — 5.1 100
Total 216.1 100 139.2 100 76.9 55.2

Total revenue increased by $76.9 million or 55.2% in 2018 compared to 2017. Volume increases with two long standing customers, serviced in the U.S. in the test and
measurement sector, representing an increase in revenue of $8.7 million. An additional three retail and payment systems customers serviced in Mexico represented an
increase in revenue of $9.0 million. Three telecom, networking and communications customers (one serviced in Mexico; two serviced in Asia) had increased volumes,
combined with revenues from two new customers (one serviced in Asia; one serviced in the U.S.), represented increased revenues of $13.9 million. One long standing
customer serviced in Mexico in the semiconductor sector represented increased volumes resulting in $6.9 million of additional revenue. In the medical sector, one new
customer (one serviced in the U.S.) represented increased revenues of $9.8 million. In the industrial, power and clean technology sector one customer serviced in Mexico
had increased volumes offset with one customer serviced out of Asia that transferred its business to other contract manufacturers, represented an increase of $8.8 million in
revenue.

With the acquisition of MCA, we reported additional revenue of $23.5 million from Acquisition Date through to December 30, 2018. Revenue from the test and
measurement sector represented $10.2 million, or 43.2% of this additional revenue, $4.7 million or 19.8% in the industrial, power and clean technology sector, $3.0 million
or 12.9% in the medical sector, and $0.5 million or 2.3% in the telecom, networking and communications sector. The acquisition of MCA has also introduced us to the new
sector in aerospace and defense that resulted in revenues of $5.1 million, or 21.8% of the additional revenue.

During 2018, the Company recorded approximately $4.1 million of sales of raw materials inventory to customers, which carried limited margin, compared to $2.8
million in 2017.

Due to changes in market conditions, the life cycle of products, the nature of specific programs and other factors, revenues from any particular customer typically
vary from year to year. The Company’s ten largest customers represented 68.1% of revenue in 2018, compared to 72.5% in 2017. Revenue from our largest customer during
2018 was $23.5 million, representing 10.9% of revenue. This compared to revenue from our two largest customers during 2017 of $16.6 million and $16.5 million, both
representing 11.9% of revenue. No other customer represented more than 10% of revenue in either year.

In addition to tracking our revenues based on industry sector, the Company also monitors revenue (as well as associated segment contribution margin) based on the
geographic location of our operations, which in 2019 included Mexico, China and the U.S. This is consistent with how we report our segmented information, as set out in

Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements.

During 2018, 70.7% of our revenue was attributable to our operations in Mexico, 19.3% in the U.S. and 10.0% in China. During 2017, 71.5% of our revenue was
attributable to our operations in Mexico, 15.1% in the U.S. and 13.4% in China.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures

To supplement our consolidated financial statements, which are prepared and presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP, we use the following non-GAAP financial
measures: Adjusted Gross Margin, EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA Margin and Adjusted Net Income (collectively the “Non-GAAP Financial Measures”).
We believe that these Non-GAAP Financial Measures, when used in conjunction with GAAP financial measures, provide useful information about operating results,
enhance the overall understanding of past financial performance and future prospects, and allow for greater transparency with respect to the key metrics we use in our
financial and operational decision making. These non-GAAP measures are also frequently used by analysts, investors and other interested parties to evaluate companies in
our industry. The presentation of this financial information is not intended to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for, or superior to, the financial information
prepared and presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and they should not be construed as an inference that our future results will be unaffected by any items adjusted for
in these non-GAAP measures. In evaluating these non-GAAP measures, you should be aware that in the future we may incur expenses that are the same as or similar to some
of those adjusted in this presentation. The Non-GAAP Financial Measures that we use are not necessarily comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies
due to different methods of calculation.

Gross Profit

Gross profit increased to $21.7 million in 2018 from $10.8 million in 2017. Gross profit percentage increased to 10.0% in 2018 compared to 7.8% in the prior year.
When excluding the impact of the unrealized foreign exchange gains on unsettled forward contracts and amortization of intangible assets the adjusted gross profit percentage
increased to 10.3% in 2018 from 7.1% in the prior year. This increase in gross profit was primarily the result of increased revenues, impacting our Company’s ability to
cover variable and fixed overhead costs in addition to improved product mix resulting in increased margins.

Adjusted Gross Profit

The Company calculates an adjusted gross profit amount as we consider gross margins exclusive of such unrealized foreign exchange gains or losses on unsettled
forward foreign exchange contracts to be a meaningful measure as it is non-cash and management does not consider the mark to market valuation reflective of operating
performance in the current period. Management also excludes the impact of intangible assets amortization as these charges are non-cash in nature and are not believed to be
reflective of operating performance. Below is the reconciliation from the financial statement presentation of gross profit to the non-GAAP measure of adjusted gross profit
(in thousands):

Year ended Year ended
December 30, December 31,
2018 2017
Gross profit $ 21,661 $ 10,851
Add (deduct):
Amortization of intangible assets 1,065 —
Unrealized foreign exchange gain on unsettled forward foreign exchange contracts (353) (918)
Adjusted gross profit $ 22373 § 9,933
Adjusted gross profit percentage 10.3% 7.1%

The Company entered into forward foreign exchange contracts to reduce its exposure to foreign exchange currency rate fluctuations related to forecasted Canadian
dollar and Mexican peso expenditures. These contracts are effective as hedges from an economic perspective, but do not meet the requirements for hedge accounting under
ASC Topic 815 “Derivatives and Hedging”. Accordingly, changes in the fair value of these contracts are recognized in earnings in the consolidated statement of operations
and comprehensive loss. Included in cost of sales in 2018 was a realized loss of $0.1 million compared to a realized loss of $0.1 million in 2017. In 2018, as a result of
revaluing the outstanding forward contracts to fair value, an unrealized gain of $0.4 million was recorded compared to an unrealized gain of $0.9 million in 2017, which was
included in cost of sales.

December 30, December 31,
2018 2017
Average USD:CAD contract rate — 1.29
Average USD:CAD mark-to-market rate — 1.26
Average USD:PESO contract rate 20.43 18.69
Average USD:PESO mark-to-market rate 19.66 20.11
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EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Reconciliation

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA, non-GAAP financial measures, are defined as earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, with Adjusted EBITDA
also excluding restructuring charges, stock based compensation, fair value adjustment on warrant liability, merger and acquisition related expenses and unrealized foreign
exchange gains and losses on unsettled forward foreign exchange contracts. Management presents EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA, as it is utilized by management to
monitor performance against budget as well as compliance with bank covenants. We also believe EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA provide useful information to investors in
understanding and evaluating our operating results in the same manner as management.

Below is the reconciliation of net loss, the closest GAAP measure, to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA (in thousands):

Year ended Year ended
December 30, December 31,
2018 2017
Net loss $ (448) $ (7,845)
Reconciling items:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 3,791 3,588
Amortization of intangible assets 1,065 =
Interest 3,117 903
Income taxes 677 560
EBITDA $ 8202 $ (2,794)
Additional reconciling items:
Restructuring charges 172 1,732
Stock based compensation 407 432
Fair value adjustment of warrant liability 111 —
Merger and acquisitions related expenses 1,676 —
Unrealized foreign exchange gain on unsettled forward foreign exchange contracts (353) (918)
Adjusted EBITDA $ 10215 § (1,548)
Adjusted EBITDA percentage $ 4.7% $ (1.1)%

The improvement in Adjusted EBITDA was due primarily to the increase in revenue in 2018 by $76.9 million, or 55.2%, from 2017. The increase in revenue was
primarily driven by the ability to cover our fixed costs and the additional incremental provisions and impairment charges incurred in the prior year.

Selling, General & Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased to $18.2 million in 2018 from $14.0 million in 2017. However, selling, general and administrative expenses
decreased to 8.4% of revenue in 2018 down from 10.1% of revenue in 2017. The selling general and administrative expenses included $1.7 million of additional professional
services related to the acquisition of MC Assembly. Additional stock based compensation was incurred for $0.1 million related to the valuation of the outstanding warrants
issued to TCW.

Restructuring Charges

During 2018, restructuring charges of $0.2 million were incurred related to the closure of the Suzhou facility, including ongoing administrative staff charges to close
the facility. In accordance with the restructuring plan effected in 2017, restructuring charges of $1.7 million were incurred related to the reduction of 49 full-time equivalents
(“FTEs”) in Mexico, 102 FTEs in China, 22 FTEs in the U.S., and 10 FTEs in Canada. Additional charges were incurred related to the closure of the Suzhou facility,
including ongoing administrative staff charges to close the facility.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased to $3.1 million in 2018 compared to $0.9 million in 2017. The increase was primarily the result of a higher average debt balance in 2018
compared to 2017, specifically with $62.0 million issuance of debt on the TCW Facilities on November 8, 2018 in order to finance the MCA acquisition. The weighted
average interest rates with respect to the debt on our PNC Facility was 5.76% and TCW Facilities was 10.98%. The weighted average interest rates with respect to the debt
on our predecessor PNC Facility was 4.90% for 2017.

Income Tax Expense

The net tax expense for 2018 of $0.8 million related to taxes incurred in Mexico due to profits in that jurisdiction in addition to minimum taxes and state taxes in the
U.S. The current income tax expense of $0.9 million was partially offset by a $0.1 million deferred tax recovery recorded related to temporary differences on assets and
liabilities in Mexico, which have resulted in an increase to the corresponding deferred tax asset.

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("TCJA") was enacted, which includes a broad range of tax reform proposals, with many provisions significantly
differing from current U.S. tax law. Management has considered the impact of these provisions, including a decrease in the federal corporate income tax rate, from 35% to
21% for years beginning after December 31, 2017, substantially reducing the value of the Company's deferred tax assets. The Company has recorded a corresponding
reduction to its deferred tax asset of $8.0 million as at December 31, 2017. The reduction in the Company's deferred tax assets was fully offset by a corresponding reduction
to the valuation allowance.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, we did not have any material off-balance sheet arrangements (as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of Regulation S-K).
With the adoption of ASC 842, effective December 31, 2018 operating leases which were otherwise recorded as rental expenses as incurred for the year ended December
30, 2018 and previously are now also capitalized on the balance sheet as operating right of use assets and operating lease obligations.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As at December 29, 2019, the Company’s liquidity is comprised of $1.4 million in cash on hand and $21.6 million of funds available to borrow under the PNC
Facility which matures on November 8, 2023. The Company funds its operations by regularly utilizing its PNC Facility (refer to Note 5 of the consolidated financial
statements included in Part IV of this Annual Report on Form 10-K). The Company manages it capital requirements through budgeting and forecasting processes while
monitoring for compliance with bank covenants. Funds available under the PNC Facility are managed on a weekly basis based on the cash flow requirements of the various
operating segments. Cash flows generated from operations are immediately applied towards paying down the PNC Facility.

The following table summarizes cash flow changes for the following periods (in millions):

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 29, December 30, December 31,
2019 2018 2017

Cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities $ 51§ 7.7 $ (8.9)

Financing activities (1.4) 75.8 7.0

Investing activities (3.9) (72.0) (1.1)
Decrease in cash (0.2) 3.9 (3.0)
Cash, beginning of year 1.6 5.5 8.5
Cash, end of the year $ 14 8 16 § 5.5

2019

Net cash provided by operating activities for 2019 was $5.1 million. This was mainly driven by net collections of accounts receivable of $3.1 million, reduced
inventory balances compared to the prior year end of $5.4 million, partially offset by increased payments in accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $2.6 million and $2.5
million respectively. Significant non-cash charges included in the net loss from operations when added back contributed to the cash flow from operations, which pertained
to $7.2 million of intangible asset amortization, $6.5 million of depreciation of property, plant and equipment and $1.6 million in amortization of deferred financing fees
partially offset by the add back of the gain on the contingent consideration of $3.1 million. Accounts receivable days reduced to 61 days in 2019 from 64 days in 2018 due to
improved collections. Accounts payable days outstanding for 2019 decreased to 72 days versus 91 days for 2018, due to timing of payments. Inventory turnover was 4.3
times or 85 days in 2019 compared to 4.0 times or 91 days in 2018.

Net cash used from financing activities during 2019 was $1.4 million. During 2019, the Company generated net cash of $14.0 million from issuance of common stock
through the Rights Offering. The Company received net advances from the PNC Facility of $9.7 million compared to $12.8 million for 2018. The Company paid down its
long-term debt in the amount of $23.3 million and $8.0 million, respectively in 2019 and 2018. Principal repayments on finance lease obligations were $1.6 million in 2019
compared to $0.5 million in prior year.

Cash used in investing activities for 2019 of $3.9 million in 2019 compared to $72.0 million in 2018 due to the acquisition of MCA in 2018 of $67.6 million and
capital expenditures of $4.4 million.

2018

Net cash used by operating activities for 2018 was $7.7 million. The use of cash was mainly driven by increase of accounts receivable of $24.0 million, unbilled
contract assets of $8.0 million and inventory of $8.0 million, partially offset from an increase in accounts payable of $23.7 million. Accounts receivable days remained at
64 days in 2018 and 2017. Inventory turnover decreased to four times or 91 days in 2018 from seven times or 65 days in 2017. Accounts payable increased due to extended
payment terms with some vendors, and timing of payments. Accounts payable days outstanding for 2018 increased to 91 days versus 65 days for 2017 due to timing of
payments in addition to negotiated extended terms with a number of suppliers.

As at December 30, 2018, the Company’s liquidity is comprised of $1.6 million in cash on hand and $14.0 million of funds available to borrow under the PNC
Facility. The Company also has additional capacity of $5.0 million dollars available to draw from the Term Loan B Facility.

Net cash provided by financing activities during 2018 was $75.8 million, consisting of TCW Facilities borrowing of $62.0 million partially offset by the repayment of
the PNC Long-Term Debt Facility of $8.0 million. In addition, net cash advanced on the PNC Revolving Credit Facility of $12.8 million and proceeds from issuance of
common stock of $12.6 million which was raised from the rights offering, partially offset by deferred financing cost and debt issuance cost of $3.5 million. Principal
payments on finance lease obligations was $0.5 million in 2018.

Cash used in investing activities for 2018 of $72.0 million was due to MCA Acquisition in 2018 of $67.6 million and capital expenditures of $4.4 million.
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2017

Net cash used by operating activities for 2017 was $8.9 million. The use of cash was mainly driven by a net loss from operations, in part due to cash severance and
other charges of $1.7 million as a result of the 2017 restructuring plan. In addition it is the result of a reduction in gross profit due to reduced revenues, lower margin product
mix and the resulting impact to cover fixed costs compared to the prior year. In addition, accounts receivables in 2017 included a small number of customers with aged
receivables which increased the day sales outstanding, which reduced cash provided from accounts receivable. Accounts receivable days increased to 64 days in 2017 up
from 49 days in 2016. Inventory turnover increased to six times or 65 days in 2017 from seven times or 49 days in 2016. Cash used from accounts receivable and inventory
was partially offset from decreased payments of accounts payable of $2.2 million due in large part to the reduction in revenue resulting in a decrease in inventory purchases
when compared to 2016. In addition, accounts payable increased due to extended payment terms with some vendors, and timing of payments effectively increasing cash year
over year. Accounts payable days outstanding for 2017 increased to 65 days versus 55 days for 2016 due to timing of payments.

As at December 31, 2017, the Company’s liquidity is comprised of $5.5 million in cash on hand and $5.3 million of funds available to borrow under the PNC
Revolving Credit Facility. As at January 1, 2017, the Company’s liquidity is comprised of $8.5 million in cash on hand and $7.4 million of funds available to borrow under
the PNC Revolving Credit Facility.

Net cash provided by financing activities during 2017 was $7.0 million, consisting of cash advanced on the PNC revolver of $9.5 million partially offset by payments
on the PNC Long-Term Debt Facility of $2.0 million. Principal payments on finance lease obligations was $0.4 million in 2017.

Cash used in investing activities for 2017 of $1.1 million was due to capital expenditures of $1.5 million partially offset by the proceeds of $0.3 million on the sale of
property, plant and equipment.

Capital Resources

The Company borrows money under the PNC Facility. The PNC Facility has a term ending on November 8, 2023. Advances made under the PNC Facility bear
interest at the U.S. base rate plus an applicable margin ranging from 0.75% to 1.25%, or LIBOR plus an applicable margin ranging from 2.50% to 3.00%. The base
commercial lending rate should approximate U.S. prime rate.

The Company also borrows money under the Financing Agreement, which governs a term loan A facility (“Term A Loan Facility” and, together with the PNC
Facility, the “Credit Facilities”), and previously governed a term loan B facility (the “Term Loan B Facility”) until it was repaid in full on July 3, 2019 with a portion of the
proceeds from the Offerings. The Term A Loan Facility matures on November 8, 2023 (the “Maturity Date”). The Term Loan A Facility bears interest LIBOR plus an
applicable margin of 8.75% through June 30, 2020, and borrowings under the Financing Agreement will thereafter bear interest at LIBOR plus an applicable margin ranging
from 7.25% to 8.75%. Payments made under the Term Loan A Facility at any time prior to the Maturity Date (other than scheduled amortization payments and mandatory
prepayments) are subject to an applicable premium equal to the amount of such payment multiplied by (i) 3.00% in the event that such payment occurs before November 8§,
2019, (ii) 2.00% in the event that such payment occurs after the November 8, 2019 and on or before November 8, 2020 and (iii) 1.00% in the event that such payment occurs
after November 8, 2020 and on or before November 8, 2021. No such applicable premium is payable for any payment of loans made under the Term Loan A Facility
occurring after November 8, 2021.

On August 8, 2019, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into that certain Amendments No. 2 to the Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and
Security Agreement (the “PNC Amendment No. 2”) and that certain Amendment No. 3. to the Financing Agreement (the “TCW Amendment No. 3”). The PNC Amendment
No. 2, among other things, (i) increased the total amount available for borrowings under the PNC Facility to $65 million, (ii) provided for borrowings of up to $15 million on
assets located in Mexico, (iii) provided that borrowings under the PNC Facility bear interest at the U.S. base rate plus an applicable margin ranging from 0.75% to 1.25%, or
LIBOR plus an applicable margin ranging from 2.50% to 3.00%, (iv) reset the financial covenants, and (v) permitted the pay down of the Term A Loan Facility by up to $10
million. The TCW Amendment No. 3, among other things, (i) provided for a $20 million increase in the total amount available for borrowings under the PNC Facility, (ii)
provided for the pay down of the Term A Loan Facility by up to $10 million, (iii) provided that the interest rate for borrowings under the Financing Agreement was reset to
LIBOR plus an applicable margin of 8.75% through June 30, 2020, and borrowings under the Financing Agreement will thereafter bear interest at LIBOR plus an applicable
margin ranging from 7.25% to 8.75%, (iv) deleted the senior leverage ratio covenant, (v) amended the total leverage ratio covenant, including the definition of total leverage
ratio, to increase the maximum total leverage on a quarterly basis beginning with the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2019, (vi) amended the fixed charge coverage ratio
covenant to decrease the minimum fixed charge coverage ratio on a quarterly basis beginning with the fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2020 through the fiscal quarter
ending December 31, 2021 and (vii) reset the call protection on the Term Loan A Facility.
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On September 27, 2019, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into that certain Amendments No. 3 to the Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and
Security Agreement (the “PNC Amendment No. 3”) and that certain Amendment No. 4. to the Financing Agreement (the “TCW Amendment No. 4”). The PNC Amendment
No. 3, among other things, amended the (i) definition of “Consolidated EBITDA” by permitting an addback for restructuring and transition costs and charges incurred on or
before December 31, 2020 in connection with the Company’s previously announced closure of business operations in Dongguan, China, subject to certain exceptions, not to
exceed (a) with respect to cash restructuring costs, $2.3 million, (b) with respect to write-offs of accounts receivable, $1.6 million, and (c) with respect to write-offs of
Inventory (as defined in the Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Security Agreement), $1.6 million, (ii) definition of “Permitted Intercompany Investments” by
permitting certain investments by a Domestic Loan Party (as defined in the Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Security Agreement) to or in SMTC Electronics
Dongguan Company Limited, a limited liability company organized under the laws of China (“SMTC Dongguan”), solely to facilitate the closure of business operations in
Dongguan, China, so long as, among other things, (a) such Investments (as defined in the PNC Agreement) are made prior to March 31, 2020, (b) the aggregate amount of
all such Investments does not exceed $2.3 million during the term of the Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Security Agreement, (c) the Borrowers (as defined in
the Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Security Agreement) maintain certain minimum liquidity requirements and (iii) negative covenant regarding excess cash.
The TCW Amendment No. 4, among other things, amended the (i) definition of “Consolidated EBITDA” by permitting an addback for restructuring and transition costs and
charges incurred on or before December 31, 2020 in connection with the closure of business operations in Dongguan, China, subject to certain exceptions, not to exceed (a)
with respect to cash restructuring costs, $2.3 million, (b) with respect to write-offs of accounts receivable, $1.6 million, and (c) with respect to write-offs of Inventory (as
defined in the Financing Agreement), $1.6 million, (ii) definition of “Permitted Intercompany Investments” by permitting certain investments by a Domestic Loan Party (as
defined in the Financing Agreement) to or in SMTC Dongguan solely to facilitate the closure of business operations in Dongguan, China, so long as, among other things, (a)
such Investments (as defined in the Financing Agreement) are made prior to March 31, 2020, (b) the aggregate amount of all such Investments does not exceed $2.3 million
during the term of the Financing Agreement and (c) the Borrowers (as defined in the Financing Agreement) maintain certain minimum liquidity requirements and (iii)
negative covenant regarding excess cash.

The Credit Facilities are joint and several obligations of the Company and its subsidiaries that are borrowers under the facilities and are jointly and severally
guaranteed by other subsidiaries of the Company. Repayment under the PNC Facility and Term A Loan Facility are collateralized by the assets of the Company and each of
its subsidiaries. The Credit Facilities contain certain financial and non-financial covenants, including restrictions on dividend payments. The financial covenants under each
Credit Facility require the Company to maintain a fixed charge coverage ratio and a total leverage ratio quarterly during the term of the Credit Facilities. The Company is in
compliance with the financial covenants included in the Credit Facilities as at December 29, 2019. Management projects compliance with the financial covenants included in
the Credit Facilities.

We believe that our sources of liquidity and capital, including cash we expect to generate from operations, available cash and amounts available under our Credit
Facilities, will be adequate to meet our debt service requirements, capital expenditures and working capital needs at our current level of operations for the next twelve
months. However, we make no assurance that these sources of liquidity and capital, particularly with respect to amounts available from lenders, will be sufficient to meet our
future needs. We have agreed to a borrowing base formula under which the amount we are permitted to borrow under the PNC Facility is based on our accounts receivable
and inventory. Further, there we make no assurance that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations or that future borrowings will be available to enable
us to service our indebtedness. Our future operating performance and ability to service indebtedness will be subject to future economic conditions and to financial, business
and other factors, certain of which are beyond our control.

Rights Offering and Registered Direct Offering

In June 2019, the Company completed its (i) offering of subscription rights (the “Rights Offering”) to the Company’s stockholders and holders of the Company’s
outstanding warrants as of the close of business on May 24, 2019, which was fully subscribed for the maximum offering amount of $9.1 million and (ii) registered direct
offering (the “Registered Direct Offering” and, together with the Rights Offering, the “Offerings”) of 1,732,483 shares of the Company’s common stock directly to certain
investors, resulting in net proceeds to the Company of approximately $14.0 million, after deducting the offering expenses and fees payable the Company. The proceeds of
the Offerings were used, in part, to repay the Term Loan B Facility in full as at July 3, 2019.
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Accounting changes and recent accounting pronouncements
Recently adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2016, the FASB published ASU 2016-02: Leases (Topic 842). The amendment requires that all lessees should recognize the assets and liabilities that
arise from leases. Elections may be available for those leases with terms of 12 months or less. The amendment still retains the distinction between finance leases and
operating leases. In July 2018, the FASB published ASU 2018-10 (Topic 842). The update provides codification improvements to the application of the standard. In July
2018, the FASB published ASU 2018-11 (Topic 842). The update provides clarification on comparative reporting at time of adoption, specifically this amendment allows an
entity initially applying the new leases standard at the adoption date and recognizes a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings. Accordingly,
comparative periods will continue to be presented in accordance with current GAAP. The amendments in this ASU are effective for public business entities for financial
statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company adopted Accounting Standards Update
(“ASU”) No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), as of December 31, 2018, using the modified retrospective approach, which allows comparative periods not to be restated. In
addition, the Company elected the package of practical expedients permitted under the transition guidance within the new standard, which, among other things, allowed the
Company to carry forward the historical lease classification, not reassess whether any expired or existing contracts are or contain leases and not to reassess initial direct costs
for any existing leases. The Company also elected the hindsight expedient to determine the lease terms for existing leases. The election of the hindsight expedient did not
have a significant impact on the calculation of the expected lease term.

In June 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) published ASU 2018-07: Compensation — Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to
Non-employee Share-Based Payment Accounting. The amendment simplifies the application of share-based payment accounting for non-employees. The amendments in
this ASU are effective for public business entities for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within those fiscal
years. The impact of the adoption of the standard did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In May 2016, the FASB published ASU 2016-13 Financial Instruments — Credit losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. The
main objective of Topic 326 is to provide financial statement users with more decision-useful information about the expected credit losses on financial instruments and other
commitments to extend credit held by a reporting entity at each reporting date. To achieve this objective, the amendments in this update replace the incurred loss impairment
methodology in current U.S. GAAP with a methodology that reflects expected credit losses and requires consideration of a broader range of reasonable and supportable
information to inform credit loss estimates. In April 2019, the FASB published ASU 2019-04 Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial Instruments — Credit
Losses, which made certain amendments and corrections to the original codification. In May 2019, the FASB published ASU 2019-05 Financial Instruments — Credit losses
(Topic 326) which made transitional relief available, specifically allowing the option to elect a fair value option for financial instruments measured at amortized cost. In
November 2019, the FASB published ASU 2019-11 Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial Instruments — Credit losses, which made certain amendments and
corrections to the original codification. The amendment is effective for years beginning after December 15, 2019 including interim periods with those years. The Company
is currently evaluating the impact of this accounting standard.

In December 2019, the FASB published ASU 2019-12: Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for income taxes. The purpose of this codification is
the simply the accounting for income taxes, which addresses a number of topics including but not limited to the removal of certain exceptions currently included in the
standard related to intraperiod allocation when there are losses, in addition to calculation of income taxes when current year to date losses exceed anticipated loss for the
year. The amendment also simplifies accounting for certain franchise taxes and disclosure of the effect of enacted change in tax laws or rates. Topic 740 is effective for
public entities for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2020. The impact of the adoption of the standard has not yet been
determined and is being evaluated.

In January 2017, the FASB published ASU 2017-04: Intangibles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Topic 350 seeks to simplify goodwill impairment testing
requirements for public entities. Under the amendments in this update, an entity should perform its annual, or interim, goodwill impairment test by comparing the fair value
of a reporting unit with its carrying amount. An entity should recognize an impairment charge for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair
value; however, the loss recognized should not exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. Additionally, an entity should consider income tax effects
from any tax deductible goodwill on the carrying amount of the reporting unit when measuring the goodwill impairment loss, if applicable. The FASB also eliminated the
requirements for any reporting unit with a zero or negative carrying amount to perform a qualitative assessment and, if it fails that qualitative test, to perform Step 2 of the
goodwill impairment test. Therefore, the same impairment assessment applies to all reporting units. An entity is required to disclose the amount of goodwill allocated to each
reporting unit with a zero or negative carrying amount of net assets. The amendments in this ASU are effective for all entities for fiscal years, and interim periods within
those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this accounting standard. however it is expected that this may
reduce the complexity of evaluating goodwill for impairment.

In August 2018, the FASB published ASU 2018-13: Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework — Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair
Value Measurement. Topic 820 includes the removal, modification and additional of disclosure requirements. Topic 820 is effective for all entities for fiscal years, and
interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019. The impact of the adoption of the standard is not expected to have a material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements describe the significant accounting policies and methods used in the preparation of our consolidated financial
statements. The following critical accounting policies are affected significantly by judgments, assumptions and estimates used in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial
statements.

Impairment of Property, plant and equipment

We review property, plant and equipment for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable in accordance with subtopic 10 of ASC 360, “Property, Plant and Equipment”. Under ASC 360-10 assets must be classified as either held-for-use or held-for-
sale. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of an asset that is held and used exceeds the projected undiscounted future net cash flows expected from its
use and disposal, and is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value, which is measured by discounting cash flows when quoted
market prices are not available. For assets held-for-sale, an impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount exceeds fair value less costs to dispose.

Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance

In assessing the realization of deferred tax assets, we consider whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income. We consider the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities,
projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. Guidance under ASC 740 states that forming a conclusion that a valuation allowance
is not needed is difficult when there is negative evidence, such as cumulative losses in recent years in the jurisdictions to which the deferred tax assets relate. Based upon
consideration of these factors, management believes the recorded valuation allowance related to all of its deferred tax assets arising in Canada, United States and Asia is
appropriate. There is no valuation allowance related to deferred tax assets in Mexico.

Estimate of percentage completion on satisfying performance obligations

The Company records an unbilled contract asset for revenue related to its WIP when the manufacturing process has commenced and there is a non-cancellable
customer purchase order. The Company uses direct manufacturing inputs, to estimate the percentage of completion in satisfying its performance obligation associated with
WIP inventory. If assumptions change related to the inputs or outputs utilized to estimate the performance obligation associated with WIP inventory, this could have a
material impact on the revenue and corresponding margin recognized.

Inventory valuation

Raw material inventories are valued, on a first-in, first-out basis, at the lower of cost and replacement cost. The Company writes down estimated obsolete or excess
inventory for the difference between the cost of inventory and estimated net realizable value based upon customer forecasts, shrinkage, the aging and future demand for the
inventory, past experience with specific customers, and the ability to sell inventory back to customers or return to suppliers. If these assumptions change, additional write-
downs may be required. Parts and other inventory items relate to equipment servicing parts that are capitalized to inventory and expensed as utilized to service the
equipment.
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Business Combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combination. The consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value at
the date of acquisition. Acquisition-related transaction costs are recognized in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss as incurred. At the acquisition date,
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are initially recognized at their fair value. Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquire (if any) over the new of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. When the consideration transferred by the Company in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition date fair values of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent consideration that
qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments
that arise from additional information obtained during the measurement period (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that
existed at the acquisition date.

Other measurement period adjustments, contingent considerations that is classified as a financial liability is re-measured at subsequent reporting period, with the
corresponding gain or loss recognized in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price over the fair value of net identifiable assets acquired in a purchase business combination. Goodwill is not subject to
amortization and is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. The Company assigns its
goodwill to the reporting units (or groups of reporting units that have similar economic characteristics) that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the business
combination and at least on an annual basis at the end of the fourth quarter, performs a qualitative assessment of its reporting units goodwill and certain select quantitative
calculations against its current long-range plan to determine whether it is more likely than not (that is, a likelihood of more than 50 percent) that the fair value of a reporting
unit is less than its carrying amount. The Company first assesses certain qualitative factors to determine whether the existence of events or circumstances leads to
determination that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If, after assessing the totality of events or circumstances,
the Company determines it is not more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carry amount, then performing the two-step impairment test is
unnecessary. When necessary, impairment of goodwill is tested at the reporting unit level (or group of reporting units) by comparing the reporting unit’s (or group of
reporting units) carrying amount, including goodwill, to the fair value of the reporting unit (or group of reporting units). The fair value of the reporting unit (or group of
reporting units) is estimated using a discounted cash flow approach. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit (or group of reporting units) exceeds its fair value, then a
second step is performed to measure the amount of impairment loss, if any, by comparing the fair value of each identifiable asset and liability in the reporting unit (or group
of reporting units) to the total fair value of the reporting unit (or group of reporting units). Any impairment loss is expensed in the consolidated statement of operations and is
not reversed if the fair value subsequently increases.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognized at fair value using generally accepted valuation methods appropriate for the type of intangible
asset and reported separately from goodwill. Purchased intangible assets other than goodwill are amortized over their useful lives unless these lives are determined to be
indefinite. Purchased intangible assets are carried at cost, less accumulated amortization. Amortization is computed over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets,
generally one to ten years. The Company periodically re-assesses the useful lives of its intangible assets when events or circumstances indicate that useful lives have
significantly changed from the previous estimate. Definite-lived intangible assets consist primarily of customer relationships, order backlog, trade name and non-compete
agreements. They are generally valued as the present value of estimated cash flows expected to be generated from the asset using a risk-adjusted discount rate. When
determining the fair value of our intangible assets, estimates and assumptions about future expected revenue and remaining useful lives are used. Intangible assets are tested
for impairment on an annual basis and during interim periods if indicators of impairment exist, and written down when impaired.

Amortization is generally calculated on a straight-line basis over the expected useful lives as follows:

Customer relationships (years) 10
Order backlog (years) 1.5
Trade name (years)

Non-compete agreements (years)

N —
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
Interest Rate Risk

The Company borrows money under the PNC Facility. The PNC Facility has a term ending on November 8, 2023. Advances made under the PNC Facility bear
interest at the U.S. base rate plus an applicable margin ranging from 0.75% to 1.25%, or LIBOR plus an applicable margin ranging from 2.50% to 3.00%. The base
commercial lending rate approximates U.S. prime rate.

The Company also borrows money under the Financing Agreement. The Term Loan A Facility matures on November 8, 2023. The Term Loan A Facility bears
interest LIBOR plus an applicable margin of 8.75% through June 30, 2020, and borrowings under the Financing Agreement will thereafter bear interest at LIBOR plus an
applicable margin ranging from 7.25% to 8.75%. In July 2019, the Company paid the Term Loan B Facility in full. In August 2019, the Company paid $10.0 million off the
Term Loan A Facility..

The impact of a 10% change in interest rates would have a material impact on our reported earnings.

10% increase in interest rate (millions) $ 0.6

10% decrease in interest rate (millions) $ (0.6)

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Given our global business operations, we are exposed to exchange rate fluctuations on expenditures denominated in foreign currencies. However, most of our sales
and component purchases are denominated in U.S. dollars, which limits our foreign currency risk. Our foreign exchange risk relates primarily to our Canadian and Mexican
payroll, Euro based component purchases and other operating expenses denominated in local currencies in our geographic locations. To mitigate this risk, the Company
enters into forward foreign exchange contracts to reduce its exposure to foreign exchange currency rate fluctuations related to forecasted Canadian dollar and Mexican peso.
The strengthening of the Canadian dollar and Mexican peso would result in an increase in costs to the organization and may lead to a reduction in reported earnings.

The impact of a 10% change in exchange rates would be estimated to have the following impact on cost of sales for the Company:

10% increase in both the CAD and PESO foreign exchange rates (millions) $ 2.3
10% decrease in both the CAD and PESO foreign exchange rates (millions) $ (2.9)
Credit Risk

In the normal course of operations, there is a risk that a counterparty may default on its contractual obligations to us which would result in a financial loss that could
impact our reported earnings. In order to mitigate this risk, we complete credit approval procedures for new and existing customers and obtain credit insurance where it is
financially viable to do so given anticipated revenue volumes, in addition to monitoring our customers’ financial performance. We believe our procedures in place to
mitigate customer credit risk and the respective allowance for doubtful accounts are adequate. During the year ended December 29, 2019, the Company recorded an
additional provision for bad debt expense of $2.2 million predominantly related to one customer because of the closure of the Dongguan manufacturing facility, which has
been included within the restructuring charges in 2019. The Company takes measures to reduce credit risk, these charges can have a material impact on our financial
performance.

There is limited risk of financial loss of defaults on our outstanding forward currency contracts as the counterparty to the transactions had a Standard and Poor’s rating
of A- or above as at December 29, 2019.
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Liquidity Risk

There is a risk that we may not have sufficient cash available to satisfy our financial obligations as they come due. The financial liabilities we have recorded in the
form of accounts payable, accrued liabilities and other current liabilities are primarily due within 90 days with the exception of the current portion of finance lease
obligations which could exceed 90 days and our PNC Facility which utilizes a lock-box to pay down the obligation effectively daily. As at December 29, 2019, the
Company’s liquidity was comprised of $1.4 million in cash on hand and $21.6 million of funds available to borrow under the PNC Facility. We believe that cash flow from
operations, together with cash on hand and our PNC Facility, which has a maximum credit limit of $65.0 million is sufficient to fund our financial obligations. However,
availability under the PNC Facility is subject to certain conditions, including borrowing base conditions based on eligible inventory and accounts receivable, as determined
by the lender, and is currently limited to $21.6 million.

On July 3, 2019, the Company used the net proceeds from the Rights Offering to repay the $12.0 million of borrowings outstanding under its Term Loan B Facility.
On August 8, 2019, the Company paid down $10.0 million of borrowings outstanding under its Term Loan A Facility, funded through the use of its PNC Facility.

Fair Value Measurement

The carrying values of the Company’s cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities due within one-year approximate fair values due to the
short-term maturity of these instruments. The Company’s financial instruments are comprised of the following:

As at December 29, 2019 As at December 30, 2018
Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated
Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Level 1
Cash $ 1,368  $ 1,368  § 1,601 § 1,601
Level 2
Revolving credit facility 34,701 34,701 25,020 25,020
Current and long term debt 35,000 38,750 57,407 62,000
Warrant liability 1,730 1,730 2,009 2,009
Level 3
Contingent consideration — — 3,050 3,050

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
The information called for by this item is indexed on page F-1 of this Report and is contained on pages F-2 through F-34.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A.Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company’s management, with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, as of the end of the period covered by this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on this evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of December 29, 2019 due to a material weakness in internal control over financial reporting, described below.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in rules 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act.
Under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 management is required to certify that we have designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such
internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America. In addition, for fiscal
2019, as our market capitalization exceeded $75 million as of the last business day of our most recently completed second fiscal quarter, we were, for the first time, required
to have our external auditor attest to and report on management's assessment of our internal accounting controls as of December 29, 2019 pursuant to Section 404(b) of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the Company’s Board of Directors, management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with United States generally accepted
accounting principles. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S., and that receipts and expenditures of the
Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Furthermore, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness for future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management conducted an assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on the framework established by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations (“COSO”) of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013). Based on this assessment, management has
concluded that, as at December 29, 2019, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting were not effective.

Specifically, we identified a material weakness in internal control related to ineffective information technology general controls (ITGCs) in the areas of user access
and program change-management over the information technology (IT) systems that support the Company’s financial reporting processes. Our business process controls
(automated and manual) that are dependent on the affected ITGCs were also deemed ineffective because they could have been adversely impacted. A material weakness is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual
or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The material weakness did not result in any identified misstatements to the financial
statements, and there were no changes to previously released financial results. Based on this material weakness, the Company’s management concluded that at December 29,
2019, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was not effective.

We believe that these control deficiencies were the result of: lack of proper training and understanding with respect to the control owners; insufficient documentation
clearly outlining and defining the established user roles within the key systems; insufficient documentation and tracking or logging of changes completed throughout the
assessment period; insufficient training of IT personnel on the importance of ITGCs with respect to the control environment; and risk-assessment processes inadequate to
identify and assess changes in IT environments that could impact internal control over financial reporting.

Following identification of the material weakness and prior to filing this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we completed substantive procedures for the fiscal year ended
December 29, 2019. Based on these procedures, management believes that our consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K have been prepared in
accordance with U.S. GAAP. Our CEO and CFO have certified that, based on their knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
Form 10-K, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of, and for, the periods presented in this
Form 10-K.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, is responsible for auditing (i) the financial statements to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether they are free of material misstatement, and (ii) the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 29, 2019.
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP did not identify any material misstatements with its audit of the Company’s financial statements and issued an unqualified opinion on the
financial statements in their report dated March 13, 2020. Due to the material weakness in internal controls, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP issued an adverse opinion on the
internal controls thereon, as stated in their report dated March 13, 2020, which appears in Item 8 of Part II of this Form 10-K.

Remediation

Management has been implementing and continues to implement measures designed to ensure that control deficiencies contributing to the material weakness are
remediated, such that these controls are designed, implemented, and operating effectively. The remediation actions include: (i) developing a training program addressing
ITGCs and policies, including educating control owners concerning the principles and requirements of each control, with a focus on those related to user access and change-
management over [T systems impacting financial reporting; (ii) developing and enhancing documentation on user roles and access rights within the key systems; (iii)
developing enhanced risk assessment procedures and controls related to changes in IT systems; (iv) implementing a management review and testing plan to monitor ITGCs
with a specific focus on systems supporting our financial reporting processes; and (v) expanding the change management policy, clearly defining what constitutes a system
change that requires proper testing, approval and documentation; and (vi) enhanced quarterly reporting on the remediation measures to the Audit Committee of the Board of
Directors.

We believe that these actions will remediate the material weakness. The material weakness will not be considered remediated, however, until the applicable controls
operate for a sufficient period of time and management has concluded, through testing, that these controls are operating effectively. We expect that the remediation of this
material weakness will be completed by mid-2020.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Except for the material weakness identified during the fiscal quarter ended December 29, 2019, as of December 29, 2019, there were no changes in the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fiscal quarter ended December 29, 2019 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B.Other Information

None.

50




PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

Our executive officers and directors and their ages as of March 13, 2020, are as follows:

Name Age Office/Title

Clarke H. Bailey 65 Chair of the Board of Directors

David Sandberg 47 Director

Frederick Wasserman 65 Director

J. Randall Waterfield 46 Director

Edward Smith 57 President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director
Richard Fitzgerald 52 Chief Operating Officer

Steve Waszak 62 Chief Financial Officer

Clarke H. Bailey joined our Board in June 2011. Mr. Bailey served as executive chairman (“Executive Chairman”) and interim Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) of
our Company from May 2013 to April 2014. Mr. Bailey is presently the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) of EDCI Holdings, Inc., a holding company, a
position held since 2009. In addition to his position at EDCI, he serves as a director of Iron Mountain Incorporated where he has served since 1998 and is currently
Chairman of its risk and safety committee. Previously, Mr. Bailey served as the Chairman and CEO of Arcus, Inc. until 1998 and as managing director and head of the
Principal Investment Group at Oppenheimer & Co. until 1990. Mr. Bailey has also previously served as a director on four (4) other public company boards, five (5) private
company boards, and three (3) non-profit boards of trustees. Our Board believes that his significant experience in manufacturing, finance, and M&A, and serving as a CEO
and on both public and private boards, make him well-qualified to serve as a director.

David Sandberg joined our Board in April 2009. Mr. Sandberg is the managing member of Red Oak Partners, LLC, which he founded in March 2003. Previously,
Mr. Sandberg co-managed JH Whitney & Co’s Green River Fund, where he was employed from 1998 to 2002. Mr. Sandberg serves as the chairman of the board of
directors of Asure Software, Inc. and Cord Blood America, Inc., both of which are public companies. He also serves as a director of WTI Holdings, LLC, and WO Partners,
LLC, both are private companies. Mr. Sandberg has previously served as a director of the public companies EDCI, Inc., RF Industries, Ltd., Issuer Direct Corp., and Planar
Systems, Inc. Mr. Sandberg has experience serving as a member of and as chairman of each of the audit, compensation, nominating and governance, and strategic
committees for public companies. He received a B.A. in Economics and a B.S. in Industrial Management from Carnegie Mellon University in 1994. Red Oak Partners, LLC
is the largest Stockholder of our Company. Our Board believes that Mr. Sandberg’s experience serving as director on other public companies, as well has his experience in
finance and public company capital market transactions, make him well-qualified to serve as a director.

Frederick Wasserman joined our Board in August 2013. Mr. Wasserman is a seasoned executive who has over forty (40) years of business experience helping to
create stockholder value with a number of companies. Mr. Wasserman has been the President, Chief Operating Officer (“COO”), and CFO for a number of companies,
including Mitchell & Ness Nostalgia Company where he was CFO and COO. He also served as President and CFO of Goebel of North America. Mr. Wasserman is
currently, and has been since 2008, the President of FGW Partners LLC. Mr. Wasserman served as the Chief Compliance Officer of Wynnefield Capital, Inc., a Stockholder
of our Company from 2008 to January 1, 2020. He continues to provide consulting services to Wynnefield Capital, Inc. He served on the board of directors for National
Holdings Corporation from October 2013 to September 2016. Mr. Wasserman currently serves as a member of the board of directors of Marker Therapeutic, Inc. (formerly
known as Tapimmune Inc.), a position held since January 2016. Mr. Wasserman served as a director of MAM Software Group, Inc. and MAM Software Group, Inc. until
October 2019. Mr. Wasserman continues to serve as a director of DLH Holdings Corp., which is a publicly-traded company. Our Board believes that Mr. Wasserman’s
experience serving as a director on publicly-traded companies and his significant management experience make him well-qualified to serve as a director.

J. Randall Waterfield joined our Board in April 2012. Mr. Waterfield is the chairman of Waterfield Group, a diversified financial services holding company that
traces its origins back to 1928. After selling the largest private mortgage company in the U.S. and largest Indiana-based bank in 2006 and 2007, respectively, Waterfield
Group has diversified into technology, real estate, asset management, and merchant banking. Mr. Waterfield holds the Chartered Financial Analyst designation, and is the
2017-18 chairman of the board of directors of YPO, a member of Mensa, and a graduate of Harvard University. Also, Mr. Waterfield currently serves on the board of
directors of Waterfield Group and its affiliates, Environmental Risk Transfer and Asure Software Inc. Previously, Mr. Waterfield was an equity research analyst at Goldman
Sachs & Co. from 1996 through 1999, where he was primarily responsible for small capitalization growth portfolios. Our Board believes that Mr. Waterfield’s experience in
finance and M&A make him well-qualified to serve as a director.
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Edward Smith joined our Company and Board in February 2017. He currently serves as our Company’s President and CEO, a position he has held since May 2017.
From February 2017 to May 2017, Mr. Smith served as interim President and CEO of our Company. Mr. Smith has extensive experience in the EMS industry and the
electronic components distribution industry. He served as a member of the board of advisors of Zivelo, Inc., a position he held from 2015 to 2019. Most recently, Mr. Smith
served as Senior Vice President of Global Embedded Solutions at Avnet, Inc. during 2016 and as President of Avnet Electronics Marketing Americas from February 2009 to
March 2016. Mr. Smith worked in many positions during his tenure at Avnet, Inc., which began in 1994. From 2002 to 2004, Mr. Smith served as President and CEO of
SMTEK International, Inc., a tier II manufacturer in the EMS industry. From 2009 to 2017, Mr. Smith served as a Board member of the Electronic Components Industry
Association. Mr. Smith is also the founder and CEO of We Will Never Forget Foundation, Inc., a nonprofit organization that supports first responders through gifts to other
charitable organizations. Our Board believes that Mr. Smith’s extensive experience in the EMS industry and as an executive officer of various other companies, make him
well-qualified to serve as a director.

Rich Fitzgerald joined our Company in June 2017. He currently serves as our Company’s COO. Mr. Fitzgerald honorably served twelve (12) years in the U.S. Marine
Corps where he reached the rank of captain. Prior to joining our Company, Mr. Fitzgerald served as Global Vice President of Avnet Integrated Solutions from January 2017
to May 2017 and as Vice President of Business Operations of Avnet Electronics Embedded from July 2014 to January 2017. Prior to joining Avnet, he served as COO of
Qual-Pro Corporation from January 2010 to July 2014 and as CEO of Team Precision Public Company Limited from July 2008 to December 2009, as well as Global Vice
President of Operations for CTS Corporation, from 2002 through 2008. Before 2002, Mr. Fitzgerald held management roles in companies such as California Amplifier and
Intel Corporation. In 2012, Mr. Fitzgerald filed for protection under Chapter 13 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. Mr. Fitzgerald fully-paid all of his creditors and the
bankruptcy was dismissed in April 2018.

Steve Waszak joined our Company in March 2018 He currently serves as CFO and Senior Vice President of Mergers and Acquisitions. With more than twenty-five
(25) years of experience in corporate finance and strategic development roles focusing on transformative change, Mr. Waszak has led teams through multiple merger and
acquisitions transactions exceeding $1 billion in value. Prior to joining our Company, he was CFO and Manager at Connected-Holdings, LLC, a vertically -integrated,
Internet of Things “IoT” intelligent services provider. From 2009 to 2014, Mr. Waszak served as CEO and President of BTI Systems, a developer of optical networks and
innovative data-center interconnect solutions for smart-cloud providers. Mr. Waszak’s C-Suite experience also includes serving as COO/CFO at Zetera Corporation and at
SONOMA Systems, which was acquired by Nortel Networks. Following the acquisition of Internet Photonics (a Bell Labs spin-out), where he held the position of
CFO/COO, Mr. Waszak served as Vice President of Global Sales Operation for Ciena Corporation (NYSE: CIEN). He has also served on the board of directors of private
entities and publicly -traded companies, including SMTEK International (NASDAQ: SMTK).

Directors are elected on an annual basis. The term of each director’s service expires at our next annual meeting of stockholders and at such time as his successor is
duly elected and qualified. Officers serve at the discretion of the Board of Directors (the “Board”).

There are no family relationships between any of our directors or executive officers.
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INFORMATION REGARDING THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND ITS COMMITTEES
Board of Directors

The number of authorized Directors on our Board is currently fixed at five (5). Our Directors are elected on an annual basis. Our Board is currently composed of the
following Directors: Clarke H. Bailey, David Sandberg, Frederick Wasserman, J. Randall Waterfield, and Edward Smith, whose terms will expire upon the election and
qualification of Directors at our 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

During fiscal year 2019, the Board held thirteen (13) meetings, including regularly scheduled and special meetings. During fiscal year 2019, each director attended
more than seventy-five percent (75%) of the aggregate of the: (i) total number of meetings of the Board and (ii) committees on which he served. The Company does not have
a formal written policy specifying whether directors must attend stockholder meetings, however to the extent reasonably practicable, Board members are encouraged to
attend stockholder meetings in person or telephonically. The entire Board attended our 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Board Committees

The Board has three (3) standing committees: an Audit Committee, a Compensation and Management Development Committee and a Nominating and Governance
Committee, each of which is described below. Each committee operates under a written charter that the Board adopted. All of the charters are publicly available on our
website at www.smtc.com under the “Governance” link under the “Investors” tab. You may also obtain a copy of our committee charters upon written request to our Investor
Relations Department at our principal executive offices.

It is the role of the Nominating and Governance Committee to recommend to the Board candidates to serve on the committees. The Board elects committee members
and they serve until their successors are elected and qualified or until their earlier death, retirement, resignation or removal. The following were the standing committees of
the Board for fiscal year 2019 and the number of meetings each committee held during that period:

Number of
Committees Meetings Members
Audit Committee 4 Frederick Wasserman (Chair), David Sandberg, J. Randall Waterfield
Compensation and Management Development Committee 4 Clarke H. Bailey (Chair), Frederick Wasserman, David Sandberg
Nominating and Governance Committee 1 David Sandberg (Chair), J. Randall Waterfield, Clarke H. Bailey

Director Independence

The Board has determined that each of Clarke H. Bailey, David Sandberg, J. Randall Waterfield, and Frederick Wasserman is an independent director (each, an
“Independent Director”) as defined in the listing rules of the Nasdaq Stock Market (the “Nasdaq Rules”). Mr. Smith was not an “independent director” as defined in Nasdaq
Rules as a result of his service as our President and Chief Executive Officer.

All members of the Nominating and Governance Committee are Independent Directors as defined in and as required by the NASDAQ Rules.

All Audit Committee members are Independent Directors as defined in the NASDAQ Rules and Rule 10A-3(b)(1) under the Exchange Act, and as required by the
NASDAQ Rules.

All Compensation and Management Development Committee members are Independent Directors as defined in and as required by the NASDAQ Rules.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is responsible for assisting the Board in fulfilling its responsibility to Stockholders, potential Stockholders, and the investment community in
monitoring the Company’s accounting and reporting practices, systems of internal accounting and financial controls, the Company’s compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements related to financial reporting, the qualifications and independence of the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, the performance of the
Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, and the quality and integrity of the Company’s financial reports. The Audit Committee has the sole authority to
retain and terminate the independent registered public accounting firm and is directly responsible for the compensation and oversight of the work of the independent
registered public accounting firm. The independent registered public accounting firm reports directly to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee reviews and discusses
with management and the independent registered public accounting firm the annual audited and unaudited quarterly financial statements, the disclosures in the Company’s
annual and quarterly reports filed with the SEC, critical accounting policies and practices used by the Company, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, and
the Company’s major financial risk exposures.

The Board has determined that Mr. Wasserman, who is currently the chairman of the Audit Committee, Mr. Sandberg, and Mr. Waterfield are each an “audit
committee financial expert” as defined by the applicable rules of the SEC.

Compensation and Management Development Committee

The Compensation and Management Development Committee is responsible for discharging the Board’s duties relating to oversight of executive compensation. This
committee makes all decisions regarding the compensation of the executive officers with input and recommendations from the Chief Executive Officer (except with respect
to compensation decisions for the Chief Executive Officer himself). The Compensation and Management Development Committee is responsible for administering the
Company’s executive compensation program, and reviews both short-term and long-term corporate goals and objectives with respect to the compensation of CEO and the
other executive officers. This committee also reviews and discusses, with management, the impact of the Company’s compensation policies and practices on risk-taking
within the Company. The Compensation and Management Development Committee evaluates, at least once a year, the performance of the CEO and other executive officers
in light of these goals and objectives and, based on these evaluations, approves the compensation of the CEO and the other executive officers. The committee also reviews
and recommends to the Board incentive-compensation plans that are subject to the Board’s approval.

During 2019, the Compensation and Management Development Committee utilized the services of a compensation consultant. As part of the 2019 compensation
process, the Compensation and Management Development Committee retained Pay Governance LLC (“Pay Governance”) as its independent compensation consultant. Pay
Governance provided advisory services only with respect to executive and equity compensation and a competitive assessment of compensation for executives, in each case as
directed by the Compensation and Management Development Committee. Pay Governance does no other business with the Company. Prior to engaging Pay Governance, the
Compensation and Management Development Committee considered the independence of Pay Governance in accordance with the terms of the charter of the Compensation
and Management Development Committee and applicable regulations. The Compensation and Management Development Committee did not identify any conflicts of
interest with respect to Pay Governance.

Nominating and Governance Committee

The Nominating and Governance Committee is composed solely of Independent Directors, and participates in the search for qualified Directors. The criteria for
selecting nominees for election as Directors of the Company includes experience in the operation of public companies, accomplishments, education, skills, and the highest
personal and professional integrity. The candidate must be willing and available to serve and should generally represent the interests of all stockholders, and not of any
special interest group. After conducting an initial evaluation of a candidate, the Nominating and Governance Committee will interview that candidate if it believes the
candidate may be suitable to be a Director and will also ask the candidate to meet with other Directors and management. If this committee believes a candidate would be a
valuable addition to the Board, it will recommend to the full Board that candidate’s nomination for election to the Board.
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The Nominating and Governance Committee does not have a formal written policy with regard to considering diversity in identifying nominees for Directors, but
when considering Director candidates, the committee seeks individuals with backgrounds and skills that, when combined with those of the Company’s other Directors, bring
a broad range of complementary skills, expertise, industry and regulatory knowledge, and diversity of perspectives to build a capable, responsive, and effective Board.
Diversity considerations for a Director nominee may vary at any time according to the particular area of expertise being sought to complement the existing Board
composition.

The Nominating and Governance Committee does not have a policy with regard to the consideration of any director candidates recommended stockholders, but the
Nominating and Governance Committee considers candidates proposed by stockholders and evaluates them using the same criteria as for other candidates. A stockholder
wishing to nominate a candidate should forward the candidate’s name and a detailed background of the candidate’s qualifications to the Secretary of the Company in
accordance with the procedures outlined in our by-laws.

Code of Ethics

The Board has adopted a Code of Ethics and Conduct, which is available on the Company’s website atwww.smtc.com or in print without charge to any person who
requests such document in writing. Any such request should be made to the Company at 7050 Woodbine Avenue, Suite 300, Markham, Ontario, Canada L3R 4G8 Attn:
Chief Financial Officer. The Company intends to post any amendment to or waiver from the Code of Ethics and Conduct that requires disclosure under the SEC rules on its
website.

Communications with Directors

The Board has provided a process by which Stockholders or other interested parties can communicate with the Board or with the non-management Directors as a
group. All such questions or inquiries should be directed to the President and CEO, Edward Smith, who can be reached at ed.smith@smtc.com. Mr. Smith will review and
communicate pertinent inquiries to the Board or, if requested, the non-management Directors as a group. In general, any stockholder communication delivered to Mr. Smith
for forwarding to the Board or specified Board member or members will be forwarded in accordance with the stockholder’s instructions. However, Mr. Smith reserves the
right not to forward to Board members any abusive, threatening or otherwise inappropriate materials.

Leadership Structure

The Board has previously determined that it was in the best interests of the Company and its Stockholders for separate individuals to serve as chair of the Board
(“Chair”) and Chief Executive Officer, while recognizing that there may be circumstances in the future that would lead to the same individual serving in both capacities. The
Company believes this leadership structure has been the most appropriate for the Company, because the Board has been able to rely upon the experience and perspective Mr.
Bailey has gained from serving both as a Director and while temporarily serving as the Company’s Executive Chair and interim CFO during 2013 and 2014. Mr. Bailey
fulfills his responsibilities as Chair through close interaction with management and all Directors. This structure ensures a greater role of “independent directors” in the active
oversight of our business, including risk management oversight, and in setting agendas and establishing Board priorities and procedures. This structure also allows our CEO
to focus, to a greater extent, on the management of the Company’s day-to-day operations.

Board Role in Risk Oversight

Our Board is responsible for consideration and oversight of the risks facing the Company. Our Board manages this oversight directly and through the Audit
Committee and Compensation and Management Development Committee. Our Board is kept informed by various reports provided to it on a regular basis, including reports
made by management at the meetings of the Board, Audit Committee, and Compensation and Management Development Committee. The Audit Committee performs a
central oversight role with respect to financial and compliance risks, which the Audit Committee then regularly reviews with the full Board. Our Compensation and
Management Development Committee reviews and discusses with management the impact of the Company’s compensation policies and practices on risk-taking within the
Company. Our Board believes that our current leadership structure and the composition of our Board protect Stockholder interests and provide adequate independent
oversight, while also providing outstanding leadership and direction for our Board and management.
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Item 11. Executive Compensation

Director Compensation

The Chairman and Independent Directors earn $80,000 and $40,000 respectively, per year for serving on the Board. The Chair of the Audit Committee earns an
additional annual cash retainer of $10,000, the Chair of the Compensation and Management Development Committee earns an additional annual cash retainer of $7,000 and
the Chair of the Nominating and Governance Committee earn an additional annual retainer of $3,000. The Chair of the Board of Directors may be awarded additional cash
and equity compensation if circumstances warrant at the discretion of the Board. Annual equity compensation is also granted to our Independent Directors, with an aggregate
grant date value of $25,000, which is issued in the form of either stock options, restricted stock units (“RSUs”) or restricted stock awards (“RSAs”). Annual equity
compensation is also provided to the Chair of the Board of Directors with an aggregate grant date value of $55,000, which is issued in the form of either stock options, RSUs

or RSAs. We do not compensate Mr. Smith, our President and Chief Executive Officer, for his service on our Board.
The following tables outline the compensation to the Board of Directors for the period ended December 29, 2019:

Director Compensation

Fees
Earned Stock Total
or Paid in Awards Compensation

Cash (a)
Name (&) %) (%)
Clarke Bailey 87,000 55,000 142,000
David Sandberg 43,000 25,000 68,000
J. Randall Waterfield 40,000 25,000 65,000
Frederick Wasserman 50,000 25,000 75,000

(a) Stock awards issued to our Directors represented annual grants issued on December 10, 2019, in the form of RSAs. The RSAs have a forfeiture schedule if
certain time-based service conditions are not met over a 12-month period in 2020. The amounts disclosed in this column represent the aggregate grant date fair
value of the shares of Common Stock granted pursuant to the RSAs during the fiscal year computed in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board
Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718 for stock-based compensation (“ASC 718”). The fair values of these shares of Common Stock granted pursuant to
the RSAs were calculated based on assumptions summarized in Note 7 to our audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 29,

2019 included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

The aggregate number of restricted stock awards issued to each of our non-employee directors on December 10, 2019, is as follows:

Name

Number of
shares of
Restricted Stock

Clarke Bailey

David Sandberg

J. Randall Waterfield
Frederick Wasserman
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Executive Officer Compensation

The Summary Compensation Table below provides information concerning the compensation of our named executive officers. During our 2019 annual meeting, our
Stockholders approved of the compensation of our named executive officers, which we described in our 2019 Proxy Statement, on a non-binding basis. Our Compensation
and Management Development Committee considered the results of that non-binding vote when reviewing our compensation policies and practices for 2019. Compensation
to our named executive officers generally consists of base salary, annual incentive bonus opportunities and equity awards.

In the “Salary” column, we disclose the base salary paid to each of our named executive officers. Salaries are paid in U.S. dollars unless otherwise noted, consistent
with the terms of any applicable employment agreements.

In the “Option Awards” column, we disclose the aggregate grant date fair value of option awards granted and in the “Stock Awards” column, we disclose the
aggregate grant date fair value of RSU awarded in the fiscal year, computed in accordance with ASC 718 without reduction for assumed forfeitures. The ASC 718 fair value
of our stock options and RSUs are calculated based on assumptions summarized in Note 7 to our audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended
December 29, 2019, and for which we recognize expense ratably over the vesting period.

In the “Bonus” column, we disclose the amount earned as a performance based bonus for that particular fiscal year.

Summary Compensation Table

Stock Option
Name and Fiscal Salary Bonus Awards Awards
Principal Position Year (&) ($)@ $® ($)™ Total ($)
Edward Smith 2019 350,000 — 87,250 236,667 673,917
President and CEO 2018 349,530 161,500 — — 511,030
Steve Waszak (1) 2019 296,175 — 87,250 189,333 572,758
CFO 2018 226,346 90,000 — 158,552 474,898
Rich Fitzgerald 2019 323,100 — 87,250 189,333 599,683
COO 2018 275,192 75,000 — — 350,192

(1) Mr. Waszak was hired on February 19, 2018 and appointed as CFO on March 13, 2018.

(a) Amount disclosed for fiscal 2018 represents the discretionary bonus earned by the officers as approved by the Board of Directors in addition to bonus earned from the
short term incentive plan. No bonuses were approved in fiscal 2019.

(b) The amounts disclosed in these columns represent the aggregate grant date fair value of option awards or RSUs, as applicable, granted during the fiscal year
computed in accordance with ASC 718. The fair values of these option awards and RSUs were calculated based on assumptions summarized in Note 7 to our
audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019, included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(i) Mr. Smith was granted 250,000 stock options on May 13, 2019 with a strike price of $3.67 which will vest at 33% of the shares upon the Company’s average
closing share price being above each of $7.00, $8.00 and $9.00 for a ninety (90)-day period. The stock options grant date fair value was $0.95 per share and
was calculated using the Cox, Ross, and Rubenstein binomial model (“Binomial Model”). Mr. Smith was granted 25,000 fully vested RSUs on August 13,
2019, with a grant date fair value of $87,250.

(ii) Mr. Fitzgerald was granted 200,000 stock options on May 13, 2019 with a strike price of $3.67 which will vest at 33% of the shares upon the Company’s
average closing share price being above each of $7.00, $8.00 and $9.00 for a ninety (90)-day period. The stock options grant date fair value was $0.95 per
share and was calculated using the Binomial Model. Mr. Fitzgerald was granted 25,000 fully vested RSUs on August 13, 2019, with a grant date fair value of
$87,250.

(iif) Mr. Waszak was granted 200,000 stock options on May 13, 2019 with a strike price of $3.67 which will vest at 33% of the covered shares upon the Company’s
average closing share price being above each of $7.00, $8.00 and $9.00 for a ninety (90)-day period. The stock options grant date fair value was $0.95 per
share and was calculated using the Binomial Model. Mr. Waszak was granted 25,000 fully vested RSUs on August 13, 2019, with a grant date fair value of
$87,250.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

The following table provides information regarding unexercised stock options and outstanding RSUs for each named executive officer outstanding as at December 29,
2019.

Option Awards
Equity
Incentive
Plan
Number of Awards:
Securities Number of
Underlying Securities
Unexercised Underlying Option
Options Unexercised Exercise Option
Award Exercisable Options Price Expiration
Name Description (#) #H@ (&) Date
Edward Smith (b) Stock Options 403,116 268,742 1.23 5/15/2027
Stock Options — 250,000 3.67 5/13/2029
Steve Waszak (c) Stock Options 201,558 134,371 2.07 3/12/2028
Stock Options — 200,000 3.67 5/13/2029
Rich Fitzgerald (d) Stock Options 201,558 134,371 1.26 6/5/2027
Stock Options — 200,000 3.67 5/13/2029

(a) The number of securities for Mr. Smith, Mr. Waszak and Mr. Fitzgerald represent unvested stock options as at December 29, 2019.

(b) Mr. Smith was granted 671,858 stock options on May 15, 2017 with a strike price of $1.23 which will vest at 20% of the shares upon the Company’s average closing
share price being above each of $2.00, $3.00. $4.00, $5.00 and $6.00 for a ninety (90)-day period.

Mr. Smith was granted 250,000 stock options on May 13, 2019 with a strike price of $3.67 which will vest at 33% of the shares upon the Company’s average closing
share price being above each of $7.00, $8.00 and $9.00 for a ninety (90)-day period.

(c) Mr. Waszak was granted 335,929 stock options on March 12, 2018 with a strike price of $2.07 which will vest at 20% of the shares upon the Company’s average
closing share price being above each of $2.00, $3.00. $4.00, $5.00 and $6.00 for a ninety (90)-day period.

Mr. Waszak was granted 200,000 stock options on May 13, 2019 with a strike price of $3.67 which will vest at 33% of the covered shares upon the Company’s average
closing share price being above each of $7.00, $8.00 and $9.00 for a ninety (90)-day period.

(d) Mr. Fitzgerald was granted 335,929 stock options on June 5, 2017 with a strike price of $1.26 which will vest at 20% of the shares upon the Company’s average closing
share price being above each of $2.00, $3.00. $4.00, $5.00 and $6.00 for a ninety (90)-day period.

Mr. Fitzgerald was granted 200,000 stock options on May 13, 2019 with a strike price of $3.67 which will vest at 33% of the shares upon the Company’s average closing
share price being above each of $7.00, $8.00 and $9.00 for a ninety (90)-day period.

Defined Contribution Plan
The Company has a tax-qualified 401(k) defined contribution retirement plan established for U.S. employees in which named executive officers may participate.
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Agreements with Executive Officers
Chief Executive Officer

On May 15, 2017, the Board of Directors of the Company appointed Edward Smith, the Company’s Interim President and Chief Executive Officer, to the role of
President and Chief Executive Officer effective May 16, 2017. Mr. Smith has served as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company since May 16, 2017.

In connection with this appointment, Mr. Smith entered into an offer letter with the Company, dated May 15, 2017 (the “Smith Offer Letter”), pursuant to which Mr.
Smith receives an annual base salary of $325,000, subject to periodic adjustment (“Smith Base Salary”) and will be eligible to participate in the Company’s short-term
incentive plan with a target bonus of fifty percent (50%) of the Smith Base Salary. Pursuant to the Smith Offer Letter, Mr. Smith received a one-time grant of options
covering 671,858 shares of Common Stock under the Company’s 2010 Incentive Plan in May 2017. The options have an exercise price per share equal to the per share
closing price of the Common Stock on the grant date, and will vest as to one-fifth (20%) of the covered shares upon the Common Stock’s average closing share price being
above each of $2.00, $3.00, $4.00, $5.00 and $6.00 per share for a ninety (90)-day period, or upon a Change in Control Event (as defined in the Smith Offer Letter )
resulting in the per share value of Common Stock being above those same thresholds (one-fifth (20%) if above $2.00, an additional one-fifth (20%) if above $3.00, an
additional one-fifth (20%) if above $4.00, an additional one-fifth (20%) if above $5.00, and one hundred percent (100%) if above $6.00), subject to Mr. Smith’s continued
employment on the applicable vesting date. In the event of a Change in Control Event, outstanding stock options shall immediately expire to the extent they remain
unvested; provided, however, the Company’s Board may in its sole discretion, accelerate vesting effective immediately prior to, but contingent on, a Change in Control
Event. To ensure alignment with Stockholders, the options may not be exercised, and no option shares may be sold, within one hundred eighty (180) days of any portion of
the options vesting, unless a Change in Control Event occurs. The options shall otherwise reflect the Company’s standard terms and conditions for employee option grants,
including a 10-year term, and will vest with respect to whole shares only.

In addition, the Smith Offer Letter provides that, in the event that Mr. Smith’s employment is terminated by the Company other than for “Cause” (as defined in the
Smith Offer Letter, and other than in connection with or within twelve (12) months following a “Change in Control Event” (as defined in the Smith Offer Letter)), Mr. Smith
will receive the accrued and unpaid amount of the Smith Base Salary through the date of termination and will continue to receive the Smith Base Salary for a period of six (6)
months after the date of termination commencing with the first (1st) payroll period following the thirtieth (30th) day after the date of termination. In the event that Mr.
Smith’s employment is terminated by the Company other than for Cause or if he resigns for “Good Reason” (as defined in the Smith Offer Letter) in connection with or
within twelve (12) months following a Change in Control Event, he will receive the accrued and unpaid amount of the Smith Base Salary and, to the extent applicable,
accrued and unpaid vacation through the date of termination, and will also continue to receive the Smith Base Salary for a period of twelve (12) months after the date of
termination commencing with the first (1st) payroll period following the thirtieth (30th) day after the date of termination. Severance payable under the Smith Offer Letter is
subject to effectiveness of a release of claims against the Company by Mr. Smith. Mr. Smith is also eligible for other benefits including participation in the Company’s
401(k) plan and four (4) weeks of paid time off annually.

On May 15, 2017, in connection with Mr. Smith’s stock option award grant, the Board amended the terms of Section 4(c) of the Company’s 2010 Stock Incentive
Plan, as amended, which limited the maximum number of shares of Common Stock for which stock options could be granted to any person in any calendar year to 350,000

shares, to permit, as a one-time waiver of such limit, the issuance of stock options covering 671,858 shares to Mr. Smith pursuant to the terms of the Smith Offer Letter.
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Chief Operating Officer
On May 15, 2017, the Board of Directors of the Company appointed Richard Fitzgerald as the Company’s COO effective on or before June 5, 2017.

In connection with this appointment, Mr. Fitzgerald entered into an offer letter with the Company, dated May 15, 2017 (the “Fitzgerald Offer Letter”), pursuant to
which Mr. Fitzgerald will receive an annual base salary of $300,000, subject to periodic adjustment (the “Fitzgerald Base Salary”) and will be eligible to participate in the
Company’s short-term incentive plan with a target bonus of twenty-five percent (25%) of the Fitzgerald Base Salary. Pursuant to the Fitzgerald Offer Letter, Mr. Fitzgerald
received a one-time grant of options covering 335,929 shares of Common Stock under the Company’s 2010 Incentive Plan in June 2017. The options have an exercise price
per share equal to the per share closing price of Common Stock on the grant date, and will vest as to one-fifth (20%) of the covered shares upon the Common Stock’s
average closing share price being above each of $2.00, $3.00, $4.00, $5.00 and $6.00 per share for a ninety (90)-day period, or upon a Change in Control Event (as defined
in the Fitzgerald Offer Letter ) resulting in the per share value of Common Stock being above those same thresholds (one-fifth (20%) if above $2.00, an additional one-fifth
(20%) if above $3.00, an additional one-fifth (20%) if above $4.00, an additional one-fifth (20%) if above $5.00, and one hundred percent (100%) if above $6.00), subject to
Mr. Fitzgerald’s continued employment on the applicable vesting date. In the event of a Change in Control Event, outstanding stock options shall immediately expire to the
extent they remain unvested; provided, however, the Board may, in its sole discretion, accelerate vesting effective immediately prior to, but contingent on, a Change in
Control Event. To ensure alignment with Stockholders, the options may not be exercised, and no option shares may be sold, within one hundred eighty (180) days of any
portion of the options vesting, unless a Change in Control Event occurs. The options shall otherwise reflect the Company’s standard terms and conditions for employee
option grants, including a 10-year term, and will vest with respect to whole shares only.

In addition, the Fitzgerald Offer Letter provides that, in the event that Mr. Fitzgerald’s employment is terminated by the Company other than for “Cause” (as defined
in the Fitzgerald Offer Letter and other than in connection with or within twelve (12) months following a “Change in Control Event” (as defined in the Fitzgerald Offer
Letter)), Mr. Fitzgerald will receive the accrued and unpaid amount of the Fitzgerald Base Salary through the date of termination and will continue to receive the Fitzgerald
Base Salary for a period of six (6) months after the date of termination commencing with the first (1st) payroll period following the thirtieth (30th) day after the date of
termination. In the event that Mr. Fitzgerald’s employment is terminated by the Company other than for Cause or if he resigns for “Good Reason” (as defined the Fitzgerald
Offer Letter) in connection with or within twelve (12) months following a Change in Control Event, he will receive the accrued and unpaid amount of the Fitzgerald Base
Salary and, to the extent applicable, accrued and unpaid vacation through the date of termination, and will also continue to receive the Fitzgerald Base Salary for a period of
twelve (12) months after the date of termination commencing with the first (1st) payroll period following the thirtieth (30th) day after the date of termination. Severance
payable under the Fitzgerald Offer Letter is subject to effectiveness of a release of claims against the Company by Mr. Fitzgerald. Mr. Fitzgerald is also eligible for other
benefits including participation in the Company’s 401(k) plan and three (3) weeks of paid time off annually.
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Chief Financial Officer

Effective February 19, 2018, the Company hired Steve Waszak as Senior Vice President, Mergers and Acquisitions. Subsequently, on March 13, 2018 the Company
announced that the Board appointed Steve Waszak, as the Company’s CFO in addition to his role as Senior Vice President of Mergers and Acquisitions effective March 13,
2018.

In connection with this appointment, Mr. Waszak entered into an offer letter with the Company, dated February 2, 2018 (the “Waszak Offer Letter”), pursuant to
which Mr. Waszak will receive an annual base salary of $275,000, subject to periodic adjustment (the “Waszak Base Salary”) and will be eligible to participate in the
Company’s short-term incentive plan with a target bonus of thirty-three percent (33%) of his base salary. Pursuant to the Waszak Offer Letter, Mr. Waszak received a one-
time grant of options covering 335,929 shares of Common Stock under the Company’s 2010 Incentive Plan in March 2018. The options have an exercise price per share
equal to the per share closing price of the Common Stock on the grant date, and will vest as to one-fifth (20%) of the covered shares upon the Common Stock’s average
closing share price being above each of $2.50, $3.00, $4.00, $5.00 and $6.00 per share for a ninety (90)-day period, or upon a Change in Control Event (as defined in the
Waszak Offer Letter ) resulting in the per share value of the Common Stock being above those same thresholds (one-fifth (20%) if above $2.50, an additional one-fifth
(20%) if above $3.00, an additional one-fifth (20%) if above $4.00, an additional one-fifth (20%) if above $5.00, and one hundred percent (100%) if above $6.00), subject to
Mr. Waszak’s continued employment on the applicable vesting date. In the event of a Change in Control Event, outstanding stock options shall immediately expire to the
extent they remain unvested; provided, however, the Board may, in its sole discretion, accelerate vesting effective immediately prior to, but contingent on, a Change in
Control Event. To ensure alignment with Stockholders, the options may not be exercised, and no option shares may be sold, within one hundred eighty (180) days of any
portion of the options vesting, unless a Change in Control Event occurs. The options shall otherwise reflect the Company’s standard terms and conditions for employee
option grants, including a 10-year term, and will vest with respect to whole shares only.

In addition, the Waszak Offer Letter provides that, in the event that Mr. Waszak’s employment is terminated by the Company other than for “Cause” (as defined in the
Waszak Offer Letter and other than in connection with or within twelve (12) months following a “Change in Control Event” (as defined in the Waszak Offer Letter)), Mr.
Waszak will receive the accrued and unpaid amount of the Waszak Base Salary through the date of termination and will continue to receive the Waszak Base Salary for a
period of six (6) months after the date of termination commencing with the first (1st) payroll period following the thirtieth (30th) day after the date of termination. In the
event that Mr. Waszak’s employment is terminated by the Company other than for Cause or if he resigns for “Good Reason” (as defined the Waszak Offer Letter) in
connection with or within twelve (12) months following a Change in Control Event, he will receive the accrued and unpaid amount of the Waszak Base Salary and, to the
extent applicable, accrued and unpaid vacation through the date of termination, and will also continue to receive the Waszak Base Salary for a period of twelve (12) months
after the date of termination commencing with the first (1st) payroll period following the thirtieth (30th) day after the date of termination. Severance payable under the
Waszak Offer Letter is subject to effectiveness of a release of claims against the Company by Mr. Waszak. Mr. Waszak is also eligible for other benefits including
participation in the Company’s 401(k) plan and four (4) weeks of paid time off annually.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The following table sets forth, as of March 13, 2020, the number of shares beneficially owned and the percentage ownership for: (a) each person who is known by us
to own beneficially more than five percent (5%) of our outstanding shares of Common Stock; (b) each named executive officer who is named in our summary compensation
table and each current directors and director nominees; and (c) all executive officers and current directors and director nominees as a group.

As of March 13, 2020, our outstanding Common Stock consisted of 28,195,300 shares.

Unless otherwise indicated below, to our knowledge, all persons listed below have sole voting and investment power with respect to their shares, and each entity or
person listed below maintains a mailing address of c/o SMTC Corporation, 7050 Woodbine Avenue, Markham, Ontario, Canada L3R 4G8. The number of shares
beneficially owned by each person is determined under rules promulgated by the SEC. Under these rules, beneficial ownership includes any shares as to which the person
has sole or shared voting or investment power and any shares as to which the individual or entity has the right to acquire beneficial ownership of within sixty (60) days after

March 13, 2020.

Shares Beneficially Owned

Percentage
of Shares

Beneficially
Name and Address Shares Options Total Owned(*)
Stockholders with more than 5% ownership:
Red Oak Partners, LLC (1) 6,201,623 — 6,201,623 22%
1969 SW 17th Street
Boca Raton, Florida 33486
Nelson Obus in care of Wynnefield Partners Small Cap Value, L.P. (2)
450 Seventh Avenue, Suite 509
New York, New York 10123 1,983,590 — 1,983,590 7%
Directors and Named Executive Officers:
Clarke Bailey 477,573 50,576 528,149 2%
David Sandberg (1) 6,194,541 — 6,194,541 22%
J. Randall Waterfield 1,019,791 20,230 1,040,021 4%
Frederick Wasserman 80,320 20,230 100,550 #
Edward Smith 361,657 403,116 764,773 3%
Rich Fitzgerald 90,624 201,558 292,182 #
Steve Waszak 33,214 201,558 234,772 #
All Directors and Named Executive Officers as a group (7 persons) 8,264,802 897,268 9,162,070 32%

* The number of shares of common stock deemed outstanding on March 13, 2020, with respect to a person or group includes (a) 28,195,300 shares outstanding on such date

and (b) all options that are currently exercisable or will be exercisable within sixty (60) days of March 13, 2020 by the person or group in question.

# Less than 1%

(1) Mr. Sandberg directly owns 1,060,920 shares of Common Stock and indirectly owns 5,140,703 shares of Common Stock as per Form 4 filings with SEC and as

summarized below:

Red Oak Partners, LLC (“ROP”) serves as the general partner of The Red Oak Fund, LP, a Delaware limited partnership (the “Fund”), the direct owner of 2,339,595

shares. David Sandberg is the managing member of ROP and the Fund’s portfolio manager.

ROP serves as the general partner of The Red Oak Long Fund, LP, a Delaware limited partnership (the “Long Fund”), the direct owner of 980,926 shares. David

Sandberg is the managing member of ROP and the Long Fund’s portfolio manager.

ROP serves as the general partner of The Red Oak Institutional Founders Long Fund, LP, a Delaware limited partnership (the “Founders Fund”), the direct owner of
1,820,182 shares. David Sandberg is the managing member of ROP and the Founders Fund’s portfolio manager.

(2) Includes shares of Common Stock held by Wynnefield Partners Small Cap Value, L.P., Wynnefield Small Cap Value Offshore Fund, Ltd., and Wynnefield Capital, Inc.

Profit Sharing Plan.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information
The Company maintains the SMTC Corporation 2019 Incentive Plan (the “2019 Plan”), which was adopted by the Board of Directors and approved by the
stockholders of the Company in May 2019, which superseded the SMTC Corporation 2010 Incentive Plan (the “2010 Plan”). No new awards will be granted under the 2010

Plan. The total number of shares remaining available for future issuance under the 2019 Plan as at December 29, 2019 is 1,379,508.

The following table gives information about awards under the incentive plan as of December 29, 2019:

Number of
shares
remaining
available for
Number of Weighted future issuance
shares to be average under equity
issued upon exercise compensation
exercise of price of plans
outstanding outstanding (excluding
options, options, shares
warrants and warrants and reflected in
Plan Category rights rights (1) column a)
Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders 2,692,374 § 1.55 1,379,508
Equity compensation plans not approved by stockholders — — —
Total 2,692,374 $ 1.55 1,379,508

(1) The weighted average exercise price only applies to the 2,344,374 of outstanding stock options as there is no exercise price on the 348,000 outstanding RSUs.
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence
Director Independence

See the information disclosed under “Director Independence” in Item 10. “Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance” in this Form 10-K.
Related Person Transactions

The Company uses a combination of Company policies and established review procedures, including adherence to Nasdaq Rules, to ensure related person
transactions are reviewed, approved and ratified, as appropriate. We do not maintain these policies and procedures under a single written policy.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for considering and reporting to the Board any questions of possible conflicts of interest
involving the Company’s directors. The Board of Directors is further required to meet the independence standards set forth in the Nasdaq Rules. The Company’s Corporate
Code of Ethics and Conduct, which applies to all directors, officers and employees, provides guidance on matters such as conflicts of interest and purchasing integrity,
among others.

We require that each director and officer complete a questionnaire annually. The questionnaire requires positive written affirmation regarding related person
transactions that may constitute a conflict of interest, including: any transaction or proposed transaction in excess of $120,000 involving the director or officer or an
immediate family member and the Company, a subsidiary or any pension or retirement savings plan; any indebtedness to the Company; dealings with competitors, suppliers
or customers; any interest in real or personal property in which the corporation also has an interest; and the potential sale of any real or personal property or business venture
or opportunity that will be presented to the Company for consideration. We review each questionnaire to identify any transactions or relationships that may constitute a
conflict of interest, require disclosure, or affect an independence determination.

For situations in which it is either clear that a conflict of interest exists or there is a potential conflict of interest, the related director or officer is obligated to recuse
himself from any discussion on the business arrangement. That director or officer does not participate in the review and approval process for the related transaction.

The Compliance Officer, together with our Chief Executive Officer, or the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and Board of Directors review
transactions involving directors and/or officers that either clearly represent or may represent a conflict of interest. They determine whether these transactions are on terms
that are as fair as if the transactions were on an arm’s length basis. If the Compliance Officer and the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee were to determine
that a transaction is not on terms that are as fair as if it were on an arm’s length basis, the transaction would be modified such that the transaction has as fair as if it were on
an arm’s length basis.

There were no transactions required to be reported under Item 404(a) of Regulation S-K or that were required to be reviewed pursuant to the above policies and
procedures for fiscal year ending December 29, 2019.
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Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Set forth below are the aggregate fees incurred by the Company to its independent registered public accounting firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, for the fiscal
years indicated.

2019 2018
Audit fees $ 957,900 $ 681,220
Tax fees 134,545 147,780
Total fees $ 1,192,900 $ 829,000

The amounts are presented in USD and converted using average twelve month exchange rate of USD $1.00 to CAD $1.32 and USD $1.00 to CAD $1.29 for fiscal
years 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Audit Fees — Consists of fees for professional services rendered in connection with the audit of our annual financial statements, the review of the interim financial
statements included in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, and other services provided in connection with statutory and regulatory filings, including but not limited to the
audit procedures on internal control over financial reporting.

Tax Fees — Consists of fees for professional services related to tax compliance, planning and consulting services.
Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures; Determination of Independence

The Audit Committee’s charter provides that the Audit Committee will pre-approve all audit, audit related and non-audit services to be provided by our independent
registered public accounting firm before the independent registered public accounting firm is engaged to render these services. The Audit Committee has considered whether
the independent registered accounting firm’s provision of non-audit services is compatible with its independence. In April 2004, the Board adopted an Audit and Non-Audit
Services Pre-Approval Policy for the Audit Committee. Under this policy, the Audit Committee has pre-approved certain audit and audit related services, tax services and
other services. The Audit Committee has determined that the provision of those services that are pre-approved in this policy will not impair the independence of the
Company’s independent registered public accounting firm. The provision of services by the independent registered public accounting firm that are not pre-approved in this
policy are subject to separate pre-approval by the Audit Committee. This policy also pre-approved specified fee levels for the specific services. Payments in excess of these
specified fee levels are subject to separate pre-approval by the Audit Committee. All audit and non-audit services performed by our independent registered public accounting
firm in 2019 and 2018 have been pre-approved by our Audit Committee to assure that such services do not impair the independent registered public accounting firm’s
independence from the Company.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(a) (1) Financial Statements.
The consolidated financial statements filed as part of this Report are listed and indexed at page F-1.
(a) (2) Financial Statement Schedule.

All schedules have been omitted because they are not required or applicable under the instructions or because the information required is included in the
consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(a) (3) Exhibits.
See exhibit index beginning at page 66.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Listed below are all exhibits filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Exhibit #
2.1

3.1%

3.2%

4.1

4.2

43

4.4%

10.1#

10.2#

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

Description

Purchase Agreement. dated as of November 8, 2018, by and among the Registrant. MC Assembly Holdings, Inc. each of the stockholders of MC Assembly
Holdings. Inc., and Cyprium Investment Partners LLC. (1)

Fifth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant, as amended to date.

Second Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Registrant, as amended to date.

Stockholders Agreement, dated as of November 22, 2000, by and among the Registrant and the Stockholders referred to therein. (2)

Form of Certificate Representing Shares of Common Stock of the Registrant. (3)

Tax Benefits Preservation Plan, dated as of December 29, 2014, by and between the Registrant and Computershare Inc.. as Rights Agent. (4)

Description of Registrant’s Securities

SMTC Corporation 2010 Incentive Plan. (5)

SMTC Corporation 2019 Incentive Plan. (6)

Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of November 8, 2018, by and among the Registrant, SMTC Manufacturing

Corporation of California, SMTC Mex Holdings. Inc., HTM Holdings. Inc., MC Test Service, Inc., MC Assembly International LLC, MC Assembly LLC,
and other persons who may join as borrowers thereto, PNC Bank, National Association, and the other financial institutions which are now or which

hereafter become a party thereto. (7)

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Security Agreement. dated as of March 29, 2019, by and among the Registrant, SMTC
Manufacturing Corporation of California, SMTC Mex Holdings, Inc., HTM Holdings, Inc., MC Test Service, Inc., MC Assembly International LLC, MC

Assembly LLC, and other persons who may join as borrowers thereto, PNC Bank. National Association, and the other financial institutions which are now
or which hereafter become a party thereto. (8)

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of August 8. 2019, by and among the Registrant, SMTC
Manufacturing Corporation of California, SMTC Mex Holdings. Inc.. HTM Holdings, Inc.. MC Test Service, Inc., MC Assembly International LLC. MC
Assembly LLC, and other persons who may join as borrowers thereto, PNC Bank, National Association, and the other financial institutions which are now

or which hereafter become a party thereto. (9)

Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of September 27, 2019, by and among the Registrant
SMTC Manufacturing Corporation of California, SMTC Mex Holdings, Inc., HTM Holdings, Inc., MC Test Service, Inc., MC Assembly International

LLC. MC Assembly LLC, and other persons who may join as borrowers thereto, PNC Bank. National Association. and the other financial institutions
which are now or which hereafter become a party thereto. (10)

Financing Agreement, dated as of November 8, 2018, by and among the Registrant, MC Assembly, LLC, MC Assembly International, LLC, MC Test

Service. Inc., SMTC Manufacturing Corporation of California, and SMTC Mex Holdings Inc.. as borrowers. the Registrant, HTM Holdings, Inc.. and MC
Assembly Holdings, Inc., as guarantors, the lenders from time to time party thereto, and TCW Assent Management Company LLC, as collateral agent and

administrative agent. (11)

Amendment No. 1 and Waiver, dated March 29, 2019, to Financing Agreement, dated as of November 8. 2018. by and among MC Assembly, LLC. MC
Assembly International, LLC. MC Test Service, Inc., SMTC Manufacturing Corporation of California, and SMTC Mex Holdings Inc., as borrowers, HTM

Holdings, Inc., MC Assembly Holdings. Inc.. and the Registrant. as guarantors, lenders from time to time party thereto, TCW Assent Management
Company LLC, as collateral agent and administrative agent. (12)

Amendment No. 2, dated July 3. 2019, to Financing Agreement, dated as of November 8. 2018, by and among MC Assembly, LLC, MC Assembly

International, LLC, MC Test Service, Inc.. SMTC Manufacturing Corporation of California, and SMTC Mex Holdings Inc.. as borrowers. HTM Holdings.
Inc., MC Assembly Holdings. Inc., and the Registrant, as guarantors, lenders from time to time party thereto., TCW Assent Management Company LLC, as

collateral agent and administrative agent (13).

Amendment No. 3. dated August 8. 2019. to Financing Agreement, dated as of November 8. 2018. by and among MC Assembly, LLC, MC Assembly
International, LLC, MC Test Service, Inc., SMTC Manufacturing Corporation of California, and SMTC Mex Holdings Inc., as borrowers, HTM Holdings,

Inc., MC Assembly Holdings. Inc., and the Registrant. as guarantors, lenders from time to time party thereto, TCW Assent Management Company LLC, as
collateral agent and administrative agent. (14)

Amendment No. 4 to Financing Agreement, dated as of September 27, 2019, by and among MC Assembly, LLC, MC Assembly International, LLC, MC

Test Service, Inc., SMTC Manufacturing Corporation of California, and SMTC Mex Holdings Inc., as borrowers. HTM Holdings, Inc., MC Assembly
Holdings. Inc., and the Registrant, as guarantors, lenders from time to time party thereto, TCW Assent Management Company LLC, as collateral agent and

administrative agent. (15)
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10.12 Form of Subscription Agreement, by and between the Registrant and lenders from time to time party to the Financing Agreement with TCW. (16)
10.13 Form of Registration Rights Agreement, by and among the Registrant and the investors listed on the Schedule of Subscribers attached thereto. (17
10.14 Stockholder Agreement. dated as of January 5. 2012, by and between the Registrant and Red Oak Partners. LLC. (18

10.15# Form of Indemnification Agreement. (19

10.16# Services Agreement, dated as of February 1. 2017, by and between the Registrant and Edward Smith. (20)

10.17# Employment Offer Letter, dated as of May 15. 2017, by and between the Registrant and Edward Smith. (21)

10.18# Employment Offer Letter, dated as of May 11. 2017, by and between the Registrant and Richard Fitzgerald. (22)
10.19# Employment Offer Letter, dated as of March 13, 2018, by and between the Registrant and Steven Waszak. (23)
21.1%* Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23.1% Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

31.1% Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2% Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1+ Certification of Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2+ Certification of Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code. as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS* XBRL Instance

101.SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
101.CAL* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation
101.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition
101.LAB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels
101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation

(1)  Filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 9, 2018 (File No. 0-31051) and incorporated by reference herein.

(2)  Filed as Exhibit 4.1.2 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000 filed on April 2, 2001 (File No. 0-31051) and
incorporated by reference herein.

(3)  Filed as Exhibit 4.2 to Amendment No. 2 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on June 19, 2000 (File No. 333-33208) and incorporated by
reference herein.

(4)  Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 30, 2014 (File No. 0-31051) and incorporated by reference herein.

(5)  Filed as Appendix A to the Registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Form Schedule 14A filed on June 10, 2016 (File No. 0-31051) and incorporated by reference
herein.

(6)  Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 14, 2019 (File No. 000-31051) and incorporated by reference herein.

(7)  Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 9, 2018 (File No. 0-31051) and incorporated by reference herein.

(8)  Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 4, 2019 (File No. 000-31051) and incorporated by reference herein.

(9)  Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 12, 2019 (File No. 000-31051) and incorporated by reference herein.

(10) Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 2, 2019 (File No. 000-31051) and incorporated by reference herein.

(11)  Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 9, 2018 (File No. 0-31051) and incorporated by reference herein.

(12) Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 4, 2019 (File No. 000-31051) and incorporated by reference herein.

(13)  Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 5, 2019 (File No. 000-31051) and incorporated by reference herein.

(14) Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 12, 2019 (File No. 000-31051) and incorporated by reference herein.

(15) Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 2, 2019 (File No. 000-31051) and incorporated by reference herein.

(16) Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 9, 2018 (File No. 0-31051) and incorporated by reference herein.

(17)  Filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 9, 2018 (File No. 0-31051) and incorporated by reference herein.

(18) Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 11, 2012 (File No. 0-31051) and incorporated by reference herein.

(19) Filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 28, 2014 filed on March 30, 2015 (File No. 0-31051) and
incorporated by reference herein.

(20)  Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 2, 2017 (File No. 0-31051) and incorporated by reference herein.

(21) Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended April 2, 2017 filed on May 17, 2017 (File No. 0-31051) and
incorporated by reference herein.

(22) Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended April 2, 2017 filed on May 17, 2017 (File No. 0-31051) and
incorporated by reference herein.

(23) Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 14, 2018 (File No. 0-31051) and incorporated by reference herein.

*  Filed herewith

+  Furnished herewith

# Indicates exhibits that are management contracts or compensation plans or arrangements
Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

Not Applicable.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

SMTC CORPORATION

By: /s/ Edward Smith
Edward Smith
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 13, 2020

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the
capacities and on the date indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Edward Smith
Edward Smith President, Chief Executive March 13, 2020

Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Steve Waszak
Steve Waszak Chief Financial Officer (Principal Officer March 13, 2020
Financial and Principal Accounting
Officer)
/s/ Clarke Bailey
Clarke Bailey Chair of the Board of Directors March 13, 2020
/s/ David Sandberg
David Sandberg Director March 13, 2020
/s/ Frederick Wasserman
Frederick Wasserman Director March 13, 2020
/s/ J. Randall Waterfield
J. Randall Waterfield Director March 13, 2020
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLICACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of SMTC Corporation
Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of SMTC Corporation and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 29, 2019 and December 30,
2018, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years ended December
29,2019, December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). We also have audited
the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 29, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 29, 2019
and December 30, 2018 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years ended December 29, 2019, December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company did not maintain, in all material respects,
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 29, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
COSO because a material weakness in internal control over financial reporting existed as of that date related to ineffective information technology general controls (ITGCs)
in the areas of user access and program change-management over the information technology (IT) systems that support the Company's financial reporting processes.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The material weakness referred to above is described in
Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting under Item 9A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We considered this material weakness in
determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the December 29, 2019 consolidated financial statements, and our opinion regarding the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting does not affect our opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

Change in Accounting Principles

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for leases in 2019 and the manner in which it
accounts for revenue in 2018.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in management's report referred to above. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered
with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the
U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting
was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness
of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of
the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

Oakville, Canada

March 13, 2020

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2014.
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Assets
Current assets:

Cash
Accounts receivable—net (note 4)
Unbilled contract assets (note 4)
Inventories (note 4)
Prepaids and other assets
Derivative assets (note 8)
Income taxes receivable

Property, plant and equipment—net (note 4)
Operating lease right of use assets-net (note 5)
Goodwill (note 4)

Intangible assets — net (note 4)

Deferred income taxes—net (note 9)

Deferred financing costs—net

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Revolving credit facility (note 5)
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities (note 4)
Warrant liability (note 5)
Restructuring liability (note 14)
Contingent consideration
Income taxes payable
Current portion of long-term debt (note 5)
Current portion of operating lease obligations (note 5)
Current portion of finance lease obligations (note 5)

Long-term debt — net (note 5)

Operating lease obligations (note 5)
Finance lease obligations (note 5)
Total liabilities

Shareholders’ equity:
Capital stock (note 6)
Additional paid-in capital
Deficit

Commitments and contingencies (note 12)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

SMTC CORPORATION
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars)
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December 29,

December 30,

2019 2018

$ 1,368 $ 1,601
69,919 72,986

26,271 20,405

47,826 53,203

7,044 5,548

— 15

_ 160

152,428 153,918

25,310 28,160

3,330 —

18,165 18,165

12,747 19,935

540 380

859 668

$ 213379 § 221,226
$ 34701 $ 25,020
74,126 76,893

11,164 13,040

1,730 2,009

1,597 —

— 3,050

157 12

1,250 1,368

1,128 -

1,226 1,547

127,079 122,939

33,750 56,039

2,615 -

8,838 9,947

$ 172282 $ 188,925
508 458

293,389 278,648
(252,800) (246,805)

41,097 32,301

$ 213379 § 221,226




SMTC CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
(Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars, except number of shares and per share amounts)

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 29, December 30, December 31,
2019 2018 2017

Revenue $ 372,511 $ 216,131  $ 139,231
Cost of sales (note 8) 335,490 194,470 128,380
Gross profit 37,021 21,661 10,851
Expenses:
Selling, general and administrative expenses (note 15) 27,040 18,062 13,960
Change in fair value of warrant liability (279) 111 —
Change in fair value of contingent consideration (3,050) — —
Restructuring charges (notes 4 and 14) 7,955 172 1,732
Impairment of property, plant and equipment — — 1,601
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment = (30) (60)
Operating earnings (loss) 5,355 3,346 (6,382)
Interest expense (note 4) 10,562 3,117 903
(Loss) earnings before income taxes (5,207) 229 (7,285)
Income tax expense (recovery) (note 9)

Current 948 752 639

Deferred (160) (75) (79)

788 677 560

Net loss and comprehensive loss $ (5.995) § (448) § (7,845)
Basic loss per share $ (023) $ (0.02) § (0.47)
Diluted loss per share $ 0.23) $ 0.02) § (0.47)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (note 10)

Basic 25,745,499 19,176,198 16,788,231

Diluted 25,745,499 19,176,198 16,788,231

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

F-4




SMTC CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
(Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars except for number of shares)

Additional Total
Common Capital paid-in Shareholders’
Shares stock capital Deficit equity
Balance, January 1, 2017 16,510,180 $ 391§ 264,928 § (238,832) $ 26,487
Conversion of restricted stock units 482,447 5 5) — —
Stock-based compensation (note 7) — — 432 — 432
Net loss for the year — — (7,845) (7,845)
Balance, December 31, 2017 16,992,627 $ 396§ 265355 $ (246,677) $ 19,074
Additional Total
Common Capital paid-in Shareholders’
Shares stock capital Deficit equity
Balance, December 31, 2017 16,992,627 $ 396 $ 265,355 § (246,677) $ 19,074
Modified retrospective adoption of ASC 606 — Revenue from contracts
with customers (note 4) — — 320 320
RSU vested and stock options exercised 418,986 4 357 — 361
Issuance of common shares from rights offering (note 6) 5,777,768 58 12,529 — 12,587
Stock-based compensation (note 7) — — 407 — 407
Net loss for the year — — (448) (448)
Balance, December 30, 2018 23,189,381 458 278,648 (246,805) 32,301
Additional Total
Common Capital paid-in Shareholders’
Shares stock capital Deficit equity
Balance, December 30, 2018 23,189,381 458 278,648 (246,805) 32,301
Treasury stocks (note 6) (21,264) — (75) — (75)
RSU vested and stock options exercised 385,153 4 42 — 46
Issuance of common shares from rights offering (note 6) 4,642,030 46 13,998 — 14,044
Stock-based compensation (note 7) — 776 — 776
Net loss for the year = — — (5,995) (5,995)
Balance, December 29, 2019 28,195,300 508 293,389 (252,800) 41,097

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SMTC CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars)

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 29, December 30, December 31,
2019 2018 2017
Cash provided by (used in):
Operations:
Net loss $ (5,995) § (448) $ (7,845)
Items not involving cash:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 6,548 3,791 3,588
Amortization of intangible assets 7,188 1,065 —
Unrealized gain on unsettled forward exchange contracts — (353) (918)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment — — 1,601
Write down of property, plant and equipment 158 — —
Deferred income taxes (160) (75) (79)
Amortization of deferred financing fees 1,592 194 27
Stock-based compensation 775 407 432
Change in fair value of warrant liability (279) 111 —
Change in fair value of contingent consideration (3,050) — —
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment — (30) (60)
Change in non-cash operating working capital:
Accounts receivable 3,067 (24,030) (6,469)
Unbilled contract assets (5,866) (7,949) —
Inventories 5,377 (8,027) (1,689)
Prepaid expenses, derivative and other assets (1,018) (883) 311
Income taxes receivable/payable 305 (179) (142)
Accounts payable (2,612) 23,698 2,159
Accrued liabilities (1,875) 4,921 237
Restructuring liability 1,597 — —
Net change in operating lease right of use asset and liability (50) — —
5,702 (7,787) (8,847)
Financing:
Net advances of revolving credit facility 9,681 12,829 9,460
Repayment of long-term debt (23,250) (8,000) (2,000)
Net advances of long-term debt — 62,000 -
Principal payment of finance lease obligations (1,565) (487) (395)
Purchase treasury stock (75) — —
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 46 361 —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock (rights offering) 14,044 12,587 —
Deferred financing costs (940) (3.463) (51
(2,059) 75,827 7,014
Investing:
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (3,876) (4,410) (1,471)
Acquisition of MC Assembly — net of cash acquired — (67,600) =
Proceeds from leasehold improvement — — 56
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment — 35 281
(3,876) (71,975) (1,134)
(Decrease)in cash (233) (3,935) (2,967)
Cash, beginning of year 1,601 5,536 8,503
Cash, end of the year $ 1,368 8 1,601 $ 5,536
Supplemental Information:
Cash interest paid $ 7,648 $ 2,294 $ 834
Cash taxes paid $ 771 $ 1,000 $ 786
Cash tax refund $ 159 $ — 3 —
Property, plant and equipment acquired through finance lease $ 135§ 882 $ —
Property, plant and equipment acquired that was unpaid in cash and included in accounts payable and
accrued liabilities $ 229 $ 384 $ 23

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SMTC CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars, except numbers of shares and per share amounts)

Nature of the business

SMTC Corporation (the “Company”, “we” or “SMTC”) is a provider of end-to-end electronics manufacturing services, or EMS, including product design
and sustaining engineering services, printed circuit board assembly, or PCBA, production, enclosure fabrication, cable assembly, systems integration and
comprehensive testing services, configuration to order, build to order and direct order fulfilment. SMTC has manufacturing facilities in United States and Mexico
with 2,805 employees of which 2,546 were full time and contract employees.

During the fourth quarter of 2019 we ceased manufacturing in China and began to relocate the equipment used at our Chinese manufacturing facility to our
other North American sites (See Note 4 and 14)

SMTC'’s services extend over the entire electronic product life cycle from the development and introduction of new products through to growth, maturity
and end of life phases. SMTC offers fully integrated contract manufacturing services to global original equipment manufacturers, or OEMs, and technology
companies primarily within the test and measurement, retail and payment systems, telecom, networking and communications, medical and safety, industrial,
power and clean technology, semiconductors, and avionics, aerospace and defense market segments. In addition, the Company operates an international sourcing
and procurement office in Hong Kong and a supply chain center in the United States.

The Company’s financial reporting year is a 52 or 53 week fiscal period, ending on the Sunday nearest December 31. Accordingly, the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive loss, the consolidated statements of changes in shareholders’ equity, and consolidated statements of cash flows are
reported for the periods from December 31, 2018 to December 29, 2019 (“year ended December 29, 2019”), January 1, 2018 to December 30, 2018 (“year ended
December 30, 2018”), and January 2, 2017 to December 31, 2017 (“year ended December 31, 2017”).
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Impact of adoption of ASC 842

The Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), as of December 31, 2018, using the modified retrospective
approach, which allows comparative periods not to be restated. In addition, the Company elected the package of practical expedients permitted under the transition
guidance within the new standard, which, among other things, allowed the Company to carry forward the historical lease classification, not reassess whether any
expired or existing contracts are or contain leases and not to reassess initial direct costs for any existing leases. The Company also elected the hindsight expedient to
determine the lease terms for existing leases. The election of the hindsight expedient did not have a significant impact on the calculation of the expected lease term.

The adoption of the new standard resulted in the recognition of operating lease right of use assets and operating lease obligations of $5,452 and $5,915,
respectively on December 31, 2018. The difference between the operating lease right of use asset and operating lease obligation related to accrued and prepaid rent
of $463, which was reclassified to the operating lease right of use asset. The standard did not materially impact consolidated net loss and had no impact on cash
flows.
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Significant accounting policies

()

(i)

(iii)

(v)

v

Basis of presentation

The Company’s accounting principles are in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”).
These consolidated financial statements are presented in United States (“U.S.”) dollars.

Principles of consolidation

The financial statements of entities which are controlled by the Company through voting equity interests, referred to as subsidiaries, are
consolidated. The Company has no interests in Variable Interest Entities in any of the years presented as all subsidiaries are wholly-owned. Inter-company
accounts and transactions are eliminated upon consolidation.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses
during the year. Significant estimates include, but are not limited to, deferred tax asset valuation allowance, impairment of long-lived assets, including
intangibles and operating lease right-of-use assets, impairment of goodwill, estimation of percentage completion on satisfying performance obligations
under ASC Topic 606, fair of value of assets and liabilities associated with business combinations, including contingent consideration and inventory
valuation. These estimates and assumptions are based on management’s best estimates and judgment. Management evaluates its estimates and
assumptions on an ongoing basis using historical experience and other factors, including the current economic environment. Actual results may differ
from those estimates.

Revenue recognition — ASC Topic 606 adopted January 1, 2018

Revenue is derived primarily from the sale of electronics components that are built to customer specifications. Revenue from the sale of products
is recognized as goods are manufactured over time. The Company has an enforceable right to payment for work completed to date and the goods do not
have an alternative use once the manufacturing process has commenced. The Company records an unbilled contract asset for finished goods associated
with non-cancellable customer orders. Similarly, the Company records an unbilled contract asset for revenue related to its work-in-process (“WIP”’) when
the manufacturing process has commenced and there is a non-cancellable customer purchase order. The Company uses an input method of direct
manufacturing inputs to measure progress towards satisfying its performance obligation associated with WIP inventory.

If assumptions change related to the inputs or outputs utilized to estimate the performance obligation associated with WIP inventory, this could
have a material impact on the revenue and corresponding margin recognized.

In addition, the Company has contractual arrangements with the majority of its customers that provide for customers to purchase any unused
inventory that the Company has purchased to fulfill that customer’s forecasted manufacturing demand. Revenue from the sale of excess inventory to the
customer is recognized when performance obligation is complete to the customer which occurs when the inventory is shipped to the customer. The
Company also derives revenue from engineering and design services. Service revenue is recognized as services are performed.

Sales taxes collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities are presented on a net basis.

Allowance for doubtful accounts

The allowance for doubtful accounts reflects management’s best estimate of probable losses inherent in the accounts receivable balance.
Management determines the allowance based on factors such as the length of time the receivables have been outstanding, customer and industry
concentrations, credit insurance coverage, the current business environment and historical experience.
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vi)

Inventories

Inventories are valued, on a first-in, first-out basis, at the lower of cost and replacement cost for raw materials and at the lower of cost and net
realizable value for finished goods that are recognized at a point in time.. The Company writes down estimated obsolete or excess inventory for the
difference between the cost of inventory and estimated net realizable value based upon customer forecasts, shrinkage, the aging and future demand for the
inventory, past experience with specific customers, and the ability to sell inventory back to customers or return to suppliers. If these assumptions change,
additional write-downs may be required. Parts and other inventory items relate to equipment servicing parts that are capitalized to inventory and expensed
as utilized to service the equipment. Parts inventory is valued at lower of cost and net realizable value.

Consignment inventory received from customers has no value with the exception of labor and overhead charges on work in progress and finished
goods consignment inventory.

(vii)  Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combination. The consideration transferred in a business combination is
measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. Acquisition-related transaction costs are recognized in the consolidated statements of loss and
comprehensive loss as incurred. At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are initially recognized at their fair
value. Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquire (if any) over the new of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. When the consideration
transferred by the Company in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition date fair values of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that
arise from additional information obtained during the measurement period (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

Other measurement period adjustments and continent consideration that is classified as a financial liability are remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss recognized in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss.

(viii)  Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price over the fair value of net identifiable assets acquired in a purchase business combination.
Goodwill is not subject to amortization and is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that the asset might be
impaired. The Company assigns its goodwill to the reporting units (or groups of reporting units that have similar economic characteristics) that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination and at least on an annual basis at the end of the fourth quarter, performs a qualitative
assessment of its reporting units goodwill and certain select quantitative calculations against its current long-range plan to determine whether it is more
likely than not (that is, a likelihood of more than 50 percent) that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. The Company first
assesses certain qualitative factors to determine whether the existence of events or circumstances leads to determination that it is more likely than not that
the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If, after assessing the totality of events or circumstances, the Company determines it is
not more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carry amount, then performing the two-step impairment test is unnecessary.
When necessary, impairment of goodwill is tested at the reporting unit (or group of reporting units) level by comparing the reporting unit’s (or group of
reporting units) carrying amount, including goodwill, to the fair value of the reporting unit (or group of reporting units). The fair value of the reporting unit
(or group of reporting unit) is estimated using a discounted cash flow approach. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit (or group of reporting units)
exceeds its fair value, then a second step is performed to measure the amount of impairment loss, if any, by comparing the fair value of each identifiable
asset and liability in the reporting unit (or group of reporting units) to the total fair value of the reporting unit (or group of reporting units). Any
impairment loss is expensed in the consolidated statement of operations and is not reversed if the fair value subsequently increases.

F-10




(ix)

)

(xi)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognized at fair value using generally accepted valuation methods appropriate for the
type of intangible asset and reported separately from goodwill. Purchased intangible assets other than goodwill are amortized over their useful lives unless
these lives are determined to be indefinite. Purchased intangible assets are carried at cost, less accumulated amortization. Amortization is computed over
the estimated useful lives of the respective assets, generally one to ten years. The Company periodically re-assesses the useful lives of its intangible assets
when events or circumstances indicate that useful lives have significantly changed from the previous estimate. Definite-lived intangible assets consist
primarily of customer relationships, order backlog, trade name and non-compete agreements. They are generally valued as the present value of estimated
cash flows expected to be generated from the asset using a risk-adjusted discount rate. When determining the fair value of our intangible assets, estimates
and assumptions about future expected revenue and remaining useful lives are used. Intangible assets are tested for impairment on an annual basis and
during interim periods if indicators of impairment exist, and written down when impaired.

Amortization is generally calculated on a straight-line basis over the expected useful lives (in years) as follows:

Customer relationships 10
Order backlog 1.5
Trade name 1
Non-compete agreements 2

Property, plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight-line basis over the
expected useful lives (in years) as follows:

Buildings 5 - 20
Machinery and equipment 7 - 15
Office furniture and equipment 7
Computer hardware and software 3

Land is recorded at cost and is not depreciated. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the lease term and estimated useful
life of the underlying asset.

Leases

The Company leases various office facilities and manufacturing equipment. The Company determines if an arrangement contains a lease at
contract inception. An arrangement is, or contains, a lease if the agreement identifies an asset, implicitly or explicitly, that the Company has the right to
use over a period of time. If an arrangement contains a lease, the Company classifies the lease as either an operating lease or as a finance lease based on
the five criteria defined in Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 842.

Commending January 1, 2019 lease liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of the remaining lease payments
over the lease term. The corresponding right-of-use asset is recognized for the same amount as the lease liability adjusted for any payments made at or
before the commencement date, any lease incentives received, and any initial direct costs. The Company’s lease agreements may include options to renew,
extend or terminate the lease. These clauses are included in the initial measurement of the lease liability when at lease commencement the Company is
reasonably certain that it will exercise such options. The discount rate used is the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that cannot be readily determined,
the Company's incremental borrowing rate. Prior to January 1, 2019 this accounting was only applied to finance leases.

Operating lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term and presented within cost of sales on the Company’s
consolidated statements of operations. Finance lease right-of-use assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the useful life of the asset
or the lease term. Interest expense on the finance lease liability is recognized using the effective interest rate method and is presented within interest
expense on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income. Variable rent payments related to both operating and finance
leases are expensed as incurred. The Company’s variable lease payments primarily consists of real estate taxes, maintenance and usage charges. The
Company made an accounting policy election to combine lease and non-lease components.

The Company has elected to exclude short-term leases from the recognition requirements of ASC 842. A lease is short-term if, at the
commencement date, it has a term of less than or equal to one year. Lease expense related to short-term leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over

the lease term.
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(xii) Income taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. This approach recognizes the amount of taxes payable or
refundable for the current year as well as deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax consequence of events recognized in the financial statements
and tax returns. The effect of changes in tax rates is recognized in the year in which the rate change occurs.

In establishing the appropriate valuation allowances for deferred tax assets, the Company assesses its ability to realize its deferred tax assets
based on available evidence, both positive and negative, to determine whether it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets or a portion thereof will
be realized.

The Company follows the guidance under Income Taxes ASC 740 with respect to accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in the
Company’s financial statements. This guidance prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and
measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return, and also provides guidance on de-recognition, classification, interest and
penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition.

This guidance requires the Company to determine if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained based on the technical merits
of the position and for those tax positions that meet the more likely than not threshold, the Company would recognize the largest amount of tax benefit or
obligation that is greater than fifty percent likely of being realized when ultimately settled with the tax authorities.

(xiii) Earnings per common share

Basic earnings per share is calculated using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per
share is calculated using the weighted average number of common shares plus the dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the year. Anti-
dilutive potential common shares are excluded. The treasury stock method is used to compute the potential dilutive effect of stock options and outstanding
restricted stock units.

(xiv) Translation of foreign currencies

The functional currency of the parent company and all foreign operations is the U.S. dollar. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated into U.S. dollars at the year-end rates of exchange. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at historical rates and revenue and expenses are translated at average exchange rates prevailing during the month of the transaction.
Exchange gains or losses are reflected in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

(xv)  Financial instruments

The Company accounts for derivative financial instruments (forward foreign exchange contracts) in accordance with applicable guidance. In
accordance with these standards, all derivative instruments are recorded on the balance sheet at their respective fair values. Changes in fair value of
derivatives that are not designated as hedges are recorded in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss as a component of cost of
sales.

The carrying amounts of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair values due to the short-term nature
of these instruments. The fair values of the revolving credit facility and finance lease obligations approximate the carrying values as the obligations bear
rates currently available for debt with similar terms, maturities and credit rating.

The Company accounts for outstanding warrants based on the fair value of the underlying obligation. The Company has outstanding warrants
with cashless exercise prices, and therefore the underlying shares expected to be issued are valued at the Company’s stock price as this reflects the best
estimate of the fair value of the warrant obligation. The fair value of the warrant obligation is presented as a warrant liability on the consolidated balance
sheet with changes to the fair value recorded each reporting period as either a gain or a loss in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive
loss in selling, general and administrative expenses.
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(xvi) Shipping and handling costs

Shipping and handling costs are included as a component of cost of sales.

(xvii) Stock-based compensation

The Company applies ASC 718, “Compensation — Stock Compensation”, (“ASC 718”) using a fair value based method for all outstanding
awards. The fair value at grant date of stock options is estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, while the fair value of restricted stock
units (“RSU’s) is based on the closing stock price at the date of grant. The fair value of stock options and RSU’s with a market-based performance
condition is estimated using the Cox, Ross and Rubenstein binomial model (“Binomial Model”). Compensation expense is recognized over the stock
option and RSU vesting period on a straight line basis. ASC 718 also requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in
subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.

(xviii) Fair value measurements

In accordance with ASC 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures”, (“ASC 820”), the Company determines fair value as an exit price,
representing the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. ASC 820
establishes a hierarchical structure to prioritize the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three tiers:

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 - Observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities
Level 3 - No observable pricing inputs in the market (e.g., discounted cash flows)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurements. The assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurements requires judgment, and may affect the valuation of
the assets and liabilities being measured and their placement within the fair value hierarchy.

(xix) Impairment of long-lived assets, right of use assets and intangible assets

The Company tests long-lived assets or asset groups held and used for recoverability when events or changes in circumstances indicate that their
carrying amount may not be recoverable. Circumstances which could trigger a review include, but are not limited to: significant decreases in the market
price of the asset; significant adverse changes in the business climate or legal factors; the accumulation of costs significantly in excess of the amount
originally expected for the acquisition or construction of the asset; current period cash flow or operating losses combined with a history of losses or a
forecast of continuing losses associated with the use of the asset; and a current expectation that the asset will more likely than not be sold or disposed
significantly before the end of its estimated useful life. Recoverability is assessed based on the carrying amount of the asset and the sum of the
undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and the eventual disposal of the asset. If the carrying value of the asset is not recoverable, the
impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds fair value. For assets classified as held for sale, an impairment loss is
recognized when the carrying amount exceeds the fair value less costs to sell.

(xx)  Restructuring charges

Costs associated with restructuring activities are accounted for in accordance with ASC Topic 420, “Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations” (ASC
420), or ASC Topic 712, “Compensation — Nonretirement Postemployment Benefits” (ASC 712), as applicable. Under ASC 712, liabilities for contractual
employee severance are recorded when payment of severance is considered probable and the amount can be estimated. Liabilities for restructuring costs
other than employee severance are accounted for in accordance with ASC 420, only when they are incurred.
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(xxi) Post-employment benefits

The Company sponsors defined contribution pension plans and other post-employment benefit plans for certain employees. Contributions to the
defined contribution pension plans are recognized as an expense as services are rendered by employees. The costs of the other post-employment benefit
plans are actuarially determined. The liability recognized in the balance sheet in respect of the post-employment benefit plans for certain employees is the
present value of the defined other post-employment benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period as determined by the Company’s actuary.

(xxii) Accounting policies in effect for prior years
Leases — ASC 840 — year ended December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017

The Company leases various office facilities and manufacturing equipment. The Company determines if the lease should be classified as an
operating lease or a capital lease based on the criteria defined in ASC 840.

If determined to be an operating lease, the lease charges are expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term and presented within cost of
sales on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. Capital leases are calculated at the inception of the lease based on the present value of the
remaining lease payments over the lease term. The discount rate used is the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that cannot be readily determined, the
Company's incremental borrowing rate. Capitalized lease assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the useful life of the asset or the
lease term. Interest expense on the finance lease liability is recognized using the effective interest rate method and is presented within interest expense on
the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

Revenue — ASC 605 — year ended December 31, 2017

Revenue is derived primarily from the sale of electronics components that are built to customer specifications. Revenue from the sale of
products, including inventory held on consignment from customers, is recognized when goods are shipped to customers (FoB Shipping Point) once title
has passed to the customer, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, price is fixed or determinable, performance has occurred, all customer-specified
test criteria have been met and collectability is reasonably assured. Revenue recognized from consignment inventory sales consists of labor and overhead
charges once performance has occurred, which is determined once the consignment inventory is shipped to the customer.

In addition, the Company has contractual arrangements with the majority of its customers that provide for customers to purchase any unused
inventory that the Company has purchased to fulfill that customer’s forecasted manufacturing demand. Revenue from the sale of excess inventory to the
customer is recognized when title passes to the customer which occurs when the inventory is shipped to the customer. The Company also derives revenue
from engineering and design services. Service revenue is recognized as services are performed.

Sales taxes collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities are presented on a net basis.
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(xxiii) ASC 606: Revenue from Contracts with Customers

General description of the guidance

Effective January 1, 2018, the Company applied a modified retrospective adoption of ASC 606: Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The
primary impact of the new standard results in a change to the timing of the Company’s revenue recognition policy for our custom manufacturing services
to recognizing revenue “over time” as products are manufactured as opposed to a “point in time” model upon shipment (prior revenue recognition policy).
The transitional adjustment resulted in the recognition of unbilled contract assets for revenue with a corresponding reduction in finished goods and work-
in-process inventory. The Company recognized the cumulative effect of initially applying the new revenue standard as an adjustment to its opening deficit
balance at January 1, 2018 included in shareholders’ equity. The comparative information has not been restated and continues to be reported under the
accounting standards in effect for those periods. The Company is applying the new revenue standard only to contracts not completed as of the date of
initial application, referred to as open contracts. The Company also does not disclose the information about remaining performance obligations that have
original expected durations of one year or less.

Satisfaction of performance obligations

The Company primarily provides contract manufacturing services to its customers. The customer provides a design, the Company procures
materials and manufactures to that design and ships the product to the customer or customer designated location. Revenue is derived primarily from the
manufacturing of these electronics components that are built to customer specifications. Revenue is recognized as the customized components are
manufactured over time. The Company has an enforceable right to payment for work completed to date and the goods do not have an alternative use once
the manufacturing process has commenced. The Company records an unbilled contract asset for finished goods associated with non-cancellable customer
orders. Similarly, the Company records an unbilled contract asset for revenue related to its work-in-process (“WIP””) when the manufacturing process has
commenced and there is a non-cancellable customer purchase order. The Company uses an input method of direct manufacturing inputs to measure
progress towards satisfying its performance obligation associated with WIP inventory.

In addition, the Company has contractual arrangements with the majority of its customers that provide for customers to purchase any unused
inventory that the Company has purchased to fulfill that customer’s forecasted manufacturing demand. Revenue from the sale of any excess inventory to
the customer is recognized at a point in time when control transfers, which is typically when title passes to the customer upon shipment. The Company also
derives revenue from the sale of procured finished goods, specifically for resale. Revenue from the sales of these goods is recognized when control
transfers at a point in time, which is typically when title passes to the customer. The Company also derives revenue from engineering and design services.
Service revenue is recognized over time as services are performed.

Sales taxes collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities are presented on a net basis.
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Impact of adoption of ASC 606

The cumulative effect of the changes to our consolidated January 1, 2018 balance sheet in connection with the adoption of ASC 606, Revenue
from Contracts with Customers was as follows:

Balance at
December 31, 2017 Balance at
(pre-adoption ASC Topic 606 January 1,
of ASC 606) adjustments 2018

Assets
Inventories $ 22,363 $ 3,414) $ 18,949
Unbilled contract assets — 3,734 3,734
Shareholders’ Equity
Total shareholders’ equity $ 19,074 $ 320 S 19,394

The following table presents the impacted financial statements line items in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 30, 2018:

Balances
pre adoption of ASC Topic 606
ASC 606 adjustments As reported
Unbilled contract assets $ — 3 20,405 $ 20,405
Inventories 73,075 (20,013) 53,062
Total shareholders’ equity 30,916 392 31,308

The following table presents the impacted financial statement line items in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income
(loss) for the year ended December 30, 2018:

Balances
pre adoption of ASC Topic 606

ASC 606 adjustments As reported
Revenues
Revenue $ 211,597 4,534 216,131
Cost of sales 190,007 4,463 194,470
Gross profit 21,590 71 21,661
Income tax expense 677 — 677
Net loss (519) 71 (448)
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(xxiv) Recently adopted accounting pronouncements

The Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), as of December 31, 2018 as started in Note 2.

In June 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) published ASU 2018-07: Compensation — Stock Compensation (Topic
718): Improvements to Non-employee Share-Based Payment Accounting. The amendment simplifies the application of share-based payment accounting
for non-employees. The amendments in this ASU are effective for public business entities for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2018, and interim periods within those fiscal years. The impact of the adoption of the standard did not have a material impact on the
consolidated financial

(xxv) Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In May 2016, the FASB published ASU 2016-13 Financial Instruments — Credit losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments. The main objective of Topic 326 is to provide financial statement users with more decision-useful information about the expected credit
losses on financial instruments and other commitments to extend credit held by a reporting entity at each reporting date. To achieve this objective, the
amendments in this update replace the incurred loss impairment methodology in current U.S. GAAP with a methodology that reflects expected credit
losses and requires consideration of a broader range of reasonable and supportable information to inform credit loss estimates. In April 2019, the FASB
published ASU 2019-04 Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses, which made certain amendments and
corrections to the original codification. In May 2019, the FASB published ASU 2019-05 Financial Instruments — Credit losses (Topic 326) which made
transitional relief available, specifically allowing the option to elect a fair value option for financial instruments measured at amortized cost. In November
2019, the FASB published ASU 2019-11 Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial Instruments — Credit losses, which made certain
amendments and corrections to the original codification. The amendment is effective for years beginning after December 15, 2019 including interim
periods with those years. The Company continues to evaluate the impact of this accounting standard. The impact of adoption of the standard has not yet
been determined.

In December 2019, the FASB published ASU 2019-12: Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for income taxes. The purpose of
this codification is the simply the accounting for income taxes, which addresses a number of topics including but not limited to the removal of certain
exceptions currently included in the standard related to intraperiod allocation when there are losses, in addition to calculation of income taxes when current
year to date losses exceed anticipated loss for the year. The amendment also simplifies accounting for certain franchise taxes and disclosure of the effect of
enacted change in tax laws or rates. Topic 740 is effective for public entities for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after
December 15, 2020. The impact of the adoption of the standard has not yet been determined and is being evaluated.

In January 2017, the FASB published ASU 2017-04: Intangibles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Topic 350 seeks to simplify goodwill
impairment testing requirements for public entities. Under the amendments in this update, an entity should perform its annual, or interim, goodwill
impairment test by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount. An entity should recognize an impairment charge for the amount
by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value; however, the loss recognized should not exceed the total amount of goodwill
allocated to that reporting unit. Additionally, an entity should consider income tax effects from any tax deductible goodwill on the carrying amount of the
reporting unit when measuring the goodwill impairment loss, if applicable. The FASB also eliminated the requirements for any reporting unit with a zero
or negative carrying amount to perform a qualitative assessment and, if it fails that qualitative test, to perform Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test.
Therefore, the same impairment assessment applies to all reporting units. An entity is required to disclose the amount of goodwill allocated to each
reporting unit with a zero or negative carrying amount of net assets. The amendments in this ASU are effective for all entities for fiscal years, and interim
periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019. The impact of the adoption of the standard is being considered, however it is
expected that this may reduce the complexity of evaluating goodwill for impairment.

In August 2018, the FASB published ASU 2018-13: Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework — Changes to the Disclosure
Requirements for Fair Value Measurement. Topic 820 includes the removal, modification and additional of disclosure requirements. Topic 820 is
effective for all entities for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019. The impact of the adoption of
the standard is not expected to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated financial statement details

The following consolidated financial statement details are presented as of the period end dates indicated for the consolidated balance sheets and for each of
the periods indicated for the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

Consolidated balance sheets

Accounts receivable—net:

December 29, December 30,
2019 2018
Trade accounts receivable $ 71,113 $ 72,937
Other receivables 1,098 447
Allowance for doubtful accounts (2,292) (398)
Accounts receivable—net $ 69919 8 72,986

The increase in the allowance for doubtful accounts pertains primarily to one customer previously serviced out of Dongguan China. This has been provisioned and
included with the restructuring charges for the closure of the facility. Refer to note 14 for further details.

Unbilled contract assets:

December 29, December 30,
2019 2018
Opening $ 20,405 $ 3,734
Contract assets additions 350,709 205,387
Contract assets invoiced (344,843) (188,716)
Ending $ 26,271 $ 20,405
Inventories:
December 29, December 30,
2019 2018
Raw materials $ 48,067 $ 52,102
Work in process — —
Finished goods (1) — 418
Parts and other 586 896
Provision for obsolescence (2) (827) (213)
Inventories $ 47,826 § 53,203

(1) Finished goods as at December 30, 2018 represent inventory procured for resale.

(2) The increase in the provision for obsolescence primarily pertains to customers previously serviced out of the Dongguan facility. These have been provisioned and
included with the restructuring charges for the closure of the facility. Refer to note 14 for further details.
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Property, plant and equipment—net:

December 29, December 30,
2019 2018
Cost:
Land $ 1,648 § 1,648
Buildings (b) 18,985 18,985
Machinery and equipment (a) (e) 42,732 40,083
Office furniture and equipment (c) (e) 1,005 845
Computer hardware and software (d)(e) 3,979 3,945
Leasehold improvements (e) 4,265 3,863
72,614 69,368
Less accumulated depreciation and impairment:
Land — —
Buildings (b) (10,392) (9,190)
Machinery and equipment (a) (e) (31,192) (27,093)
Office furniture and equipment (c) (e) (546) (457)
Computer hardware and software (d) (e) (3,289) (3,053)
Leasehold improvements (e) (1,885) (1,415)
(47,304) (41,208)
$ 25310 $ 28,160

Property, plant and equipment—net

(a) Included within machinery and equipment were assets under finance leases with costs of $2,275 as of December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018 and associated
accumulated depreciation of $974 and $409 as of December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, respectively. The related depreciation expense for the year ended
December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018 was $565 and $187, respectively.

(b) Included within buildings are costs associated with Melbourne facility under finance lease of $9,082 as of December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018 and
associated accumulated depreciation of $900 and $96 as of December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, respectively. The related depreciation expense for the
year ended December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018 was $804 and $96, respectively.

(c) Included within office furniture and equipment were assets under finance leases with costs of $307 and $158 and associated accumulated depreciation of $52 and
$6 as of December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, respectively. The related depreciation expense for the year ended December 29, 2019 and December 30,
2018 was $46 and $6, respectively.

(d) Included within computer hardware were assets under finance leases with costs of $91 and $91 and associated accumulated depreciation of $51 and $20 as of
December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, respectively. The related depreciation expense for the year ended December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018 was
$31 and $20, respectively.

(e) Included in restructuring charges for 2019 were write down charges of $158 associated with property, plant and equipment with no future benefit related to the
Dongguan manufacturing facility (note 14). Write down charges of $44 were incurred on machinery and equipment with cost of $253 and accumulated
amortization of $209. Write down charges of $6 were incurred on office furniture and fixtures with cost of $25 and accumulated amortization of $19. Write down
charges of $25 were incurred on computer hardware and software with cost of $220 and accumulated amortization of $195. Write down charges of $83 were
incurred on leasehold improvements with cost of $111 and accumulated amortization of $28.
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Intangible assets:

December 29, December 30,
2019 2018
Cost:
Customer relationships $ 12,350 $ 12,350
Order backlog 6,990 6,990
Trade name 1,300 1,300
Non-compete agreements 360 360
21,000 21,000
Less accumulated amortization:
Customer relationships (1,414) (178)
Order backlog (5,333) (673)
Trade name (1,300) (188)
Non-compete agreements (206) (26)
(8,253) (1,065)
Intangible assets—net $ 12,747 § 19.935
These intangible assets arose from the acquisition of MC Assembly Holdings Inc. in November 2018 and were allocated to the following operating
segments:
December 29, December 30,
2019 2018
U.s. $ 3,824 § 5,980
Mexico 8,923 13,955
Total $ 12,747  $ 19,935

Amortization expense of $7,188 for the year end December 29, 2019 and $1,065 for the year ended December 30, 2018 are recorded in cost of sales in the
consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss. Amortization expense for the next five years and thereafter is as follows:

2020

$ 3,046
2021 1,235
2022 1,235
2023 1,235
2024 1,235
2025 and thereafter 4,761
Total amortization $ 12,747
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Goodwill:

The carrying value of goodwill as at December 29, 2019 was $18,165 (December 30, 2018 — $18,165). This goodwill arose from the acquisition of MC
Assembly Holdings Inc. in November 2018 and was allocated to the following operating segments that are expected to benefit from the synergies of this business

combination and has not changed since the acquisition:

December 29, December 30,
2019 2018
U.s. $ 5449 § 5,449
Mexico 12,716 12,716
Total $ 18,165 $ 18,165

The carrying value of goodwill is assessed annually as well as assessed each reporting period for impairment triggers to determine whether there exists any

indicators of impairment. The assessment is done at the operating segment level as the group of components (production facilities) within each operating segment
all have similar economic characteristics. The Company completed its annual goodwill impairment testing as of the end of the fourth quarter and concluded that
there was no impairment of goodwill for any of its segment reporting units.

Accrued liabilities:

December 29, December 30,
2019 2018
Payroll $ 5504 $ 5,637
Customer related 2,185 2,237
Vendor related 1,742 2,048
Professional services 612 702
Rebates — 236
Interest 860 381
Rent — 428
Other 261 1,371
Total $ 11,164 $ 13,040
Consolidated ts of operations and comprehensive loss
Interest expense:
Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 29, December 30, December 31,
2019 2018 2017

Long-term debt $ 5672 $ 1,440 $ 454
Revolving credit facility 2,455 1,173 395
Amortization of deferred financing costs 176 58 27
Amortization of debt issuance costs 1,416 136 —
Obligations under finance lease 843 206 27
Write down of deferred financing fees — 104 —

$ 10,562 $ 3,117 § 903

Interest expense -net
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Debt and finance leases

(a) Revolving credit and long-term debt facilities

December 29, December 30,
2019 2018

Revolving credit facility $ 34,701 § 25,020
Term loans:
Term loan A facility $ 38,750 $ 50,000
Term loan B facility — 12,000

38,750 62,000
Less deferred debt issue costs (2,286) (2,750)
Less unamortized discount on debt (1,464) (1,843)
Total term loans $ 35,000 $ 57,407
Less current portion (1,250) (1,368)
Long term portion $ 33,750 $ 56,039

The Company borrows money under an Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Security Agreement with PNC Bank, National Association
(“PNC”), which governs the Company’s Revolving Credit Facility (“PNC Facility”). The PNC Facility has a term ending on November 8, 2023. Advances made
under the PNC Facility bear interest at the U.S. base rate plus an applicable margin ranging from 0.75% to 1.25%, or LIBOR plus an applicable margin ranging
from 2.50% to 3.00%. The base commercial lending rate should approximate U.S. prime rate.

The Company also borrows money under a Financing Agreement (the “Financing Agreement”). The lenders party to the Financing Agreement from time
to time (collectively, the “Lenders”), and TCW Asset Management Company LLC, as collateral agent for the Lenders (“TCW”), govern a term loan A facility
(“Term A Loan Facility” and, together with the PNC Facility, the “Credit Facilities”) and previously governed a term loan B facility (the “Term Loan B Facility”)
until it was paid in full on July 3, 2019. The Term A Loan Facility matures on November 8, 2023 (the “Maturity Date”). The Term Loan A Facility bears interest
LIBOR plus an applicable margin of 8.75% through June 30, 2020, and borrowings under the Financing Agreement will thereafter bear interest at LIBOR plus an
applicable margin ranging from 7.25% to 8.75%. Payments made under the Term Loan A Facility at any time prior to the Maturity Date (other than scheduled
amortization payments and mandatory prepayments) are subject to an applicable premium equal to the amount of such payment multiplied by (i) 3.00% in the event
that such payment occurs before November 8, 2019, (ii) 2.00% in the event that such payment occurs after November 8, 2019 and on or before November 8, 2020
and (iii) 1.00% in the event that such payment occurs after November 8, 2020 and on or before November 8, 2021. No such applicable premium is payable for any
payment of loans made under the Term Loan A Facility occurring after November 8, 2021.

Below table outlines the Term A Loan Facility scheduled amortization payments and the balance which would be due at maturation on November 8,

2023:
2020 $ 1,250
2021 2,500
2022 2,500
2023 32,500
Total 38,750

On March 29, 2019, the Company entered into Amendment No. 1 to the PNC Facility and the Financing Agreement. The Amendments, among other
things, amends the required senior leverage ratio initially set forth in the PNC Facility and the Financing Agreement by increasing the senior debt leverage ratio
from 3.50x to 3.75x.

On July 3, 2019, the Company, entered into Amendment No. 2 to Financing Agreement. The Amendment, among other things, provides that the net cash
proceeds received by the loan parties from the Company’s (i) offering of subscription rights to the Company’s stockholders and holders of the Company’s
outstanding warrants that closed in June 2019, and (ii) registered direct offering of shares of the Company’s common stock directly to certain investors that closed
in June 2019 shall be applied (a) first, to the Company’s term loan B facility (and the accrued and unpaid interest thereon) until paid in full in the aggregate amount
of $12,022, and (b) second, to the borrowers under the Agreement in the remaining amount thereof for working capital and general corporate purposes.
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On August 8, 2019, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into that certain Amendments No. 2 to the Amended and Restated Revolving
Credit and Security Agreement (the “PNC Amendment No. 2”) and that certain Amendment No. 3. to the Financing Agreement (the “TCW Amendment No. 3”).
The PNC Amendment No. 2, among other things, (i) increased the total amount available for borrowings under the PNC Facility to $65,000, (ii) provided for
borrowings of up to $15,000 on assets located in Mexico, (iii) provided that borrowings under the PNC Facility bear interest at the U.S. base rate plus an applicable
margin ranging from 0.75% to 1.25%, or LIBOR plus an applicable margin ranging from 2.50% to 3.00%, (iv) reset the financial covenants, and (v) permitted the
pay down of the Term A Loan Facility by up to $10,000. The TCW Amendment No. 3, among other things, (i) provided for a $20,000 increase in the total amount
available for borrowings under the PNC Facility, (ii) provided for the pay down of the Term A Loan Facility by up to $10,000, (iii) provided that the interest rate for
borrowings under the Financing Agreement was reset to LIBOR plus an applicable margin of 8.75% through June 30, 2020, and borrowings under the Financing
Agreement will thereafter bear interest at LIBOR plus an applicable margin ranging from 7.25% to 8.75%, (iv) deleted the senior leverage ratio covenant, (v)
amended the total leverage ratio covenant, including the definition of total leverage ratio, to increase the maximum total leverage on a quarterly basis beginning with
the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2019, (vi) amended the fixed charge coverage ratio covenant to decrease the minimum fixed charge coverage ratio on a
quarterly basis beginning with the fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2020 through the fiscal quarter ending December 31, 2021 and (vii) reset the call protection
on the Term Loan A Facility.

On September 27, 2019, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into that certain Amendments No. 3 to the Amended and Restated Revolving
Credit and Security Agreement (the “PNC Amendment No. 3”) and that certain Amendment No. 4. to the Financing Agreement (the “TCW Amendment No. 4”).
The PNC Amendment No. 3, among other things, amended the (i) definition of “Consolidated EBITDA” by permitting an addback for restructuring and transition
costs and charges incurred on or before December 31, 2020 in connection with the Company’s previously announced closure of business operations in Dongguan,
China, subject to certain exceptions, not to exceed (a) with respect to cash restructuring costs, $2,300, (b) with respect to write-offs of accounts receivable, $1,623,
and (c) with respect to write-offs of Inventory (as defined in the Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Security Agreement), $1,607, (ii) definition of
“Permitted Intercompany Investments” by permitting certain investments by a Domestic Loan Party (as defined in the Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and
Security Agreement) to or in SMTC Electronics Dongguan Company Limited, a limited liability company organized under the laws of China (“SMTC Dongguan”),
solely to facilitate the closure of business operations in Dongguan, China, so long as, among other things, (a) such Investments (as defined in the PNC Agreement)
are made prior to March 31, 2020, (b) the aggregate amount of all such Investments does not exceed $2,300 during the term of the Amended and Restated
Revolving Credit and Security Agreement, (c) the Borrowers (as defined in the Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Security Agreement) maintain certain
minimum liquidity requirements and (iii) negative covenant regarding excess cash. The TCW Amendment No. 4, among other things, amended the (i) definition of
“Consolidated EBITDA” by permitting an addback for restructuring and transition costs and charges incurred on or before December 31, 2020 in connection with
the closure of business operations in Dongguan, China, subject to certain exceptions, not to exceed (a) with respect to cash restructuring costs, $2,300, (b) with
respect to write-offs of accounts receivable, $1,623, and (c) with respect to write-offs of Inventory (as defined in the Financing Agreement), $1,607, (ii) definition
of “Permitted Intercompany Investments” by permitting certain investments by a Domestic Loan Party (as defined in the Financing Agreement) to or in SMTC
Dongguan solely to facilitate the closure of business operations in Dongguan, China, so long as, among other things, (a) such Investments (as defined in the
Financing Agreement) are made prior to March 31, 2020, (b) the aggregate amount of all such Investments does not exceed $2,300 during the term of the Financing
Agreement and (c) the Borrowers (as defined in the Financing Agreement) maintain certain minimum liquidity requirements and (iii) negative covenant regarding
excess cash.

At December 29, 2019, $34,701 (December 30, 2018 - $25,020) was outstanding under the PNC Facility and is classified as a current liability based on
the requirement to hold a “lock-box” under the terms of the PNC Facility. As at December 29, 2019, the funds available to borrow under the PNC Facility after
deducting the current borrowing base conditions was $21,644 (December 30, 2018 - $13,974). The maximum amount of funds that could be available under the
PNC Revolving Credit Facility is $65,000. However, availability under the PNC Revolving Credit Facility is subject to certain conditions, including borrowing
base conditions based on eligible inventory and accounts receivable, and certain conditions as determined by PNC. The Company is required to use a “lock-box’
arrangement for the PNC Facility, whereby remittances from customers are swept daily to reduce the borrowings under this facility.

>

At December 29, 2019, $38,750 (December 30, 2018 - $50,000) was outstanding under the TCW Term Loan A Facility and $Nil (December 30, 2018 -
$12,000) under the TCW Term Loan B Facility. The Term Loan A Facility is reported on the consolidated balance sheet net of deferred financing fees of $2,286
(December 30, 2018 - $2,750) and a discount on debt of $1,464 (December 30, 2018 - $1,843) related to the outstanding warrants described below. On July 3,
2019, the Company repaid the TCW Term Loan B Facility in full. On August 8, 2019, the Company repaid an additional $10,000 on the TCW Term Loan A
Facility. In addition, the Company made scheduled amortization payments of $1,250 on the Term Loan A Facility during 2019.

The Credit Facilities are joint and several obligations of the Company and its subsidiaries that are borrowers under the Credit Facilities and are jointly and
severally guaranteed by certain other subsidiaries of the Company. Repayments under the PNC Facility and the Term A Loan Facility are collateralized by the
assets of the Company and each of its subsidiaries.
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(b) Covenants

The Credit Facilities contain certain financial and non-financial covenants, including restrictions on dividend payments. The financial covenants under
each Credit Facility require the Company to maintain a fixed charge coverage ratio and a total leverage ratio quarterly during the term of the Credit Facilities.

The Company was in compliance with the covenants included in the Credit Facilities as at December 29, 2019. Management projects compliance with the
financial covenants included in the Credit Facilities, however note that there are key assumptions included in these cash flow projections to support covenant
calculations specifically related to earnings before interest, income taxes and depreciation, as well as anticipated debt levels. The estimate of cash flows are
sensitive to these key assumptions, for instance, when considering our anticipated earnings before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization over the
next six month period, a reduction of approximately 16% and 7% respectively, could result in the breach of a covenant relative to its impact on our trailing twelve
months results used in calculating covenant compliance for our first and second quarter 2020 results. The Company safeguards against this through taking
measures to reduce its inventory, revolving credit facility and term debt balances accordingly in order to comply with lenders covenants.

Unless our underlying customers demand changes as a result of the coronavirus outbreak, we expect to see minimal impact on our business in the first two
quarters of 2020. Beyond that as a result of the measures being taken that are designed to contain the spread of the virus, our suppliers may not have the materials,
capacity or capability to supply our components according to our schedule and specifications if the outbreak continues which could delay our release or delivery of
our customers products or require us or our customers to make unexpected changes to such products which may materially affect our business and operating results
and future compliance with our financial covenants for 2020.

The Company continues to monitor operations and results closely and manage debt levels relative to our operational results to ensure compliance with its
lenders covenants.

(c) Warrant liability

On November 8, 2018, 504,735 warrants were issued to TCW in connection with the Financing Agreement and outstanding as at December 29, 2019. As
a result of the anti-dilution provision contained in the warrants that were triggered in connection with the Rights Offering and the Registered Direct Offering in June
2019, the warrants were exercisable to purchase an additional 7,214 shares of common stock (or a total of 511,949) at December 29, 2019. These warrants are
exercisable on a cashless basis, or for an exercise price of $0.01. The Company initially recorded the value of the warrants as a warrant liability with a
corresponding discount on the long-term debt in the amount of $1,898. The fair value has been assessed at $3.38 per unit or $1,730 as at December 29, 2019 ($3.98
per unit or $2,009 — December 30, 2018). The fair value of the warrant obligation is presented as a warrant liability on the consolidated balance sheet with changes
to the fair value recorded each reporting period as either a gain or a loss in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss.
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(d) Leases

The Company leases certain facility leases in various jurisdictions, including office space, manufacturing and warehouse space. The Company also leases
certain production equipment. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the balance sheet. Operating lease expense is recognized on a

straight-line basis over the lease term. Total short-term lease costs for the three and nine months ended December 29, 2019 was not significant.

Most leases contain renewal options, which are exercisable at the Company’s sole discretion. The extension terms are typically one to five years. Some
leases may include options to purchase the leased property. The depreciable life is limited to the lease term unless title transfers or it is reasonably certain that a
purchase option will be exercised. Operating lease liabilities recognized do not include $1,522 related to options to extend lease terms that were not reasonably
certain of being exercised as at December 29, 2019. Finance lease liabilities do not include $6,456 related to options to extend lease terms that were not reasonably

certain of being exercised as at December 29, 2019.

We rent and sublease one facility lease that is not occupied by SMTC.

Leases Classification December 29, 2019 ($)
Assets

Operating lease assets Operating lease right-of-use-asset 3,330
Finance lease assets (a) Property, plant and equipment 9,778
Total leased assets 13,108
Liabilities

Current

Operating leases Current portion of operating lease obligations 1,128
Finance leases Current portion of finance lease obligations 1,226
Noncurrent

Operating leases Operating lease obligations 2,615
Finance leases Finance lease obligations 8,838
Total lease liabilities 13,807

(a) Refer to note 4 for details of the corresponding balances and accumulated amortization included within property, plant and equipment

Lease Cost Classification December 29, 2019 ($)
Operating lease costs

Fixed lease costs Cost of sales 2,609
Finance lease costs

Depreciation of leased assets Cost of sales 1,446

Interest on lease liabilities Interest expense 843
Sublease income Selling, general and administrative expenses 244

Maturity of lease liabilities as at December 29, 2019

2020

2021

2022

2023

2024

Thereafter

Total lease payments

Less: Interest

Present value of lease liabilities

Operating leases Finance leases Total
1,371 1,985 3,356

930 1,667 2,597

632 1,325 1,957

606 1,263 1,869

621 1,252 1,873

251 6,742 6,993

4,411 14,234 18,645
(668) (4,170) (4,838)

3,743 10,064 13,807
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The company’s future minimum lease payments as of December 30, 2018, in accordance with legacy lease accounting standards, under non-cancelable operating and
financing lease agreements were as follows:

Operating lease obligations as at December 30, 2018 $ 7,056
Less: Effect of election for “short-term” (98)
Discounting at 8.0% (1,043)
Total operating lease liability as at December 31, 2018 5,915

Lease term and discount rate December 29, 2019
Weighted average remaining term (years)
Operating leases 4.4
Finance leases 9.0
Weighted average discount rate
Operating leases 8.0%
Finance leases 8.0%

Other information December 29, 2019
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities
Operating cash flows from operating leases 2,196
Operating cash flows from finance leases N/A
Financing cash flows from finance leases 1,565
Leased assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities —
Leased assets obtained in exchange for new finance lease liabilities 135
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6. Capital stock
Common shares
Authorized share capital:
The authorized share capital of the Company at December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018 consisted of:

(i) As of December 29, 2019: 38,750,000 shares of common stock (December 30, 2018: 26,000,000), par value $0.01 per share: Holders are entitled to one vote
per share and the right to share in dividends pro rata subject to any preferential dividend rights of any then outstanding preferred stock.

(ii) 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share: From time to time the Company may issue preferred stock in one or more series and will fix
the terms of that series at the time it is created. As at December 29, 2019, there was no outstanding preferred stock.

On March 13, 2019, our Board approved the Charter Amendment to our Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares available for
issuance under our Certificate of Incorporation. The Charter Amendment to our Certificate of Incorporation increased the total number of authorized shares of
capital stock available for issuance by our Company to 43,750,000 shares, consisting of 38,750,000 shares of Common Stock and 5,000,000 shares of Preferred
Stock. This amendment was approved by stockholders in the annual general meeting on May 9, 2019.

Issued and outstanding:

The outstanding number of common shares included in shareholders’ equity consisted of the following as at the following dates:

December 29, 2019 December 30, 2018 December 31, 2017
Number Number Number
of shares $ of shares $ of shares $
Common Stock
Balance at beginning of the period 23,189,381 $ 458 16,992,627 $ 396 16,510,180 $ 391
Shares issued pursuant to:
Issuance of common shares from rights offering 4,642,030 46 5,777,768 58 — —
Treasury Stock (1) (21,264) — — — — —
Conversion of restricted stock units or exercise of stock options 385,153 4 418,986 4 482,447 5
Balance at end of the year 28,195,300 508 23,189,381 $ 458 16,992,627 $ 396
Total Common Stock $ 508 $ 458 $ 3%

(1) Treasury stock represents vested restricted stock awards issued into shares of common stock withheld by the Company which employees forfeited to address
the corresponding tax withholding during the year ended December 29, 2019. No Treasury stock was outstanding as at December 29, 2019 as it was then
issued based on vested restricted stock units during the year ended December 29, 2019. No Treasury stock was issued or outstanding for the years ended
December 30, 2018 or December 31, 2017.

Rights Offering and Registered Direct Offering:

In June 2019, the Company completed our (i) offering of subscription rights (the “Rights Offering”) to our stockholders and holders of our outstanding
warrants as of the close of business on May 24, 2019, which was fully subscribed for the maximum offering amount of $9,136 and (ii) registered direct offering (the
“Registered Direct Offering” and, together with the Rights Offering, the “Offerings”) of 1,732,483 shares of our common stock directly to certain investors,
resulting in net proceeds to us of approximately $14,044, after deducting the offering expenses and fees payable by us. The proceeds of the Offerings were used, in
part, to repay the Term Loan B Facility in full as at July 3, 2019.
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Stock-based compensation
2019 Incentive Plan:

The Company maintains the SMTC Corporation 2019 Incentive Plan (the “2019 Plan”), which was adopted by the Board of Directors and approved by the
stockholders of the Company in May 2019, which superseded the SMTC Corporation 2010 Incentive Plan. The total number of shares remaining available for
future issuance under the 2019 Plan as at December 29, 2019 is 1,379,508.

Stock options

The Company settles its stock options in shares of common stock. A summary of stock option activity under the Incentive Plans for the years ended
December 31, 2017, December 30, 2018 and December 29, 2019 is as follows:

Weighted
Weighted average
Total average Aggregate remaining
Outstanding exercise intrinsic contractual
options price value term (years)
Outstanding balance at January 1, 2017 616,766 1.82
Options granted 1,468,716 1.29
Options forfeited (40,722) 1.80
Options expired (174,007) 1.89
Options exercised — —
Outstanding balance at December 31, 2017 1,870,753 1.39
Options granted 385,929 2.16
Options forfeited (316,180) 1.25
Options expired — —
Options exercised (220,678) 1.71
Outstanding balance at December 30, 2018 1,719,824  § 1.55
Options granted 650,000 3.67
Options forfeited — —
Options expired — —
Options exercised (25,450) 1.80
Outstanding balance at December 29, 2019 2,344,374 2.14 2,016 8.6
Exercisable balance at December 29, 2019 1,088,140 1.55 1,992 7.2

F-28




The estimated fair value of stock options is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model (excluding stock options that contain performance
vesting conditions) and are amortized over the vesting period on a straight line basis. The Company estimates the expected term of the stock options based on
evaluating historical exercise data. The Company considers exercise data based on employee behavior when developing the expected term assumptions. The
computation of expected volatility is based on the Company’s historical volatility from its traded common stock over the expected term of the stock option grants.
The interest rate for periods within the expected term of the award is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant. The following weighted
average assumptions were used in calculating the estimated fair value of stock options used to compute stock-based compensation expenses:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 29, December 30, December 31,
2019 2018 2017

Black-Scholes weighted-average assumptions

Expected dividend yield N/A 0.0% N/A

Expected volatility N/A 42.1% N/A

Expected forfeiture N/A 30.0% N/A

Risk-free interest rate N/A 2.84% N/A

Expected stock option life in years N/A 4.0 N/A
Weighted-average stock option fair value per stock option granted $ N/A § .00 $ N/A

All stock options granted during 2019 have market-based performance conditions such that tranches of stock awards vest and are issuable only if the
Company’s common stock meets or exceeds specified target market prices during the vesting period as defined by the administrator of the 2019 Plan. If the market-
based performance conditions are not met during the option life (10 years), the stock options will not vest and will expire. These stock options with market-based
performance conditions have been valued using the Binomial Model. The following weighted average assumptions were used in calculating the estimated fair value
of awards with market-based performance conditions used to compute stock-based compensation expenses:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 29, December 30, December 31,
2019 2018 2017
Binomial Model weighted-average assumptions
Stock Price $ 3.67 § 207 $ 1.29
Expected volatility 50.0% 43.0% 43.0%
Expected forfeiture 30.0% 30.0% 30.0%
Risk-free interest rate 2.10% 1.02% 1.02%
Expected stock option life in years 3.0 4.0 4.9
Weighted-average stock option fair value per award granted $ 095 § 047 $ 0.30

During the years ended December 29, 2019, December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense and
a corresponding increase in additional paid in capital of $275, $157 and $75, respectively.

During the years ended December 29, 2019, December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, 312,494, 629,893 and 53,622 options vested, respectively. As
at December 29, 2019, compensation expense of $753 related to non-vested stock options has not been recognized.
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The following table presents information about stock options outstanding as of December 29, 2019:

Weighted Weighted
average average
Outstanding exercise Exercisable exercise
options price options price

300,658 1.80 269,408 1.80
671,858 1.23 403,116 1.23
335,929 1.26 201,558 1.26
50,000 2.74 12,500 2.74
335,929 2.07 201,558 2.07
650,000 3.67 — —
2,344,374 2.14 1,088,140 1.55

Restricted Stock Units and Restricted Stock Awards

Restricted Stock Units (“RSU”) are settled in shares of common stock. RSUs are issued under the 2019 Plan and have same terms and conditions as other
equity compensation awards issued under the 2019 Plan. RSUs are valued at the closing stock price on the date the RSUs are granted. RSUs typically have vesting
terms of one to three years. The compensation expense is recorded on a straight line basis over the vesting period. Restricted Stock Awards (“RSA”) may be issued
which typically vest upon grant, however may include certain forfeiture conditions. RSAs are issued under the 2019 Plan and have same terms and conditions as
other equity compensation awards issued under the 2019 Plan.

No RSU’s with market-based performance conditions were granted in 2019, 2018 or 2017. RSU’s issued and outstanding include time-based vesting

conditions.
Weighted
Weighted average
average remaining
Outstanding stock contractual
options price term (years)
Outstanding balance at January 1, 2017 1,090,126 1.22
RSU granted 229,950 1.50
RSU forfeited (261,606) 0.89
RSU converted into common shares (482,447) 1.72
Outstanding balance at December 31, 2017 576,023 1.13 1.84
RSU/RSA granted 54,811 3.09
RSU forfeited (75,151) 0.91
RSU/RSA converted into common shares (198,306) 1.82
Outstanding balance at December 30, 2018 357377  $ 0.96 1.21
RSU/RSA granted 375,326 3.55
RSU forfeited (25,000) 1.38
RSU/RSA converted into common shares (359,703) 1.54
Outstanding balance at December 29, 2019 348,000 3.16 2.23

During the periods ended December 29, 2019, December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense
and a corresponding increase in additional paid in capital of $501, $250, and $357, respectively, with respect to RSUs and RSAs.
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Financial Instruments and Risks
Interest Rate Risk

The Company borrows money under the PNC Facility. The PNC Facility has a term ending on November 8, 2023. Advances made under the PNC
Facility bear interest at the U.S. base rate plus an applicable margin ranging from 0.75% to 1.25%, or LIBOR plus an applicable margin ranging from 2.50% to
3.00%. The base commercial lending rate should approximate U.S. prime rate. The base commercial lending rate should approximate U.S. prime rate.

The Company also borrows money under the Financing Agreement. The Term Loan A Facility matures on November 8, 2023. The Term Loan A Facility
bears interest LIBOR plus an applicable margin of 8.75% through June 30, 2020, and borrowings under the Financing Agreement will thereafter bear interest at
LIBOR plus an applicable margin ranging from 7.25% to 8.75%. In July 2019, the Company paid the Term Loan B Facility in full. In August 2019, the Company
paid $10,000 off the Term Loan A Facility.

The impact of a 10% change in interest rates would have a significant impact on our reported earnings.

10% increase in interest rate (millions) $ 0.6
0.6)

&>

10% decrease in interest rate (millions)

Derivative Forward Contracts and Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Given the Company’s global business operations, we are exposed to exchange rate fluctuations on expenditures denominated in foreign currencies.
However, most of our sales and component purchases are denominated in U.S. dollars, which limits our foreign currency risk. Our foreign exchange risk relates
primarily to our Canadian and Mexican and payroll, Euro based component purchases and other operating expenses denominated in local currencies in our
geographic locations. To mitigate this risk, the Company has historically entered into forward foreign exchange contracts to reduce its exposure to foreign exchange
currency rate fluctuations related to forecasted Canadian dollar and Mexican peso. There were no outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts at December 29,
2019. The strengthening of the Canadian dollar and Mexican peso would result in an increase in costs to the organization and may lead to a reduction in reported
earnings.

The impact of a 10% change in exchange rates would be estimated to have the following impact on cost of sales for the Company:

10% increase in both the CAD and PESO foreign exchange rates (millions) $ 2.3
10% decrease in both the CAD and PESO foreign exchange rates (millions) $ 2.9)

The Company has historically entered into forward foreign exchange contracts to reduce its exposure to foreign exchange currency rate fluctuations
related to a portion of forecasted Canadian dollar denominated payroll, rent and utility cash flows and Mexican peso denominated payroll, rent and utility cash
flows. These contracts were effective economic hedges, but did not qualify for hedge accounting under ASC 815 “Derivatives and Hedging”. Accordingly, changes
in the fair value of these derivative contracts were recognized into net loss in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss. The Company does
not enter into forward foreign exchange contracts for trading or speculative purposes. The Company had no forward foreign exchange contracts outstanding as at
December 29, 2019.

The unrealized gain recognized in earnings as a result of revaluing the outstanding instruments to fair value on December 29, 2019 was $NIL (2018 —
unrealized gain of $353) (2017 — unrealized gain of $918) which was recorded in cost of sales in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss.
The realized loss on settled contracts during 2019 was $89 (2018 — realized loss $118) (2017 — realized loss $116), which was recorded in cost of sales in the
consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss. Fair value was determined using the market approach with valuation based on market observables
(Level 2 quantitative inputs in the hierarchy set forth under ASC 820 “Fair Value Measurements”).

December 29, December 30,
2019 2018
Average USD:CAD contract rate — N/A
Average USD:CAD mark-to-market rate — N/A
Average USD:PESO contract rate — 20.43
Average USD:PESO mark-to-market rate — 19.66

The derivative asset as at December 29, 2019 was $NIL ($15 as at December 30, 2018) and derivative liability as at December 29, 2019 was $NIL ($Nil
as at December 30, 2018) which reflected the fair market value of the unsettled forward foreign exchange contracts.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are recorded in cost of sales in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss pertaining to translation
of foreign denominated transactions during the period in addition to foreign denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period. A total
aggregate translated foreign exchange loss of $394 was recognized for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019 (December 30, 2018 — loss of $181, December 31,
2017 — gain of $98).
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Credit Risk

In the normal course of operations, there is a risk that a counterparty may default on its contractual obligations to us which would result in a financial loss
that could impact our reported earnings. In order to mitigate this risk, we complete credit approval procedures for new and existing customers and obtain credit
insurance where it is financially viable to do so given anticipated revenue volumes, in addition to monitoring our customers’ financial performance. We believe our
procedures in place to mitigate customer credit risk and the respective allowance for doubtful accounts are adequate. During the fiscal year ended December 29,
2019, the Company recorded an additional provision for bad debt expense of $2,125 million predominantly related to one customer which was serviced out of the
Dongguan China facility and included within restructuring charges. The Company takes measures to reduce credit risk, these charges can have a material impact on
our financial performance.

There is limited risk of financial loss or defaults on our outstanding forward currency contracts as the counterparty to the transactions had a Standard and
Poor’s rating of A- or above as at December 29, 2019.

Liquidity Risk

There is a risk that we may not have sufficient cash available to satisfy our financial obligations as they come due. The financial liabilities we have
recorded in the form of accounts payable, accrued liabilities and other current liabilities are primarily due within 90 days with the exception of the current portion
of finance lease obligations which could exceed 90 days and our PNC Facility which utilizes a lock-box to pay down the obligation effectively daily. As at
December 29, 2019, the Company’s liquidity was comprised of $1,368 in cash on hand and $21,644 of funds available to borrow under the PNC Facility. We
believe that cash flow from operations, together with cash on hand and our PNC Facility, which had $21,644 of funds available as at December 29, 2019 is
sufficient to fund our financial obligations. However, availability under the PNC Facility is subject to certain conditions, including borrowing base conditions based
on eligible inventory and accounts receivable, as determined by the lender.

On July 3, 2019, the Company used the net proceeds from the Rights Offering to repay the $12,000 of borrowings outstanding under its Term Loan B
Facility. On August 8, 2019, the Company repaid an additional $10,000 of the portion of borrowings outstanding under its Term Loan A Facility, which was
funded through the use of our PNC Facility.

Fair Value Measurement

The carrying values of the Company’s cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities due within one-year approximate fair values due
to the short-term maturity of these instruments. The Company’s financial instruments at December 29, 2019, are comprised of the following:

As at December 29, 2019 As at December 30, 2018
Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated
Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Level 1
Cash $ 1,368 1,368 § 1,601 $ 1,601
Level 2
Derivative assets — — 15 15
Revolving credit facility 34,701 34,701 25,020 25,020
Current and long term debt 35,000 38,750 57,407 62,000
Warrant liability 1,730 1,730 2,009 2,009
Level 3
Contingent consideration — — 3,050 3,050
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Income taxes

The Company recorded the following income tax expense for the years ended December 29, 2019:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 29, December 30, December 31,
2019 2018 2017
Current:
Federal/State $ 39 $ 102§ 18
Foreign 987 650 621
948 752 639
Deferred:
Federal — _ _
Foreign (160) (75) (79)
(160) (75) (79)
Income tax expense $ 788 § 677 $ 560

The overall income tax expense as recorded in the consolidated statements of operations varied from the tax expense calculated using U.S. federal and

state income tax rates as follows for the years ended December 29, 2019:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 29, December 30, December 31,
2019 2018 2017
Federal income tax expense (recovery) $ (1,093) $ 48 3 (2,550)
State income tax expense (recovery), net of federal tax benefit 199 24 26
Change in income tax rates due to tax reform — — 7,944
Loss (income) of foreign subsidiaries taxed at different rates 14 586 333
Change in valuation allowance 3,249 (61) (6,146)
Foreign tax credit 113 869 302
Reassessment of losses by tax authority — — —
Deemed income inclusion of foreign subsidiary 203 170 79
Expiry of operating loss carry forwards 19 226 441
Permanent and other differences (1,916) (1,185) 131
Income tax expense $ 788 677 § 560
For income tax purposes, income (loss) before income taxes consisted of the following for the years ended December 29, 2019:
Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 29, December 30, December 31,
2019 2018 2017

Domestic (U.S.) $ (1,969) $ 1,569 $ (6,089)
Foreign (Non U.S.) (3,238) (1,340) (1,196)

$ (5,207) $ 229 § (7,285)
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. The Company’s deferred income tax liabilities and assets are comprised of the following at:

December 29, December 30,
2019 2018
Deferred income tax assets - net:
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 19,646 $ 20,451
Interest deduction carry forwards 2,907 1,568
Capital loss carryforwards 3,563 3,563
Tax credit carryforwards 4310 4911
Property, plant and equipment and other assets (3,981) (5,089)
Reserves, allowances and accruals 4314 2,056
Other 1,255 1,145
32,014 28,605
Valuation allowance (31,474) (28,225)
Net deferred income tax assets $ 540§ 380

At December 29, 2019, the Company had total net operating loss (“NOL”) carry forwards of $106,977 of which $78,727, $23,398 and $4,852 pertains to
loss carry forwards from U.S., Canadian and Asian jurisdictions respectively. Net operating loss carryforwards of $8,545 will expire between 2022 and 2024,
$36,275 will expire between 2025 and 2030, $42,853 will expire between 2031 and 2036, $15,811 will expire between 2037 and 3039, and the remainder of
$3,493 is available for indefinite carryforward.

Prior to its acquisition by the Company, MCA had NOL carry forwards of $15,300. Pursuant to Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, MCA’s
"ownership change" on November 8, 2018, within the meaning of this Section, resulted in limits on the Company's ability to utilize these losses. Management has
determined NOL utilization to be limited to $3,909 annually, and believes that sufficient losses are otherwise available such that there is little, if any, adverse tax
consequence of this limitation.

At December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, the Company had no gross unrecognized tax benefits associated with uncertain tax positions.

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("TCJA") was enacted, which includes a broad range of tax reform proposals, with many provisions
significantly differing from current U.S. tax law. Management has considered the impact of these provisions, including a decrease in the federal corporate income
tax rate, from 35% to 21% for years beginning after December 31, 2017, substantially reducing the value of the Company's deferred tax assets. The Company has
recorded a corresponding reduction to its deferred tax asset of $7,944 as at December 31, 2017. The reduction in the Company's deferred tax assets is fully offset
by a corresponding reduction to the valuation allowance.
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10. Loss per share

The following table details the weighted average number of shares outstanding for the purposes of computing basic and diluted loss per share for:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 29, December 30, December 31,
Number of common shares 2019 2018 2017
Basic weighted average shares outstanding 25,745,499 19,176,198 16,788,231
Dilutive stock awards (a) (b) — — —
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 25,745,499 19,176,198 16,788,231

(a) Dilutive stock awards include outstanding RSUs, in-the money stock options and outstanding exercisable warrants determined using the treasury stock method.

(b) For the periods ended December 29, 2019, December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, as a result of a net loss for the periods, dilutive earnings per share was
calculated using the basic weighted average shares outstanding as the effect of potential common shares would have been anti-dilutive. Had there been net earnings,
dilutive stock awards would have been calculated as 1,284,682 for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019 (1,331,226 for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2018
and 608,102 for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017).
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Segmented information
General description

In 2019 the Company operated and managed by geographic region which are the United States, Mexico and China which are our operating and reportable
segments. During the fourth quarter of 2019 the Company ceased manufacturing in China and began to relocate the equipment used at our Chinese manufacturing
facility to our other North American sites. We utilize each reportable segment’s contribution (revenue minus operating expenses, excluding unrealized foreign
exchange gain (loss) on unsettled forward foreign exchange contracts, corporate allocations and restructuring expenses) to monitor reportable segment performance.
Contribution by country is utilized by the chief operating decision-maker (defined as the Chief Executive Officer) as the indicator of reportable segment
performance, as it reflects costs which our operating segment management are directly responsible for. Intersegment adjustments reflect intersegment sales that are
generally recorded at prices that approximate arm’s-length transactions.

In assessing the performance of the reportable segments, management attributes site revenue to the reportable segment that ships the product to the
customer, irrespective of the product’s destination. Information about the reportable segments is as follows:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 29, December 30, December 31,
2019 2018 2017
Revenue
U.s. $ 118,240 $ 42,994 § 21,269
Mexico 237,213 155,261 99,577
China 32,580 29,257 27,349
Total $ 388,033 § 227,512 § 148,195
Intersegment revenue
U.sS. $ (553) $ (1,213) $ (255)
Mexico (1,407) (2,459) (13)
China (13,562) (7,709) (8,696)
Total $ (15,522) $ (11,381) $ (8,964)
Net external revenue
U.s. $ 117,687 $ 41,781 § 21,014
Mexico 235,806 152,802 99,564
China 19,018 21,548 18,653
Total segment revenue (which also equals consolidated revenue) $ 372,511 $ 216,131 § 139,231
Segment contribution
U.s. $ 8,072 § 1,434 § (1,794)
Mexico 20,356 13,851 7,515
China 4,743 1,792 (1,115)
Total $ 33,171  $ 17,077 $ 4,606
Corporate expenses 23,190 13,801 10,174
Change in fair value of warrant liability (279) 111 -
Change in fair value of contingent consideration (3,050) - -
Unrealized foreign exchange gain on unsettled forward exchange contracts - (353) (918)
Restructuring charges 7,955 172 1,732
Interest expense 10,562 3,117 903
(Loss) earnings before income taxes $ (5.207) § 229 § (7,285)
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Year ended December 29, 2019 Mexico U.S. China Total
Market Sector:
Test and Measurement $ 77,644 38,550 2,448 118,642
Retail and Payment Systems 46,070 — — 46,070
Telecom, Networking and Communications 15,616 7,349 14,222 37,187
Medical and Safety 32,360 12,429 736 45,525
Industrial, Power and Clean Technology 41,142 34,614 1,612 77,368
Semiconductors 22,974 16 — 22,990
Avionics, Aerospace and Defense — 24,729 — 24,729
Segment Revenue 235,806 117,687 19,018 372,511
Revenue by category Mexico U.S. China Total
Point in time $ 2,374 7,894 1,065 11,333
Over time 233,432 109,793 17,953 361,178
Total Revenue 235,806 117,687 19,018 372,511
Year ended December 30, 2018 Mexico U.S. China Total
Market Sector:
Test and Measurement $ 23,068 22,752 - 45,820
Retail and Payment Systems 40,987 584 5 41,576
Telecom, Networking and Communications 13,467 5,180 18,730 37,377
Medical and Safety 25,977 4,126 1,278 31,381
Industrial, Power and Clean Technology 22,690 4,089 1,535 28,314
Semiconductors 26,613 9 - 26,622
Avionics, Aerospace and Defense - 5,041 - 5,041
Segment Revenue 152,802 41,781 21,548 216,131
Revenue by category Mexico U.S. China Total
Point in time $ 448 3,530 84 4,062
Over time 152,354 38,251 21,464 212,069
Total Revenue 152,802 41,781 21,548 216,131
Year ended December 31, 2017 Mexico U.S. China Total
Market Sector:
Test and Measurement $ 12,095 14,250 - 26,345
Retail and Payment Systems 33,637 - - 33,637
Telecom, Networking and Communications 11,031 4,873 9,309 25213
Medical and Safety 15,673 615 2,557 18,845
Industrial, Power and Clean Technology 5,671 1,276 6,787 13,734
Semiconductors 21,457 - - 21,457
Segment Revenue 99,564 21,014 18,653 139,231
Revenue by category Mexico U.S. China Total
Point in time $ 1,515 5,034 116 6,665
Over time 98,049 15,980 18,537 132,566
Total Revenue 99,564 21,014 18,653 139,231
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Capital expenditures:

The following table contains additions including those acquired through finance leases, to property, plant and equipment for 2019, 2018 and 2017:

U.S.

Mexico

China

Segment total
Corporate and other
Total

Segment assets:

Property, plant and equipment (a)
U.S.
Mexico
China
Segment total
Corporate and other

Total

Other long term segment assets (b)
U.S.
Mexico
China
Segment total
Corporate and other

Total

Total segment assets (a)
U.S.
Mexico
China
Segment total
Corporate and other

Total

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 29, December 30, December 31,
2019 2018 2017

1,217 1,049 499

2,461 4,328 480

155 208 145

3,833 5,585 1,124

23 118 123

3,856 5,703 1,247

December 29,

December 30,

2019 2018
16,904 15,013
10,970 11,851
670 1,153
28,544 28,017
96 143
28,640 28,160
9,273 11,429
22,179 27,051
31,452 38,480
859 668
32,311 39,148
112,789 117,322
93,349 89,274
6,694 13,723
212,832 220,319
547 707
213,379 221,226

(a) Property, plant and equipment information is based on the principal location of the asset. This includes operating lease right of use assets.

(b) Includes Goodwill, Intangible assets, deferred income taxes and deferred financing costs.
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12.

Geographic revenue:

The following table contains geographic revenue based on our customer invoicing location:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 29, December 30, December 31,
2019 2018 2017
U.S. $ 346,757 $ 175,402 $ 108,783
Canada 17,206 27,053 19,986
China 8,548 13,676 4,961
Africa — — 5,501
Total $ 372,511  § 216,131 § 139,231

Significant customers and concentration of credit risk

Sales of the Company’s products are concentrated among specific customers in the same industry. The Company requires collateral only from new
customers with insufficient credit until such time as credit insurance can be obtained. The Company is subject to concentrations of credit risk in trade receivables
and mitigates this risk through ongoing credit evaluation of customers and maintaining credit insurance. The Company considers concentrations of credit risk in
establishing the allowance for doubtful accounts and believes the recorded allowances are adequate.

The Company expects to continue to depend upon a relatively small number of customers for a significant percentage of its revenue. In addition to having
a limited number of customers, the Company manufactures a limited number of products for each customer. If the Company loses any of its largest customers or
any product line manufactured for one of its largest customers, it could experience a significant reduction in revenue. Also, the insolvency of one or more of its
largest customers or the inability of one or more of its largest customers to pay for its orders could decrease future revenue. As many costs and operating expenses
are relatively fixed, a reduction in net revenue can decrease profit margins and adversely affect business, financial condition and results of operations.

During the year ended December 29, 2019, one customer comprised 12.8% of revenue. At December 29, 2019, one customer comprised 10% of the
Company’s trade accounts receivable. No other customers individually represented more than 10% of total revenue or trade accounts receivable.

During the year ended December 30, 2018, one customer comprised 11% of revenue from across all geographic segments. At December 30, 2018, two
customers comprised 21% (11% and 10%, respectively) of the Company’s trade accounts receivable. No other customers individually represented more than 10%
of trade accounts receivable.

During the year ended December 31, 2017, two customers each comprised 12% of revenue from across all geographic segments. At December 31, 2017,
three customers comprised 40% (14%, 14% and 12%, respectively) of the Company’s trade accounts receivable. No other customers individually represented more
than 10% of trade accounts receivable.

Commitments and contingencies
Contingencies

The General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware allows a corporation to eliminate the personal liability of directors to the corporation or to any of
its stockholders for monetary damages for a breach of his fiduciary duty as a director, except in the case where the director breached his duty of loyalty, failed to act
in good faith, engaged in intentional misconduct or knowingly violated a law, authorized the payment of a dividend or approved a stock repurchase in violation of
Delaware corporate law or obtained an improper personal benefit. The Company has entered into indemnification agreements with each director, which provide
that the Company shall, subject to certain exceptions, indemnify and pay, advance or reimburse the costs of defense of such person who is made party to a
proceeding by reason of their indemnified capacities. Each indemnified party agrees to repay any payment, advance or reimbursement of expenses made by the
Company to such person if it is determined, following the final disposition of the claim, that the person is not entitled to indemnification by the Company with
respect to a claim for which indemnification was obtained.

The nature of the indemnification prevents the Company from making a reasonable estimate of the maximum potential amount it could be required to pay
to counterparties. The Company has purchased directors” and officers’ liability insurance. No amount has been accrued in the consolidated balance sheet as at
December 29, 2019 with respect to this indemnity.

In the normal course of business, the Company may be subject to litigation and claims from customers, suppliers and former employees. Management
believes that adequate provisions have been recorded in the accounts, where required. Although it is not possible to estimate the extent of potential costs, if any,
management believes that the ultimate resolution of such contingencies would not have a material adverse effect on the financial position, results of operations and
cash flows of the Company.

Purchase Obligations

Purchase obligations not recorded on the balance sheet as at December 29, 2019 consist of insurance installments of $430 to be paid during 2020
(December 30, 2018 - $215) (December 31, 2017 - $169).

Purchase obligations not recorded on the balance sheet as at December 29, 2019 consist of open non-cancellable purchase orders for raw materials for
$27,959 to be paid during calendar year 2020 (December 30, 2018 - $39,951) (December 31, 2017 - $14,391).
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13.

14.

15.

Defined contribution pension plan and post-employment benefit plan

The Company has a 401K plan which is accounted for as a defined contribution plan for certain U.S. employees, whereby the Company matches a portion
of employee contributions. Company contributions to the 401K plan were $469, $139 and $125 for the years ended December 29, 2019, December 30, 2018 and
December 31, 2017, respectively.

The Company has certain post-employment benefits related to employees in its Mexico, Chihuahua facility. These benefit plans are only available to local
employees and are generally government mandated. The liability related to the unfunded benefit obligations was $458 and $275 as at December 29, 2019 and
December 30, 2018 respectively, which was classified within accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet.

Restructuring Charges
Dongguan facility closure:

In September 2019, the Company announced it plans to close its Dongguan manufacturing facility in China, concurrent with the expiry of the facility lease
in December 2019, which was extended to February 2020. The closure was formally approved by the Board of Directors in September 2019. The closure of the
Dongguan manufacturing facility resulted in a reduced labor force by approximately 137 employees. The employee group was notified of the closure in the last
week of September 2019. The closure of the Dongguan facility and majority of the cash outflows associated with the $2,037 included within the restructuring
liability for severance and other exit costs is anticipated to be substantially completed by the end of the first quarter of 2020. Manufacturing by the Company of
certain products previously manufactured at the Dongguan Facility will be transferred to the Company’s other manufacturing facilities. A restructuring charge of
$5,000 was recorded in the twelve months ended December 29, 2019 relating to the announced planned closure.

Other restructuring charges:

During 2019 involuntary employee termination benefit costs of $2,955 pursuant to one time termination plans were incurred related to the reduction of 47
full-time equivalents (“FTEs”) in U.S, 8 full-time equivalents (“FTEs”) in Markham, Canada and 630 FTEs and contract employees in Mexico.

Twelve months ended

December 29, December 30,
2019 2018
Dongguan facility closure:
Involuntary employee termination benefits $ 997 $ -
Other exit costs 1,040
Allowance for doubtful accounts receivables (note 4) 2,046 -
Provision for obsolete raw material inventories (note 4) 759 -
Write down of property, plant and equipment (note 4) 158 -
5,000 -
Other involuntary employee termination benefits (U.S., Canada and Mexico) 2,955 172
Total restructuring charges 7,955 172
Restructuring Liability:
Termination benefits
and other exit costs

Balance as at December 31, 2018 $ 10

Involuntary employee termination benefits 4,134

Other exit costs 1,040

Payments—Dongguan severance (660)

Payments- (U.S., Canada and Mexico) (2,736)

Amounts reversed unutilized 191)

At December 29, 2019 $ 1,597

Related Party Transactions
The Company incurred Directors’ fees of $220 for the years ended December 29, 2019, December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017. The Company
incurred stock based compensation expense related to stock based awards for Directors of $111, $106 and $110 for the years ended December 29, 2019, December

30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. These charges were included in selling, general and administrative expenses.
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16.

Acquisition of MC Assembly

On November 8, 2018 (the “Acquisition Date”), SMTC entered a Stock Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”), to purchase all of the issued and
outstanding shares of capital stock of MC Assembly Holdings, Inc. (“MC Assembly” or “MC”). The MC acquisition includes an initial purchase price of $63,498
plus contingent consideration payable of up to $5,000 by the Company upon the achievement of certain performance milestones. The Purchase Agreement and the
MC acquisition were unanimously approved by the Board of Directors of the Company, and closed on November 8, 2018.

The table below represents the fair value of the total purchase price consideration:

Purchase price — cash $ 63,498
Contingent consideration payable 3,050
Working capital adjustment - cash 1,052
Total purchase consideration $ 67,600

The contingent consideration is based upon the achievement of certain performance milestones determined after the completion of the Company’s first
fiscal quarter of 2019. The contingent consideration is estimated based on forecasted results, and may change upon the resolution of the contingency at the end of
the Company’s first quarter of 2019. The key assumptions in valuing the contingent consideration include: estimated projected adjusted earnings before interest,
depreciation and taxes for MC Assembly on a trailing twelve months ended March 31, 2019 and a discount rate of 13.5%. As at December 30, 2018, there was no
change in the fair value of the contingent consideration, based on the forecasted results for the first quarter of 2019. The contingent consideration fair value is
sensitive to adjustments in results as it is based on a formula which includes a multiple of earnings. The initial working capital adjustment of $1,052 was cash
settled on the Acquisition Date.

During the third quarter of 2019, the fair value of the contingent consideration liability was determined to be nil resulting in the recognition of a gain of
$3,050. The contingent consideration liability was initially recognized at fair value in the fourth quarter and relates to a contingent earn-out payment associated with
the acquisition of MC Assembly. Fair value estimate under purchase accounting of $3,050 was derived from a multiple of earnings based on MC Assembly’s
forecasted twelve month earnings for the period ended March 31, 2019. Based on actual earnings, the contingent consideration liability was considered resolved and
no longer payable as at March 31, 2019.

The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the Acquisition Date:

Fair Value

Fair value consideration transferred $ 67,600
Assets
Accounts receivable 19,863
Inventories 22,813
Unbilled contract assets 12,136
Prepaids and other assets 2,523
Property, plant and equipment 16,030
Intangible assets 21,000
Goodwill 18,165
Total assets 112,530
Liabilities
Accounts payable 27,795
Accrued liabilities 3,297
Contingent consideration 3,050
Capital lease obligation 10,788
Total liabilities 44,930
Net assets acquired 67,600

The goodwill recognized is attributable primarily to expected synergies and the assembled workforce of MC Assembly and was allocated to the Mexico
and US operating segments of the combined SMTC and MC Assembly business. None of the goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. Changes to
SMTC and MC Assembly combined deferred tax assets and liabilities as a result of the purchase price allocation is fully offset by a corresponding net reduction to
its valuation allowance.
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The Company recognized $1,676 of acquisition related costs that were expensed during the period and included in selling, general and administrative
expenses in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss. The Company also incurred $3,519 costs related to financing the transaction. Fees
incurred for the long-term debt facility (note 6) were $2,831 and have been recorded as a contra debt amount against the long-term debt balance on the consolidated
balance sheet. Fees incurred for the PNC Revolving Credit Facility were $688 and have been recorded as a deferred financing cost asset on the consolidated
balance sheet. These costs are amortized to interest expense over the term of the debt and included in interest expense in the consolidated statement of operations
and comprehensive loss.

The Company identified the following intangible assets and corresponding useful lives:

Estimated

useful life
Intangible Assets (years)
Customer relationships 12,350 10
Order backlog 6,990 1.5
Trade name 1,300 1
Non-compete agreements 360 2

Total intangible assets 21,000

Amortization expense of $1,065 has been included in the cost of sales in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss pertaining to the
acquired intangible assets for the period ended December 30, 2018.

The following summary of MC Assembly’s select financial results included in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive
loss from the Acquisition Date to December 30, 2018 are as follows:

Period ended
December 30,
2018
Revenue $ 23,530
Net income 1,667

The following summary of unaudited select pro forma financial results as if MC Assembly had been included in the consolidated results of the Company
for the years ended December 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017:

Year ended Year ended
December 30, December 31,
2018 2017
Pro forma revenue $ 345,194 $ 281,493
Pro forma net loss (11,044) (16,682)

These amounts have been calculated after applying the Company’s accounting policies and including the impacts of the purchase price adjustments.
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Exhibit 3.1

SMTC CORPORATION
FIFTH AMENDED AND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

ARTICLE I

The name of the Corporation is “SMTC Corporation”.

ARTICLE II

The registered office of this corporation in the State of Delaware is located at 1013 Centre Road, in the City of Wilmington, County of New Castle. The name of its
registered agent at such address is Corporation Service Company.

ARTICLE III

The purpose of this Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which corporations may be organized under the General Corporation Law of the State of
Delaware (the “DGCL”).

ARTICLE IV

The total number of shares of all classes of stock which the Corporation shall have authority to issue is 31,000,000 shares, consisting of (i) 26,000,000 shares of
Common Stock, $0.01 par value per share (“Common Stock™), and (ii) 5,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value per share (‘Preferred Stock”).

The following is a statement of the designations and the powers, privileges and rights, and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof in respect of each class
of capital stock of the Corporation.

1.

A.

Common Stock.

General. Subject to the powers, preferences and rights of any Preferred Stock, including any series thereof, having any preference or priority over, or rights
superior to, the Common Stock and except as otherwise provided by law and this Article, the holders of the Common Stock shall have and possess all powers
and voting and other rights pertaining to the stock of the corporation and each share of Common Stock shall be entitled to one vote. Except as otherwise
provided by the DGCL or this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, the holders of record of Common Stock shall share ratably in all dividends
payable in cash, stock or otherwise and other distributions, whether in respect of liquidation or dissolution (voluntary or involuntary) or otherwise. The holders
of the Common Stock shall have no preemptive rights to subscribe for any shares of any class of stock of this Corporation whether now or hereafter authorized.

Voting. The holders of the Common Stock are entitled to one vote for each share of Common Stock held at all meetings of stockholders. There shall be no
cumulative voting.

Number. The number of authorized shares of Common Stock may be increased or decreased (but not below the number of shares thereof then outstanding) by
the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the stock of the Corporation entitled to vote, irrespective of the provisions of Section 242(b)(2) of the DGCL.




D.  Dividends. Dividends may be declared and paid on the Common Stock from funds lawfully available therefor as and when determined by the Board of
Directors and subject to any preferential dividend rights of any then outstanding Preferred Stock.

E.  Liquidation. Upon the dissolution or liquidation of the Corporation, whether voluntary or involuntary, holders of Common Stock will be entitled to receive all
assets of the Corporation available for distribution to its stockholders, subject to any preferential rights of any then outstanding Preferred Stock.

2. Preferred Stock.

Preferred Stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series, each of such series to have such terms as stated or expressed herein and in the resolution or
resolutions providing for the issue of such series adopted by the Board of Directors of the Corporation as hereinafter provided. Any shares of Preferred Stock which may be
redeemed, purchased or acquired by the Corporation may be reissued except as otherwise provided by law or this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.
Different series of Preferred Stock shall not be construed to constitute different classes of shares for the purposes of voting by classes unless expressly provided in the
resolution or resolutions providing for the issue of such series adopted by the Board of Directors as hereinafter provided.

Authority is hereby expressly granted to the Board of Directors from time to time to issue the Preferred Stock in one or more series, and in connection with the
creation of any such series, by resolution or resolutions providing for the issue of the shares thereof, to determine and fix such voting powers, full or limited, or no voting
powers, and such designations, preferences and relative participating, optional or other special rights, and qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, including without
limitation thereof, dividend rights, conversion rights, redemption privileges and liquidation preferences, as shall be stated and expressed in such resolutions, all to the full
extent now or hereafter permitted by the DGCL. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the resolutions providing for issuance of any series of Preferred Stock may
provide that such series shall be superior or rank equally or be junior to the Preferred Stock of any other series to the extent permitted by law and this Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation. Except as otherwise provided in this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, no vote of the holders of the Preferred Stock or
Common Stock shall be a prerequisite to the designation or issuance of any shares of any series of the Preferred Stock authorized by and complying with the conditions of
this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, the right to have such vote being expressly waived by all present and future holders of the capital stock of the
Corporation.

ARTICLE V
The Corporation shall have a perpetual existence.
ARTICLE VI
In furtherance of and not in limitation of the powers conferred by statute, the Board of Directors is expressly authorized to adopt, amend or repeal the By-Laws of this

Corporation, subject to the right of the stockholders entitled to vote with respect thereto to alter and repeal the By-Laws adopted or amended by the Board of Directors.
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ARTICLE V11

Except to the extent that the DGCL prohibits the elimination or limitation of liability of directors for breaches of fiduciary duty, no director of the Corporation shall
be personally liable to the Corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for any breach of fiduciary duty as a director, notwithstanding any provision of law
imposing such liability. No amendment to or repeal of this provision shall apply to or have any effect on the liability or alleged liability of any director of the Corporation for
or with respect to any acts or omissions of such director occurring prior to such amendment.

ARTICLE VIII

1. Indemnification. The Corporation shall, to the maximum extent permitted under the DGCL and except as set forth below, indemnify, hold harmless and, upon
request, advance expenses to each person (and the heirs, executors or administrators of such person) who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to
any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, by reason of the fact that he or she is or
was, or has agreed to become, a director or officer of the Corporation, or is or was serving, or has agreed to serve, at the request of the Corporation, as a
director, officer or trustee of, or in a similar capacity with, another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, including any employee
benefit plan (any such person being referred to hereafter as an “Indemnitee”), or by reason of any action alleged to have been taken or omitted in such capacity,
against all expenses (including attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by him or her or on his or her
behalf in connection with such action, suit or proceeding and any appeal therefrom, if he or she acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably
believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the Corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to
believe his or her conduct was unlawful. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Article, the Corporation shall not indemnify an Indemnitee seeking
indemnification in connection with any action, suit, proceeding, claim or counterclaim, or part thereof, initiated by the Indemnitee unless the initiation thereof
was approved by the Board of Directors of the Corporation.

2. Advance of Expenses. Notwithstanding any other provisions, this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, the By-Laws of the Corporation, or any
agreement, vote of stockholder or disinterested directors, or arrangement to the contrary, the Corporation shall advance payment of expenses incurred by an
Indemnitee in advance of the final disposition of any matter only upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the Indemnitee to repay all amounts so
advanced in the event that it shall ultimately be determined that the Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified by the Corporation as authorized in this Article.
Such undertaking may be accepted without reference to the financial ability of the Indemnitee to make such repayment.

3. Subsequent Amendment. No amendment, termination or repeal of this Article or of the relevant provisions of the DGCL or any other applicable laws shall affect
or diminish in any way the rights of any Indemnitee to indemnification under the provisions hereof with respect to any action, suit, proceeding or investigation

arising out of or relating to any actions, transactions or facts occurring prior to the final adoption of such amendment, termination or repeal.

4. Other Rights. The Corporation may, to the extent authorized from time to time by its Board of Directors, grant indemnification rights to other employees or
agents of the Corporation or other persons serving the Corporation and such rights may be equivalent to, or greater or less than, those set forth in this Article.
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5. Reliance. Persons who after the date of the adoption of this provision become or remain directors or officers of the Corporation or who, while a director or
officer of the Corporation, become or remain a director, officer, employee or agent of a subsidiary, shall be conclusively presumed to have relied on the rights
to indemnity, advance of expenses and other rights contained in this Article in entering into or continuing such service. The rights to indemnification and to the
advance of expenses conferred in this Article shall apply to claims made against an indemnitee arising out of acts or omissions which occurred or occur both
prior and subsequent to the adoption hereof.

6. Merger or Consolidation. If the Corporation is merged into or consolidated with another corporation and the Corporation is not the surviving corporation, the
surviving corporation shall assume the obligations of the Corporation under this Article with respect to any action, suit, proceeding or investigation arising out
of or relating to any actions, transactions or facts occurring prior to the date of such merger or consolidation.

7. Insurance. The Corporation shall have power to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was, or has agreed to become, a director,
officer, employee or agent of the Corporation, or is or was serving, or has agreed to serve, at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee,
agent or trustee of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, including any employee benefit plan, against all expenses (including
attorney’s fees) judgments, fines or amounts paid in settlement incurred by such person in any such capacity or arising out of his or her status as such, whether
or not the Corporation would have the power to indemnify him or her against such expenses under the DGCL.

8. Savings Clause. If this Article or any portion hereof shall be invalidated on any ground by any court of competent jurisdiction, then the Corporation shall
nevertheless indemnify each Indemnitee as to any expenses, including attorneys’ fees, judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement in connection with any
action, suit, proceeding or investigation, whether civil, criminal or administrative, including an action by or in the right of the Corporation, to the fullest extent
permitted by any applicable portion of this Article that shall not have been invalidated and to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law.

ARTICLE IX
The Corporation reserves the right to amend, alter, change or repeal any provision contained in this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, in the manner

now or hereafter prescribed by statute and this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, and all rights conferred upon stockholders herein are granted subject to
this reservation.

ARTICLE X
This Article is inserted for the management of the business and for the conduct of the affairs of the Corporation.

1. Number of Directors. The number of directors of the Corporation shall not be less than three. The exact number of directors within the limitations specified in
the preceding sentence shall be fixed from time to time by, or in the manner provided in, the By-Laws of the Corporation.

_4-




Election of Directors. Elections of directors need not be by written ballot except as and to the extent provided in the By-Laws of the Corporation.

Terms of Office. Except as provided in Section 6 of this Article X, each director shall serve for a term ending on the date of the annual meeting following the
annual meeting at which such director was elected; provided, however, that the term of each director shall be subject to the election and qualification of his or
her successor and to his or her earlier death, resignation or removal.

Removal. The directors of the Corporation may not be removed without cause and may be removed for cause only by the affirmative vote of the holders of at
least seventy-five percent (75%) of the shares of the capital stock of the Corporation issued and outstanding and entitled to vote generally in the election of
directors cast at a meeting of the stockholders called for that purpose, notwithstanding the fact that a lesser percentage may be specified by law.

Vacancies. Any vacancy in the Board of Directors, however occurring, including a vacancy resulting from an enlargement of the Board, shall be filled only by
vote of a majority of the directors then in office, although less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director. A director elected to fill a vacancy shall be
elected for the unexpired term of his or her predecessor in office, and a director chosen to fill a position resulting from an increase in the number of directors
shall hold office until the next election of the class for which such director shall have been chosen, subject to the election and qualification of his or her
successor and to his or her earlier death, resignation or removal.

Stockholder Nominations and Introduction of Business, Etc. Advance notice of stockholder nominations for election of directors and other business to be
brought by stockholders before either an annual or special meeting of stockholders shall be given in the manner provided by the By-Laws of this Corporation.

ARTICLE XI

Dividends. The Board of Directors shall have authority from time to time to set apart out of any assets of the Corporation otherwise available for dividends a
reserve or reserves as working capital or for any other purpose or purposes, and to abolish or add to any such reserve or reserves from time to time as said board
may deem to be in the interest of the Corporation; and said Board shall likewise have power to determine in its discretion, except as herein otherwise provided,
what part of the assets of the Corporation available for dividends in excess of such reserve or reserves shall be declared in dividends and paid to the
stockholders of the Corporation.

Issuance of Stock. The shares of all classes of stock of the Corporation may be issued by the Corporation from time to time for such consideration as from time
to time may be fixed by the Board of Directors of the Corporation, provided that shares of stock having a par value shall not be issued for a consideration less
than such par value, as determined by the Board. At any time, or from time to time, the Corporation may grant rights or options to purchase from the
Corporation any shares of its stock of any class or classes to run for such period of time, for such consideration, upon such terms and conditions, and in such
form as the Board of Directors may determine. The Board of Directors shall have authority, as provided by law, to determine that only a part of the
consideration which shall be received by the Corporation for the shares of its stock which it shall issue from time to time, shall be capital; provided, however,
that, if all the shares issued shall be shares having a par value, the amount of the part of such consideration so determined to be capital shall be equal to the
aggregate par value of such shares. The excess, if any, at any time, of the total net assets of the Corporation over the amount so determined to be capital, as
aforesaid, shall be surplus. All classes of stock of the Corporation shall be and remain at all times nonassessable.
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The Board of Directors is hereby expressly authorized, in its discretion, in connection with the issuance of any obligations or stock of the Corporation (but
without intending hereby to limit its general power so to do in other cases), to grant rights or options to purchase stock of the Corporation of any class upon such
terms and during such period as the Board of Directors shall determine, and to cause such rights to be evidenced by such warrants or other instruments as it may
deem advisable.

3. Inspection of Books and Records. The Board of Directors shall have power from time to time to determine to what extent and at what times and places and
under what conditions and regulations the accounts and books of the Corporation, or any of them, shall be open to the inspection of the stockholders; and no
stockholder shall have any right to inspect any account or book or document of the Corporation, except as conferred by the laws of the State of Delaware, unless
and until authorized so to do by resolution of the Board of Directors or of the stockholders of the Corporation.

4. Location of Meetings, Books and Records. Except as otherwise provided in the By-laws, the stockholders of the Corporation and the Board of Directors may
hold their meetings and have an office or offices outside of the State of Delaware and, subject to the provisions of the laws of said State, may keep the books of
the Corporation outside of said State at such places as may, from time to time, be designated by the Board of Directors or by the By-laws of this Corporation.

ARTICLE XII

At any time during which a class of capital stock of this Corporation is registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or any similar successor
statute, stockholders of the Corporation may not take any action by written consent in lieu of a meeting.

ARTICLE XIII

Special meetings of stockholders may be called at any time by only the Chairman of the Board of Directors, a Chief Executive Officer (or, if there is no Chief
Executive Officer, a President) or by the Board of Directors of the Corporation pursuant to a resolution adopted by the affirmative vote of a majority of the total number of
directors then in office, and (up to twice in any calendar year) shall also be called by the President or Secretary at the request in writing of a majority of the Board of
Directors or the holders of not less than ten percent (10%) of the outstanding capital stock of the Corporation entitled to vote. Such written request shall state the purpose or
purposes of the proposed meeting. Upon receipt of such written request, the President or Secretary shall call a special meeting of stockholders to be held at the offices of the
Corporation or at a location, at the Corporation’s discretion, that is reasonable and convenient, at such date and time as the President or Secretary may fix, such meeting to
be held not less than ten (10) nor more than sixty (60) days after the receipt of such written request. Any business transacted at any special meeting of stockholders shall be
limited to matters relating to the purpose or purposes stated in the notice of meeting.
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ARTICLE XIV

The Board of Directors of this Corporation, when evaluating any offer of another party to make a tender or exchange offer for any equity security of the Corporation,
shall, in connection with the exercise of its judgment in determining what is in the best interests of the Corporation as a whole, be authorized to give due consideration to any
such factors as the Board of Directors determines to be relevant, including without limitation: (i) the interests of the stockholders of the Corporation; (ii) whether the
proposed transaction might violate federal or state laws; and (iii) not only the consideration being offered in the proposed transaction, in relation of the then current market
price for the outstanding capital stock of the Corporation, but also to the market price for the capital stock of the Corporation over a period of years, the estimated price that
might be achieved in a negotiated sale of the Corporation as a whole or in part or through orderly liquidation, the premiums over market price for the securities of other
corporations in similar transactions, current political, economic and other factors bearing on securities prices and the Corporation’s financial condition and future prospects.

In connection with any such evaluation, the Board of Directors is authorized to conduct such investigations and to engage in such legal proceedings as the Board of
Directors may determine.

ARTICLE XV

The Corporation expressly elects to be governed by Section 203 of the DGCL.




CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT OF
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
SMTC CORPORATION

The undersigned does hereby certify on behalf of SMTC Corporation, a corporation organized and existing under and by virtue of the General Corporation Law of
the State of Delaware (the “Corporation™), as follows:

FIRST: That at a meeting of the Board of Directors of the Corporation on June 15, 2018, resolutions were duly adopted setting forth a proposed amendment
(“Amendment”) to the Fifth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, as originally filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on
August 28, 2014 (the “Certificate of Incorporation”), declaring the Amendment to be advisable and calling for the Amendment to be submitted to the stockholders of the
Company for approval at the Company’s next annual meeting of stockholders. The resolution setting forth the Amendment is as follows:

“NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board hereby approves an amendment to the Company’s certificate of incorporation to remove Article X,
Section 4 of the Company’s certificate of incorporation.”

SECOND: That thereafter, on August 7, 2018, the Corporation held its annual meeting of stockholders, in accordance with Section 211 of the General Corporation
Law of the State of Delaware, at which meeting the necessary number of shares as required by statute were voted in favor of the Amendment.

THIRD: That Article X, Section 4 of the Certificate of Incorporation is hereby deleted in its entirety, and all other provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation
shall remain in full force and effect.

FOURTH: That pursuant to Section 242 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware the Amendment was duly adopted.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned hereby further declares and certifies under penalty of perjury that the facts set forth in this Certificate of Amendment
are true and correct to his own knowledge, and that this certificate is his own act and deed.

Executed on December 12, 2018.

By: /s/ Edward Smith

Name: Edward Smith
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer




CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT OF
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
SMTC CORPORATION

The undersigned does hereby certify on behalf of SMTC Corporation, a corporation organized and existing under and by virtue of the General Corporation Law of
the State of Delaware (the “Corporation™), as follows:

FIRST: That at a meeting of the Board of Directors of the Corporation on March 13, 2019, resolutions were duly adopted setting forth a proposed amendment
(“Amendment”) to the Fifth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, as originally filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on
August 28, 2014, as amended on December 12, 2018 (the “Certificate of Incorporation”), declaring the Amendment to be advisable and calling for the Amendment to be
submitted to the stockholders of the Company for approval at the Company’s next annual meeting of stockholders.

SECOND: That thereafter, on May 9, 2019, the Corporation held its annual meeting of stockholders, in accordance with Section 211 of the General Corporation
Law of the State of Delaware, at which meeting the necessary number of shares as required by statute were voted in favor of the Amendment.

THIRD: That the first paragraph of Article IV of the Certificate of Incorporation is hereby amended and restated in its entirety, as follows:

“The total number of shares of all classes of stock which the Corporation shall have the authority to issue is 43,750,000 shares, consisting of (i) 38,750,000 shares of
common stock, $0.01 par value per share (“Common Stock™), and (ii) 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.01 par value per share (“Preferred Stock™).”

FOURTH: That all other provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation shall remain in full force and effect.

FIFTH: That pursuant to Section 242 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware the Amendment was duly adopted.
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IN WITNESS WHEREQOF, the undersigned hereby further declares and certifies under penalty of perjury that the facts set forth in this Certificate of Amendment
are true and correct to his own knowledge, and that this certificate is his own act and deed.
Executed on May 9, 2019.

By: /s/ Edward Smith
Name: Edward Smith
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 3.2
SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED
BY-LAWS
OF

SMTC CORPORATION

ARTICLE 1 - OFFICES
1.1  Registered Offices. The registered office of SMTC Corporation (the “Corporation”) in the State of Delaware shall be located at 1013 Centre Road, in the
City of Wilmington, County of New Castle. The name of the Corporation’s registered agent at such address shall be Corporation Service Company. The registered office

and/or registered agent of the Corporation may be changed from time to time by action of the Board of Directors.

1.2 Other offices. The Corporation may also have offices at such other places both within and without the State of Delaware as the Board of Directors may from
time to time determine or the business of the Corporation may require.

1.3 Books. The books of the Corporation may be kept within or without of the State of Delaware as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine or
the business of the Corporation may require.

ARTICLE 2 - STOCKHOLDERS

2.1  Place of Meetings. All meetings of stockholders shall be held at such place within or without the State of Delaware as may be designated from time to time
by the Board of Directors or a Chief Executive Officer (or, if there is no Chief Executive Officer, a President) or, if not so designated, at the registered office of the
Corporation.

2.2 Annual Meeting. The annual meeting of stockholders for the election of directors and for the transaction of such other business as may properly be brought
before the meeting shall be held within six months after the end of each fiscal year on a date to be fixed by the Board of Directors or a Chief Executive Officer (or, if there is
no Chief Executive Officer, a President), unless that day be a legal holiday at the place where the meeting is to be held, in which case the meeting shall be held at the same
hour on the next succeeding day not a legal holiday, or at such other date and time as shall be fixed by the Board of Directors or a Chief Executive Officer (or, if there is no
Chief Executive Officer, a President) and stated in the notice of the meeting. If no annual meeting is held in accordance with the foregoing provisions, the Board of Directors
shall cause the meeting to be held as soon thereafter as convenient. If no annual meeting is held in accordance with the foregoing provisions, a special meeting may be held
in lieu of the annual meeting, and any action taken at that special meeting shall have the same effect as if it had been taken at the annual meeting, and in such case all
references in these By-Laws to the annual meeting of stockholders shall be deemed to refer to such special meeting.




2.3 Special Meeting. Special meetings of stockholders may be called at any time by only the Chairman of the Board of Directors, a Chief Executive Officer (or,
if there is no Chief Executive Officer, a President) or by the Board of Directors of the Corporation pursuant to a resolution adopted by the affirmative vote of a majority of
the total number of directors then in office, and (up to twice in any calendar year) shall also be called by the President or Secretary at the request in writing of a majority of
the Board of Directors or the holders of not less than ten percent (10%) of the outstanding capital stock of the Corporation entitled to vote. Such written request shall state
the purpose or purposes of the proposed meeting. Upon receipt of such written request, the President or Secretary shall call a special meeting of stockholders to be held at the
offices of the Corporation or at a location, at the Corporation’s discretion, that is reasonable and convenient, at such date and time as the President or Secretary may fix, such
meeting to be held not less than ten (10) nor more than sixty (60) days after the receipt of such written request. Any business transacted at any special meeting of
stockholders shall be limited to matters relating to the purpose or purposes stated in the notice of meeting.

2.4  Notice of Meetings. Except as otherwise provided by law, written notice of each meeting of stockholders, whether annual or special, shall be given not less
than ten (10) nor more than sixty (60) days before the date of the meeting to each stockholder entitled to vote at such meeting. The notices of all meetings shall state the
place, date and hour of the meeting. The notice of a special meeting shall state, in addition, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called. If mailed, notice is given
when deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid, directed to the stockholder at his or her address as it appears on the records of the Corporation.

2.5 Voting List. The officer who has charge of the stock ledger of the Corporation shall prepare, at least ten (10) days before every meeting of stockholders, a
complete list of the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting, arranged in alphabetical order, and showing the address of each stockholder and the number of shares
registered in the name of each stockholder. Such list shall be open to the examination of any stockholder, for any purpose germane to the meeting, during ordinary business
hours, for a period of at least ten (10) days prior to the meeting, at a place within the city where the meeting is to be held. The list shall also be produced and kept at the time
and place of the meeting during the whole time of the meeting, and may be inspected by any stockholder who is present.

2.6 Quorum. Except as otherwise provided by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-Laws, the holders of a majority of the shares of the capital stock
of the Corporation issued and outstanding and entitled to vote at the meeting, present in person or represented by proxy, shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of
business.

2.7  Adjournments. Any meeting of stockholders may be adjourned to any other time and to any other place at which a meeting of stockholders may be held
under these By-Laws by a majority of the stockholders present or represented at the meeting and entitled to vote, although less than a quorum, or, if no stockholder is
present, by any officer entitled to preside at or to act as Secretary of such meeting. It shall not be necessary to notify any stockholder of any adjournment of less than thirty
(30) days if the time and place of the adjourned meeting are announced at the meeting at which adjournment is taken, unless after the adjournment a new record date is fixed
for the adjourned meeting. At the adjourned meeting, the Corporation may transact any business which might have been transacted at the original meeting.
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2.8 Voting and Proxies. Except as otherwise provided by the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-
Laws, each stockholder shall have one vote for each share of capital stock entitled to vote and held of record by such stockholder. Each stockholder of record entitled to vote
at a meeting of stockholders may vote in person or may authorize another person or persons to vote or act for him or her by written proxy executed by the stockholder or his
or her authorized agent and delivered to the Secretary of the Corporation. No such proxy shall be voted or acted upon after three years from the date of its execution, unless
the proxy expressly provides for a longer period.

2.9 Proxy Representation. Every stockholder may authorize another person or persons to act for him or her by proxy in all matters in which a stockholder is
entitled to participate, whether by waiving notice of any meeting, objecting to or voting or participating at a meeting, or expressing consent or dissent without a meeting. The
delivery of a proxy on behalf of a stockholder consistent with telephonic or electronically transmitted instructions obtained pursuant to procedures of the Corporation
reasonably designed to verify that such instructions have been authorized by such stockholder shall constitute execution and delivery of the proxy by or on behalf of the
stockholder. No proxy shall be voted or acted upon after three years from its date unless such proxy provides for a longer period. A duly executed proxy shall be irrevocable
if it states that it is irrevocable and, if, and only as long as, it is coupled with an interest sufficient in law to support an irrevocable power. A proxy may be made irrevocable
regardless of whether the interest with which it is coupled is an interest in the stock itself or an interest in the Corporation generally. The authorization of a proxy may but
need not be limited to specified action, provided, however, that if a proxy limits its authorization to a meeting or meetings of stockholders, unless otherwise specifically
provided such proxy shall entitle the holder thereof to vote at any adjourned session but shall not be valid after the final adjournment thereof. A proxy purporting to be
authorized by or on behalf of a stockholder, if accepted by the Corporation in its discretion, shall be deemed valid unless challenged at or prior to its exercise and the burden
of proving invalidity shall rest on the challenger.

2.10 Action at Meeting When a quorum is present at any meeting, a plurality of the votes properly cast for election to any office shall elect to such office and a
majority of the votes properly cast upon any question other than an election to an office shall decide the question, except when a larger vote is required by law, by the
Certificate of Incorporation or by these By-laws. No ballot shall be required for any election unless requested by a stockholder present or represented at the meeting and
entitled to vote in the election.
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2.11 Nomination of Directors. Only persons who are nominated in accordance with the following procedures shall be eligible for election as directors. The
nomination for election to the Board of Directors of the Corporation at a meeting of stockholders may be made by the Board of Directors or by any stockholder of the
Corporation entitled to vote for the election of directors at such meeting who complies with the notice procedures set forth in this Section 2.11. Such nominations, other than
those made by or on behalf of the Board of Directors, shall be made by notice in writing delivered or mailed by first class United States mail, postage prepaid, to the
Secretary, and received at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not less than sixty (60) days nor more than ninety (90) days prior to the anniversary date of the
immediately preceding annual meeting of stockholders; provided , however , that if the annual meeting is not held within thirty (30) days before or after such anniversary
date, then such nomination shall have been delivered to or mailed and received by the Secretary not later than the close of business on the 10th day following the date on
which the notice of the meeting was mailed or such public disclosure was made, whichever occurs first. Such notice shall set forth (a) as to each proposed nominee (i) the
name, age, business address and, if known, residence address of each such nominee, (ii) the principal occupation or employment of each such nominee, (iii) the number of
shares of stock of the Corporation which are beneficially owned by each such nominee, and (iv) any other information concerning the nominee that must be disclosed as to
nominees in proxy solicitations pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, including such person’s written consent to be named as
a nominee and to serve as a director if elected; and (b) as to the stockholder giving the notice (i) the name and address, as they appear on the Corporation’s books, of such
stockholder and (ii) the class and number of shares of the Corporation which are beneficially owned by such stockholder (and evidence of such ownership if not also held of
record by such stockholder). The Corporation may require any proposed nominee or nominating stockholder to furnish such other information as may reasonably be required
by the Corporation to determine the eligibility of a proposed nominee to serve as a director of the Corporation.

The chairman of the meeting may, if the facts warrant, determine and declare to the meeting that a nomination was not made in accordance with the foregoing procedure, and
if he or she should so determine, he or she shall so declare to the meeting and the defective nomination shall be disregarded.

2.12 Notice of Business at Annual Meetings At an annual meeting of the stockholders, only such business shall be conducted as shall have been properly
brought before the meeting. To be properly brought before an annual meeting, business must be (a) specified in the notice of meeting (or any supplement thereto) given by or
at the direction of the Board of Directors, (b) otherwise properly brought before the meeting by or at the direction of the Board of Directors, (c) otherwise properly brought
before an annual meeting by a stockholder. For business to be properly brought before an annual meeting by a stockholder, if such business relates to the election of directors
of the Corporation, the procedures in Section 2.11 must be complied with. If such business relates to any other matter, the stockholder must have given timely notice thereof
in writing to the Secretary. To be timely, a stockholder’s notice must be delivered to or mailed and received at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not less
than sixty (60) days nor more than ninety (90) days prior to the anniversary date of the immediately preceding annual meeting of stockholders; provided , however , that if
the annual meeting is not held within thirty (30) days before or after such anniversary date, then for the notice by the stockholder to be timely it must be so received not later
than the close of business on the 10th day following the date on which the notice of the meeting was mailed or such public disclosure was made, whichever occurs first. A
stockholder’s notice to the Secretary shall set forth as to each matter the stockholder proposes to bring before the annual meeting (a) a brief description of the business
desired to be brought before the annual meeting and the reasons for conducting such business at the annual meeting, (b) the name and address, as they appear on the
Corporation’s books, of the stockholder proposing such business, (c) the class and number of shares of the Corporation which are beneficially owned by the stockholder and
(d) any material interest of the stockholder in such business. Notwithstanding anything in these By-Laws to the contrary, no business shall be conducted at any annual
meeting except in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 2.12, except that any stockholder proposal which complies with Rule 14a-8 of the proxy rules, or
any successor provision, promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and is to be included in the Corporation’s proxy statement for an annual
meeting of stockholders shall be deemed to comply with the requirements of this Section 2.12.
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The chairman of the meeting shall, if the facts warrant, determine and declare to the meeting that business was not properly brought before the meeting in accordance with
the provisions of this Section 1.12, and if he or she should so determine, the chairman shall so declare to the meeting and any such business not properly brought before the
meeting shall not be transacted.

2.13  Action without Meeting. For so long as this Corporation shall have a class of stock registered pursuant to the provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, stockholders may not take any action by written consent in lieu of a meeting.

2.14 Organization. The Chairman of the Board, or in his or her absence a President shall call meetings of the stockholders to order, and act as chairman of such
meeting; provided, however, that the Board of Directors may appoint any stockholder to act as chairman of any meeting in the absence of the Chairman of the Board. The
Secretary of the Corporation shall act as secretary at all meetings of the stockholders; provided , however , that in the absence of the Secretary at any meeting of the
stockholders, the acting chairman may appoint any person to act as secretary of the meeting.

ARTICLE 3 - DIRECTORS

3.1 General Powers. The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of a Board of Directors, who may exercise all of the
powers of the Corporation except as otherwise provided by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-Laws. In the event of a vacancy in the Board of Directors, the
remaining directors, except as otherwise provided by law, may exercise the powers of the full Board of Directors until the vacancy is filled.

3.2 Number: Election and Qualification. The number of directors which shall constitute the whole Board of Directors shall be determined by resolution of the
Board of Directors, but in no event shall be less than three. The directors shall be elected at the annual meeting of stockholders by such stockholders as have the right to vote
on such election. The directors need not be stockholders of the Corporation.

3.3 Terms of Office. Except as otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-Laws, each director shall serve for a term ending on the date of
the annual meeting following the annual meeting at which such director was elected; provided, however, that the term of each director shall be subject to the election and
qualification of his or her successor and to his or her earlier death, resignation or removal.

3.4 Vacancies. Any vacancy in the Board of Directors, however occurring, including a vacancy resulting from an enlargement of the Board of Directors, shall be
filled only by vote of a majority of the directors then in office, although less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director. A director elected to fill a vacancy shall be

elected for the unexpired term of his or her predecessor in office.

3.5 Resignation. Any director may resign by delivering his or her written resignation to the Corporation at its principal office or to a President or Secretary. Such
resignation shall be effective upon receipt unless it is specified to be effective at some other time or upon the happening of some other event.
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3.6 Regular Meetings. The regular meetings of the Board of Directors may be held without notice at such time and place, either within or without the State of
Delaware, as shall be determined from time to time by the Board of Directors; provided , that any director who is absent when such a determination is made shall be given
notice of the determination. A regular meeting of the Board of Directors may be held without notice immediately after and at the same place as the annual meeting of
stockholders.

3.7 Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be held at any time and place, within or without the State of Delaware, designated in a call
by the Chairman of the Board of Directors, a Chief Executive Officer (or if there is no Chief Executive Officer, a President), two or more directors or by one director in the
event that there is only a single director in office.

3.8 Notice of Special Meetings. Notice of any special meeting of the Board of Directors shall be given to each director by the Secretary or by the officer or one
of the directors calling the meeting. The notice shall be duly given to each director (i) by giving notice to such director in person or by telephone at least twenty four
(24) hours in advance of the meeting, (ii) by sending a telegram, telecopy, or telex, or delivering written notice by hand, to his or her last known business or home address at
least twenty four (24) hours in advance of the meeting, or (iii) by mailing written notice to his or her last known business or home address at least seventy two (72) hours in
advance of the meeting. A notice or waiver of notice of a special meeting of the Board of Directors need not specify the purposes of the meeting.

3.9 Meetings by Telephone Conference Calls. The Board of Directors or any members of any committee of the Board of Directors designated by the directors
may participate in a meeting of the Board of Directors or such committee by means of conference telephone, video conference or other communications equipment by means
of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other. Participation by such means shall constitute presence in person at such meeting.

3.10 Quorum. A majority of the total number of the whole Board of Directors shall constitute a quorum at all meetings of the Board of Directors. In the event one
or more of the directors shall be disqualified to vote at any meeting, then the required quorum shall be reduced by one for each such director so disqualified; provided ,
however , that in no case shall less than one-third (1/3) of the number of directors so fixed constitute a quorum. In the absence of a quorum at any such meeting, a majority
of the directors present may adjourn the meeting from time to time without further notice, other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be present.

3.11 Action at Meeting At any meeting of the Board of Directors at which a quorum is present, the vote of a majority of those present shall be sufficient to take
any action, unless a different vote is specified by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these By-Laws.

3.12 Action by Consent. Any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors or of any committee of the Board of Directors may
be taken without a meeting, if all members of the Board or committee, as the case may be, consent to the action in writing, and the written consents are filed with the minutes

of proceedings of the Board of Directors or committee of the Board of Directors, as applicable.
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3.13 Removal. The directors of the Corporation may not be removed without cause and may be removed for cause only by the affirmative vote of the holders of
seventy-five percent (75%) of the shares of the capital stock of the Corporation issued and outstanding and entitled to vote generally in the election of directors cast at a
meeting of the stockholders called for that purpose.

3.14 Committees. The Board of Directors may, by resolution passed by a majority of the whole Board, designate one or more committees, each committee to
consist of one or more of the directors of the Corporation. The Board of Directors may designate one or more directors as alternate members of any committee, who may
replace any absent or disqualified member at any meeting of the committee. In the absence or disqualification of a member of a committee, the member or members of the
committee present at any meeting and not disqualified from voting, whether or not he, she or they constitute a quorum, may unanimously appoint another member of the
Board of Directors to act at the meeting in the place of any such absent or disqualified member. Any such committee, to the extent provided in the resolution of the Board of
Directors and subject to the provisions of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, shall have and may exercise all the powers and authority of the Board of
Directors in the management of the business and affairs of the Corporation and may authorize the seal of the Corporation to be affixed to all papers which may require it.
Each such committee shall keep minutes and make such reports as the Board of Directors may from time to time request. Except as the Board of Directors may otherwise
determine, any committee may make rules for the conduct of its business, but unless otherwise provided by the directors or in such rules, its business shall be conducted as
nearly as possible in the same manner as is provided in these By-Laws for the Board of Directors.

3.15 Compensation of Directors. The directors may be paid such compensation for their services and such reimbursement for expenses of attendance at meetings
as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine. No such payment shall preclude any director from serving the Corporation or any of its parent or subsidiary
corporations in any other capacity and receiving compensation for such service.

ARTICLE 4 - OFFICERS
4.1 Enumeration. The officers of the Corporation shall consist of one Chief Executive Officer or two Co-Chief Executive Officers (each of whom shall be
considered a Chief Executive Officer for purposes of these By-Laws), one President or two Co-Presidents (each of whom shall be considered a President for purposes of
these By-Laws), a Chief Financial Officer, a Secretary and a Treasurer. The Board of Directors may appoint other officers with such titles and powers as it may deem
appropriate, including, without limitation one or more Vice Presidents and one or more Controllers.
4.2 Election. The Chief Executive Officer or Co-Chief Executive Officers, as the case may be, President or Co-Presidents, as the case may be, Chief Financial

Officer, Secretary and Treasurer shall be elected annually by the Board of Directors at its first meeting following the annual meeting of stockholders. Other officers may be
appointed by the Board of Directors at such meeting or at any other meeting.

4.3 Qualification. No officer need be a stockholder of the Corporation. Any two or more offices may be held by the same person.
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4.4 Tenure. Except as otherwise provided by law, by the Certificate of Incorporation or by these By-Laws, each officer shall hold office until his or her successor
is elected and qualified, unless a different term is specified in the vote choosing or appointing him or her, or until his or her earlier death, resignation or removal.

4.5 Resignation and Removal. Any officer may resign by delivering his or her written resignation to the Corporation at its principal office or to a Chief
Executive Officer or the Secretary. Such resignation shall be effective upon receipt unless it is specified to be effective at some other time or upon the happening of some
other event. Any officer may be removed at any time, with or without cause, by vote of a majority of the entire number of directors then in office.

Except as the Board of Directors may otherwise determine, no officer who resigns or is removed shall have any right to any compensation as an officer for any period
following his or her resignation or removal, or any right to damages on account of such removal, whether his of her compensation be by the month or by the year or
otherwise, unless such compensation is expressly provided in a duly authorized written agreement with the Corporation.

4.6  Vacancies. The Board of Directors may fill any vacancy occurring in any office for any reason and may, in its discretion, leave unfilled for such period as it
may determine any offices other than those of Chief Executive Officer or Co-Chief Executive Officer, as the case may be, President or Co-President, as the case may be,
Secretary and Treasurer. Each such successor shall hold office for the unexpired term of his or her predecessor and until his or her successor is elected and qualified, or until
his or her earlier death, resignation or removal.

4.7  Chairman of the Board. The Board of Directors may appoint a Chairman of the Board. If the Board of Directors appoints a Chairman of the Board, he or she
shall perform such duties and possess such powers as are assigned to him or her by the Board of Directors.

4.8  Chief Executive Officer. The Chief Executive Officer or the Co-Chief Executive Officers shall, subject to the direction of the Board of Directors, have
general charge and supervision of the business of the Corporation. Unless otherwise provided by the Board of Directors, a Chief Executive Officer shall preside at all
meetings of the stockholders and, if a Chief Executive Officer is a director and subject to the provisions of Section 4.7, at all meetings of the Board of Directors. A Chief
Executive Officer shall perform such other duties and possess such other powers as the Board of Directors may from time to time prescribe.

4.9 President. A President shall perform such duties and possess such powers as the Board of Directors or a Chief Executive Officer may from time to time
prescribe. In the event of the absence, inability or refusal to act of all Chief Executive Officers, a President shall perform the duties of a Chief Executive Officer and when so
performing shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the office of Chief Executive Officer.

4.10 Chief Financial Officer. The Chief Financial Officer shall perform such duties and possess such powers as the Board of Directors or a Chief Executive
Officer may from time to time prescribe. The Chief Financial Officer shall have the custody of the corporate funds and securities; shall keep full and accurate all books and
accounts of the Corporation as shall be necessary or desirable in accordance with applicable law or generally accepted accounting principles; shall deposit all monies and
other valuable effects in the name and to the credit of the Corporation as may be ordered by the Chairman of the Board or the Board of Directors; shall cause the funds of the
Corporation to be disbursed when such disbursements have been duly authorized, taking proper vouchers for such disbursements; and shall render to the Board of Directors,
at its regular meeting or when the Board of Directors so requires, an account of the Corporation.
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4.11 Vice Presidents. Any Vice President shall perform such duties and possess such powers as the Board of Directors, a Chief Executive Officer or a President
may from time to time prescribe. The Board of Directors may assign to any Vice President the title of Executive Vice President, Senior Vice President or any other such
title.

4.12 Controllers. Any Controller shall perform such duties and possess such powers as the Board of Directors, a Chief Executive Officer or any Vice President
may from time to time prescribe. The Board of Directors may assign to any Controller the title of Assistant Controller or any other such title.

4.13 Secretary. The Secretary shall perform such duties and possess such powers as the Board of Directors or a Chief Executive Officer may from time to time
prescribe. In addition, the Secretary shall perform such duties and have such powers as are incident to the office of the Secretary, including without limitation the duty and
power to give notices of all meetings of stockholders and special meetings of the Board of Directors, to attend all meetings of stockholders and the Board of Directors and
keep a record of the proceedings, to maintain a stock ledger and prepare lists of stockholders and their addresses as required, to be custodian of corporate records and the
corporate seal and to affix and attest to the same on documents. In the event of the absence, inability or refusal to act of the Secretary at any meeting of stockholders or
directors, the person presiding at the meeting shall designate a temporary secretary to keep a record of the meeting.

4.14 Treasurer. The Treasurer shall perform such duties and possess such powers as the Board of Directors, a Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial
Officer may from time to time prescribe. In addition, the Treasurer shall perform such duties and have such powers as are incident to the office of Treasurer, including
without limitation the duty and power to keep and be responsible for all funds and securities of the Corporation, to deposit funds of the Corporation in depositories selected
in accordance with these By-Laws, to disburse such funds as ordered by the Board of Directors, to make proper accounts of such funds, and to render as required by the
Board of Directors statements of all such transactions and of the financial condition of the Corporation. Unless the Board of Directors has designated another officer as Chief
Financial Officer, the Treasurer shall be the Chief Financial Officer of the Corporation.

In the event of the absence, inability or refusal to act of the Treasurer, the Board of Directors shall appoint a temporary treasurer, who shall perform the duties and exercise
the powers of the Treasurer.

4.15 Other Officers, Assistant Officers and Agents. Officers, assistant officers and agents, if any, other than those whose duties are provided for in these By-laws,
shall have such authority and perform such duties as may from time to time be prescribed by resolution of the Board of Directors.

4.16 Salaries. Officers of the Corporation shall be entitled to such salaries, compensation or reimbursement as shall be fixed or allowed from time to time by the
Board of Directors.
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ARTICLE S - CAPITAL STOCK

5.1  Issuance of Stock. Unless otherwise voted by the stockholders and subject to the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation, the whole or any part of any
unissued balance of the authorized capital stock of the Corporation or the whole or any part of any unissued balance of the authorized capital stock of the Corporation held in
its treasury may be issued, sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of by vote of the Board of Directors in such manner, for such consideration and on such terms as the Board
of Directors may determine.

5.2 Certificates of Stock. Every holder of stock of the Corporation shall be entitled to have a certificate, in such form as may be prescribed by law and by the
Board of Directors, certifying the number and class of shares owned by him or her in the Corporation. Each such certificate shall be signed by, or in the name of the
Corporation by, the Chairman of the Board of Directors, a Chief Executive Officer or a President, and the Treasurer or the Secretary of the Corporation. Any or all of the
signatures on the certificate may be a facsimile.

Each certificate for shares of stock which are subject to any restriction on transfer pursuant to the Certificate of Incorporation, the By-Laws, applicable securities laws or any
agreement among any number of stockholders or among such holders and the Corporation shall have conspicuously noted on the face or back of the certificate either the full
text of the restriction or a statement of the existence of such restriction.

5.3  Transfers. Except as otherwise established by rules and regulations adopted by the Board of Directors, and subject to applicable law, shares of stock may be
transferred on the books of the Corporation by the surrender to the Corporation or its transfer agent of the certificate representing such shares properly endorsed or
accompanied by a written assignment or power of attorney properly executed, and with such proof of authority or the authenticity of signature as the Corporation or its
transfer agent may reasonably require. Except as may be otherwise required by law, by the Certificate of Incorporation or by these By-Laws, the Corporation shall be
entitled to treat the record holder of stock as shown on its books as the owner of such stock for all purposes, including the payment of dividends and the right to vote with
respect to such stock, regardless of any transfer, pledge or other disposition of such stock, until the shares have been transferred on the books of the Corporation in
accordance with the requirements of these By-Laws.

5.4 Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificates The Corporation may issue a new certificate of stock in place of any previously issued certificate alleged to have been
lost, stolen, or destroyed, upon such terms and conditions as the Board of Directors may prescribe, including the presentation of reasonable evidence of such loss, theft or
destruction and the giving of such indemnity as the Board of Directors may require for the protection of the Corporation or any transfer agent or registrar.

5.5 Record Date. The Board of Directors may fix in advance a date as a record date for the determination of the stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at
any meeting of stockholders, or entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or allotment of any rights in respect of any change, conversion or exchange
of stock, or for the purpose of any other lawful action. Such record date shall not be more than sixty (60) nor less than ten (10) days before the date of such meeting, nor
more than sixty (60) days prior to any other action to which such record date relates.
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If no record date is fixed, the record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall be at the close of business on the day
before the day on which notice is given, or, if notice is waived, at the close of business on the day before the day on which the meeting is held. The record date for
determining stockholders for any other purpose shall be at the close of business on the day on which the Board of Directors adopts the resolution relating to such purpose.

A determination of stockholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall apply to any adjournment of the meeting; provided, however, that
the Board of Directors may fix a new record date for the adjourned meeting.

5.6 Dividends. Subject to limitations contained in the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, the Certificate of Incorporation and these By-laws, the
Board of Directors may declare and pay dividends upon the shares of capital stock of the Corporation, which dividends may be paid either in cash, in property or in shares
of the capital stock of the Corporation.

ARTICLE 6 - GENERAL PROVISIONS

6.1 Fiscal Year. Except as from time to time otherwise designated by the Board of Directors, the fiscal year of the Corporation shall begin on the first day of
January in each year and end on the last day of December in each year.

6.2 Corporate Seal. The corporate seal shall be in such form as shall be approved by the Board of Directors.

6.3 Waiver of Notice. Whenever any notice whatsoever is required to be given by law, by the Certificate of Incorporation or by these By-Laws, a waiver of such
notice either in writing signed by the person entitled to such notice or such person’s duly authorized attorney, or by telegraph, cable or any other available method, whether
before, at or after the time stated in such waiver, or by the appearance of such person at such meeting in person or by proxy, shall be deemed equivalent to such notice. Any
member of the Board of Directors or any committee thereof who is present at a meeting shall be conclusively presumed to have waived notice of such meeting except when
such member attends for the express purpose of objecting at the beginning of the meeting to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or
convened. Such member shall be conclusively presumed to have assented to any action taken unless his or her dissent shall be entered in the minutes of the meeting or unless
his or her written dissent to such action shall be filed with the person acting as the secretary of the meeting before the adjournment thereof or shall be forwarded by
registered mail to the Secretary of the Corporation immediately after the adjournment of the meeting. Such right to dissent shall not apply to any member who voted in favor
of such action.

6.4 Voting of Securities. Except as the directors may otherwise designate, a Chief Executive Officer or Treasurer may waive notice of, and act as, or appoint any
person or persons to act as, proxy or attorney-in-fact for this Corporation (with or without power of substitution) at, any meeting of stockholders or shareholders of any other

Corporation or organization, the securities of which may be held by this Corporation.
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6.5 Evidence of Authority. A certificate by the Secretary, or a temporary secretary, as to any action taken by the stockholders, directors, a committee or any
officer or representative of the Corporation shall, as to all persons who rely on the certificate in good faith, be conclusive evidence of such action.

6.6  Certificate of Incorporation. All references in these By-Laws to the Certificate of Incorporation shall be deemed to refer to the Certificate of Incorporation of
the Corporation, as amended or restated and in effect from time to time.

6.7 Transactions with Interested Parties No contract or transaction between the Corporation and one or more of the directors or officers, or between the
Corporation and any other Corporation, partnership, association, or other organization in which one or more of the directors or officers are directors or officers, or have a
financial interest, shall be void or voidable solely for this reason, or solely because the director or officer is present at or participates in the meeting of the Board of Directors
or a committee of the Board of Directors which authorizes the contract or transaction or solely because his, her or their votes are counted for such purpose, if:

(1) The material facts as to his, her or their relationship or interest and as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or are known to the Board of
Directors or the committee, and the Board of Directors or committee of the Board of Directors in good faith authorizes the contract or transaction by the affirmative votes of
a majority of the disinterested directors, even though the disinterested directors be less than a quorum;

(2) The material facts as to his, her or their relationship or interest and as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or are known to the stockholders
entitled to vote thereon, and the contract or transaction is specifically approved in good faith by vote of the stockholders; or

(3) The contract or transaction is fair as to the Corporation as of the time it is authorized, approved or ratified by the Board of Directors, a committee of the
Board of Directors, or the stockholders.

Common or interested directors may be counted in determining the presence of a quorum at a meeting of the Board of Directors or of a committee which authorizes the
contract or transaction.

6.8  Severability. Any determination that any provision of these By-Laws is for any reason inapplicable, illegal or ineffective shall not affect or invalidate any
other provision of these By-Laws.

6.9 Pronouns. All pronouns used in these By-Laws shall be deemed to refer to the masculine, feminine or neuter, singular or plural, as the identity of the person
or persons may require.

6.10 Contracts. In addition to the powers otherwise granted to officers pursuant to Article 4 hereof, the Board of Directors may authorize any officer or officers,
or any agent or agents, of the Corporation to enter into any contract or to execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation, and such

authority may be general or confined to specific instances.
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6.11 Loans. The Corporation may lend money to, or guarantee any obligation of, or otherwise assist any officer or other employee of the Corporation or of its
subsidiaries, including any officer or employee who is a Director of the Corporation or its subsidiaries, whenever, in the judgment of the Directors, such loan, guaranty or
assistance may reasonably be expected to benefit the Corporation. The loan, guaranty or other assistance may be with or without interest, and may be unsecured, or secured
in such manner as the Board of Directors shall approve, including, without limitation, a pledge of shares of stock of the Corporation. Nothing in this section shall be deemed
to deny, limit or restrict the powers of guaranty or warranty of the Corporation at common law or under any statute.

6.12 Inspection of Books and Records. The Board of Directors shall have power from time to time to determine to what extent and at what times and places and
under what conditions and regulations the accounts and books of the Corporation, or any of them, shall be open to the inspection of the stockholders; and no stockholder
shall have any right to inspect any account or book or document of the Corporation, except as conferred by the laws of the State of Delaware, unless and until authorized so
to do by resolution of the Board of Directors or of the stockholders of the Corporation.

6.13  Section Headings. Section headings in these By-laws are for convenience of reference only and shall not be given any substantive effect in limiting or
otherwise construing any provision herein.

6.14 Inconsistent Provisions. In the event that any provision of these By-laws is or becomes inconsistent with any provision of the Restated Certificate of
Incorporation, the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware or any other applicable law, the provision of these By-laws shall not be given any effect to the extent of
such inconsistency but shall otherwise be given full force and effect.

ARTICLE 7 - AMENDMENTS
These By-Laws may be altered, amended or repealed or new By-Laws may be adopted by (a) the affirmative vote of a majority of the directors present at any regular or
special meeting of the Board of Directors at which a quorum is present or (b) by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of the capital stock of the

Corporation issued and outstanding.
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AMENDMENT NO. 1
TO
SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED
BY-LAWS
OF
SMTC CORPORATION

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of SMTC Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), adopted the Amendment No. 1 to the Second Amended and Restated
By-Laws of the Company (the “By-Laws”) on January 18, 2013.

WHEREAS: The Company currently has in place guidelines for stock ownership of the Company’s directors; and
WHEREAS: The Nominating Committee desire to expand and further delineate these guidelines; and

WHEREAS: In order to bring fresh perspective, new ideas and additional contacts to the Board, the Board believes that as a general guideline it is in the best interest of the
Company and the Board to limit the term of Board membership to a term of ten years, and to rotate Board committee assignment every five years:

NOW THEREFORE: Article 3 of the By-laws is amended to add new Sections 3.16 and 3.17 thereto, which Sections 3.16 and 3.17 shall read in their entirety as follows:

Section 3.16. Stock Ownership of Directors. To remain eligible for re-election to the Board of Directors at the next upcoming election of directors, each director
shall, within five years of becoming a director, acquire and maintain stock ownership in the Corporation equal to three times the annual retainer amount paid by the
Corporation to each such director, with stock ownership equal to at least the annual retainer amount established by each such director within twenty-four months of
becoming a director, and stock ownership equal to at least two times the annual retainer amount established by each such director within forty-eight months of becoming a
director. Only shares of capital stock owned outright by a director and valued at such shares’ purchase price will be taken into consideration in determining whether a
director has met these guidelines. Prior to the Corporation’s annual meeting each year, the Nominating and Governance Committee will review the progress of each director
towards achievement of the guidelines. Once a director has met these guidelines, he or she shall be deemed to continue to meet the guidelines and shall be exempt from
review in future periods until such director reduces the number of shares he or she holds.

Section 3.17. Term Limitations. That absent a compelling circumstance such as service as an executive officer of the Corporation or a significant stock ownership
position, or such other compelling reason or reasons as the Nominating and Governance Committee may from time to time deem warranted, the Nominating and Governance
Committee shall not recommend that directors who have served as directors for ten years or more be slated for reelection to the Board of Directors. To create a pool of
qualified director candidates who possess the high level of personal and professional ethics, sound business judgment and integrity, the Nominating and Governance
Committee will from time to time review the appropriate skills and characteristics required of Board of Directors members, including such factors as business experience,
diversity, and personal skills in technology, finance, marketing, international business, financial reporting and other areas that are expected to contribute to an effective
Board of Directors, and will actively recruit Board of Director candidates who possess these skills and attributes. In addition, absent a compelling circumstance such as a
specific expertise or independence qualification, the Nominating and Governance Committee shall recommend that no director serves continuously on any Board of Director
committee for more than five years. The Nominating and Governance Committee will review committee assignments annually and make recommendations to the Board of
Directors for committee membership changes each year prior to the Corporation’s annual meeting of stockholders.

-14 -




AMENDMENT NO. 2
TO
SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED
BY-LAWS
OF
SMTC CORPORATION
The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of SMTC Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), adopted the Amendment No. 2 to the Second Amended and
Restated By-Laws of the Company (the “By-Laws”) on June 15, 2018.

1. Section 3.13 of the By-Laws is hereby amended by deleting such section in its entirety.

2. Except as expressly modified hereby, the By-Laws and all of the provisions contained therein shall remain in full force and effect.



Exhibit 4.4
DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

SMTC Corporation (“we,” “our,” or “us”) has one class of securities registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended: our common
stock, par value $0.01 per share.

DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK
General

The following description of ourcapital stock is a summary only. This description is based upon, and is qualified by reference to, ourfifth amended and restated
certificate of incorporation, as amended to date (the “certificate of incorporation”), second amended and restated by-laws, as amended to date (the ‘by-laws "), and
applicable provisions of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”). This summary is not complete. You should read our certificate of

incorporation! and our by-laws2, which are incorporated by reference as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, for the provisions that are important to you
Authorized and Outstanding Capital Stock
Our certificate of incorporation authorizes us to issue 43,750,000 shares of stock, divided into two classes:
e 38,7500,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share; and
e 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share.
Common Stock

The issued and outstanding shares of our common stock are validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable. Subject to the prior rights of the holders of any series of
preferred stock, the holders of outstanding shares of common stock are entitled to receive dividends out of assets legally available therefor at such time and in such amounts
as the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board’) may from time to time determine. The shares of common stock are not convertible and the holders thereof have no
preemptive or subscription rights to purchase any of our securities. There are no redemption or sinking fund provisions applicable to the common stock. Upon liquidation,
dissolution or winding up of our company, the holders of common stock are entitled to receive pro rata our assets which are legally available for distribution, after payment
of all debts and other liabilities and subject to the prior rights of any holders of any series of preferred stock then outstanding. Each outstanding share of common stock is
entitled to one vote on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders. There is no cumulative voting and our Board is not classified. Except as otherwise required by law or
our certificate of incorporation, the holders of common stock vote together as a single class on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders.

Preferred Stock

Our certificate of incorporation authorizes our Board to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, from time to time in one or more classes or series, generally
without any vote or action by the holders of our common stock. Our Board will be authorized to determine the number of shares and designation of any class or series of
preferred stock and the powers, rights, preferences and privileges of each class or series of preferred stock, including, the dividend rate, dividend rights, conversion rights
and terms, voting rights, redemption rights and terms, liquidation preferences and sinking fund terms of any class or series of preferred stock, which may be greater than the
rights of the holders of the common stock. There are no shares of preferred stock outstanding.

I NTD: Please make this a hyperlink to the new certificate of incorporation exhibit that will be filed with the 10-K.
2 NTD: Please make this a hyperlink to the new by-laws exhibit that will be filed with the 10-K.




The purpose of authorizing our Board to issue preferred stock and determine its rights and preferences is to eliminate delays associated with a shareholder vote on
specific issuances. The issuance of preferred stock, while providing flexibility in connection with possible acquisitions, future financings and other corporate purposes, could
have the effect of making it more difficult for a third party to acquire, or could discourage a third party from seeking to acquire, a majority of our outstanding voting stock.
Additionally, the issuance of preferred stock may adversely affect the holders of our common stock by restricting dividends on our common stock, diluting the voting power
of our common stock or subordinating the liquidation rights of our common stock. As a result of these or other factors, the issuance of preferred stock could have an adverse
impact on the market price of our common stock.

Anti-Takeover Effects of Certain Provisions of Delaware Law, our Certificate of Incorporation and our By-laws
Certificate of Incorporation and By-laws

Certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation and by-laws may have an anti-takeover effect. These provisions may delay, defer or prevent a tender offer or
takeover attempt of us that a stockholder might consider in his or her best interest, including those attempts that might result in a premium over the market price for the
shares held by our stockholders. The following summarizes these provisions.

Stockholder Action; Special Meeting of Stockholders

Our certificate of incorporation provides that stockholder action can be taken only at an annual or special meeting of stockholders and cannot be taken by written
consent in lieu of a meeting. Our certificate of incorporation and our by-laws provide that, except as otherwise required by law, special meetings of the stockholders can only
be called by the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer or pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the Board. Stockholders will not be permitted to call
a special meeting or to require the Board to call a special meeting.

Advance Notice Requirements for Stockholders Proposals and Directors Nominations

Our by-laws establish an advance-notice procedure for stockholder proposals to be brought before an annual meeting of our stockholders, including proposed
nominations of persons for election to the Board. Stockholders at an annual meeting may only consider proposals or nominations specified in the notice of meeting or
brought before the meeting by or at the direction of the Board or by a stockholder who was a stockholder of record on the record date for the meeting, who is entitled to vote
at the meeting and who has given to our secretary timely written notice, in proper form, of such stockholder’s intention to bring that business before the meeting. Although
our by-laws do not give the Board the power to approve or disapprove stockholder nominations of candidates or proposals regarding other business to be conducted at a
special or annual meeting, our by-laws may have the effect of precluding the conduct of business at a meeting if the proper procedures are not followed or may discourage or
defer a potential acquiror from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect its own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of the Company.

Authorized but Unissued Shares

Our authorized but unissued shares of common stock and preferred stock are available for our Board to issue without stockholder approval. As noted above, our board
of directors, without stockholder approval, has the authority under “—Preferred Stock™ in our certificate of incorporation to issue preferred stock with rights superior to the
rights of the holders of common stock, subject to certain conditions. As a result, preferred stock could be issued quickly, could adversely affect the rights of holders of
common stock and could be issued with terms calculated to delay or prevent a change of control or make removal of management more difficult. We may use the additional
shares of common stock and preferred stock for a variety of corporate purposes, including future public offerings to raise additional capital, corporate acquisitions and
employee benefit plans. The existence of our authorized but unissued shares of common stock and preferred stock could render more difficult or discourage an attempt to
obtain control of our company by means of a proxy contest, tender offer, merger or other transaction.
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No Cumulative Voting

Under Delaware law, the right to vote cumulatively does not exist unless the certificate of incorporation specifically authorizes cumulative voting. Our certificate of
incorporation does not provide for cumulative voting. Accordingly, a holder or group of holders of a majority of the shares of our common stock are able to elect all of the
directors.

Provisions of Delaware Law Governing Business Combinations
We are subject to the “business combination” provisions of Section 203 the DGCL. In general, such provisions prohibit a publicly held Delaware corporation from
engaging in various “business combination” transactions with any “interested stockholder” for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which the person
became an “interested stockholder,” unless:
e the transaction is approved by the Board prior to the date the “interested stockholder” obtained such status;
e upon consummation of the transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an “interested stockholder,” the “interested stockholder” owned at least
85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding for purposes of determining the number of shares
outstanding those shares owned by (a) persons who are directors and also officers and (b) employee stock plans in which employee participants do not have

the right to determine confidentially whether shares held subject to the plan will be tendered in a tender or exchange offer; or

e on or subsequent to such date the “business combination” is approved by the Board and authorized at an annual or special meeting of stockholders by the
affirmative vote of at least 66 2/3% of the outstanding voting stock which is not owned by the “interested stockholder.”

A “business combination” is defined to include mergers, asset sales and other transactions resulting in financial benefit to a stockholder. In general, an “interested
stockholder” is a person who, together with affiliates and associates, owns 15% or more of a corporation’s voting stock or within three years did own 15% or more of a
corporation’s voting stock. To our knowledge, none of such stockholders has a present intention to engage in any transaction which would constitute a “business
combination.” The statute could prohibit or delay mergers or other takeover or change in control attempts with respect to us and, accordingly, may discourage attempts to
acquire us.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is Computershare Trust Company, N.A.
Exchange Listing

Our common stock is listed on The Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “SMTX.”
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Name

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Jurisdiction of Incorporation

Exhibit 21.1

HTM Holdings, Inc.

Qualtron, Inc.

Radio Componentes de Mexico, S.A. de S.V.
SMTC Asia Ltd.

SMTC de Chihuahua S.A. de C.V.

SMTC Electronics Dongguan Company Limited
SMTC Electronics (Suzhou) Company Limited
SMTC Manufacturing Corporation of California
SMTC Manufacturing Corporation of Canada
SMTC Manufacturing Corporation of Colorado
SMTC Manufacturing Corporation of Massachusetts
SMTC Manufacturing Corporation of North Carolina
SMTC Manufacturing Corporation of Texas
SMTC Manufacturing Corporation of Wisconsin
SMTC Mex Holdings, Inc.

SMTC Nova Scotia Company

ZF Array Technology, Inc.

MC Test Service, Inc.

MC Assembly Holdings, LLC

MC Assembly International, LLC

MC Assembly, LLC

MC Assembly Mexico S. de R.L de C.V.

Delaware
Massachusetts
Mexico

Hong Kong
Mexico

China

China
California
Ontario, Canada
Delaware
Massachusetts
North Carolina
Texas
Wisconsin
Delaware
Nova Scotia, Canada
California
Florida
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Mexico



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (No. 333-204756, No. 333-231433 and No. 333-231434), and on Form S-3
(No. 333-225000, No. 333-225819, No. 333-229154, No. 333-230377 and No. 333-232689) of SMTC Corporation of our report dated March 13, 2020 relating to the
consolidated financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

Oakville, Canada
March 13, 2020



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Edward Smith, certify that:

L.

2.

a)

b)

<)

d)

a)

b)

Date:

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of SMTC Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

March 13, 2020

/s/ Edward Smith

Edward Smith
President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Steven M. Waszak, certify that:

L.

2.

a)

b)

<)

d)

a)

b)

Date:

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of SMTC Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control

over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

March 13, 2020

/s/ Steven M. Waszak

Steven M. Waszak
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 1350, CHAPTER 63 OF TITLE 18, UNITED STATES CODE,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned, as Principal
Executive Officer of SMTC Corporation (the “Company”), does hereby certify that to the undersigned’s knowledge:

1) the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Edward Smith

Edward Smith
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 13, 2020

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to SMTC Corporation and will be retained by SMTC Corporation and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 1350, CHAPTER 63 OF TITLE 18, UNITED STATES CODE,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned, as Principal
Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer of SMTC Corporation (the “Company”), does hereby certify that to the undersigned’s knowledge:

1) the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Steven M. Waszak

Steven M. Waszak
Chief Financial Officer

Date: March 13,2020

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to SMTC Corporation and will be retained by SMTC Corporation and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



